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COMPANY PROFILE

The Group is a renowned company in China’s packaged drinking
water and ready-to-drink soft beverage industry. After over
four decades of development, the Group has grown into the
second largest company in the packaged drinking water market
in China and the largest company in the purified drinking water
market in China. Anchored on its “C'estbon” (%) brand, and
rooted in the success of its purified drinking water products, the
Group persistently enhances its product portfolio of packaged
drinking water products through diversification of water types
and expansion of product specifications, catering to a wide range
of consumption scenarios including outdoor, indoor, business,
catering and sports.

On October 23, 2024, the Group was successfully listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange. The year 2024 also marks the
40" anniversary of the Group’s establishment, and the Group’s
success in listing on the Stock Exchange represents its strategic
initiative to embrace a new era and promote new development,
serving as a significant milestone in its evolution.

COMPANY HONOR

The Company’s major awards in 2024 are as follows:

#®1g RT

Award/Recognition

RESEHTERRKRAKTRERE

Top 10 Packaged Drinking Water Enterprises in China’s Beverage Industry

FERHAE HRE
Awarding Institution/Authority
HEIRE TS

The China Beverage Industry Association

#1g /R

Award/Recognition

AR EERREREETR
Five-star Plus Rating on the Sustainable Development Report

EIEHAE A

Awarding Institution/Authority
PRECAHSEARSTAREREZESR

The Chinese Expert Committee on CSR Report Rating
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#®1g /R

Award/Recognition

e 2024 ZENE [ @185 ] SR A B EIPOS

ML ERANINAE Award of IPO with Outstanding Investment Value in the 6th “Golden
FESHRANMEPO Grid Award” in 2024

R

bt 7]
Awarding Institution/Authority

BIEERIIGE ZFE
Gelonghui (1§F&FE) Global Investment Carnival

818 AR

Award/Recognition

2024 B ERTEARN Z [ FEAEEBT - I HEEE]

2024 Outstanding Cases of Responsibility Practice — “Annual
Responsibility Practice « Sustainable Development”

2024
FRBERT
i RER

FEMAE B
Awarding Institution/Authority

sl
The Paper

®1E R

Award/Recognition

2024 B =R PREGEMSEEE 2 [H BRI ERE]

“Social Innovation and Contribution Award” of 2024 CBN - China
Corporate Social Responsibility List

MR W
Awarding Institution/Authority

FK
The China Business Network (CBN)

SR (28) ARAT
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders:

Since its establishment, China Resources Beverage has been
forging ahead for over 40 years. To further tap into development
opportunities in the new era, the Group completed its listing on
the Stock Exchange in October 2024, marking another significant
milestone in its development.

In 2024, amid multiple uncertainties and structural changes
and reforms in the global economic environment, China’s
overall economy ran steadily, consumption recovery was weaker
than expected and market competition became increasingly
fierce, with GDP growing by 5% for the year, total retail sales of
consumer goods increasing by 3.5% year-on-year, and CPI rising
slightly by 0.2% year-on-year. In the face of numerous changes
in the domestic and international environments and markets, the
Group remained oriented to high-quality development, achieved
stable growth in total revenue for the year and continuously
improved its profitability. In 2024, the Group’s revenue amounted
to RMB13,521.2 million, and the profit attributable to the
owners of the Company rose from RMB1,329.3 million in 2023
to RMB1,636.7 million in 2024. Additionally, the Group’s working
capital position remained robust.

Taking into account the Group’s operation in 2024, the Board will
recommend the distribution of a final cash dividend of RMB0.307
per share (approximately RMB736.2 million in total) and a special
dividend of RMBO0.176 per share (RMB422.1 million in total) for
the year ended December 31, 2024 at the forthcoming 2024
annual general meeting of the Group, for celebrating the 40th
anniversary of the Group and rewarding Shareholders for their
support to the Group.
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With “healthy, safe and professionalism” as the brand image,
the Group has been committed to “brand-led business growth”
in respect of its development, providing quality products to
consumers. Aiming at becoming a top manufacturer of packaged
drinking water, the Group adheres to its development philosophy,
namely “quality water does not differentiate water types” (“&f7K
5 7KIE"). The Group has operated based on the diversification
of its water types since 2024. The Group also accelerated
the development of its beverage business by developing and
launching products with specifications and flavors catering to
more channels and drinking scenarios, thereby creating a broad
spectrum of products and successfully establishing the Group’s
second growth curve. During the 2024 Paris Olympic Games,
China Resources Beverage provided product safety assurance for
the Chinese national logistics camp and training camp in France.
In 2025, relying on its robust quality and strict quality control,
the Group passed TEAM CHINA's stringent tests once again and
renewed its long-term cooperation agreement with TEAM CHINA.
This renewal demonstrated the high quality and high standards
of China Resources Beverage in packaged drinking water and
non-alcoholic beverage, and served as a solid and sustained
support for the cause of the Chinese sports with practical actions.

In terms of cost efficiency, the Group has achieved significant
cost reduction and efficiency improvement through optimization
of the supply chain system. In 2024, several factories were
constructed to expand the Group’s production footprint, and new
production lines were fully put into operation with a significant
increase in production capacity compared to the previous year. In
the meantime, the Group has optimized its partner factories and
effectively increased the proportion of the self-owned production
capacity, leading to higher production efficiency and supply chain
stability.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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In 2024, the Group actively undertook its corporate social
responsibility, efficiently leveraged the “Disaster Relief Rapid
Response Mechanism” and engaged in donating bottled drinking
water for various social emergencies. Through environmental
events themed on “sustainable packaging”, “low-carbon
environmental protection”, “recycling”, etc. and initiatives such as
building and supporting multiple libraries for public welfare, the
Group used the public welfare projects of the C’estbon brand as
a lever to deepen the communication of its brand responsibilities
and strengthen consumers’ trust and recognition in China
Resources Beverage brands.

The market in 2025 is still ripe with both opportunities and
challenges. The Group will continue to implement effective sports
marketing strategies, continuously leverage the brand strength as
the supplier of the official drinking products of TEAM CHINA and
strengthen the linkage among its water and beverage brands. We
will intensify our efforts to cultivate the terminal market, embrace
an omnichannel network, and promote the Group’s high-quality
development in all facets by implementing systematic initiatives.
We will grow better and stronger and become a world-class
beverage enterprise.

I would like to express my heartfelt gratitude to the wider
community for its longstanding care and support for China
Resources Beverage, to our Shareholders and partners for their
full trust, and to all of our staff for their hard work and dedication.
What China Resources Beverage has achieved over the past four
decades is magnificent and now it embarks on a new journey. We
will grasp onto every possible opportunity, continuously optimize
our governance, work flat out to promote our development, create
superior value and achieve long-term mutual success with our
Shareholders, staff, customers and the community.

ZHANG Weitong
Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, PRC, March 21, 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MACRO AND INDUSTRY ENVIRONMENT

In 2024, the global economic landscape continued to be
complex and volatile. In light of the numerous uncertainties
in the international environment, a range of consumption
policies have been introduced domestically. As a result of these
policy interventions, the domestic consumer market remained
generally stable with the total social retail sales value for the
year amounting to RMB48.8 trillion, representing a year-on-year
increase of 3.5% compared to the previous year. However, the
performance across various sub-sectors has varied, the retail
sale of beverage showed a vibration trend.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Committed to becoming the go-to brand to address the basic
and diversified beverage needs of Chinese consumers, the Group
has been developing and offering a variety of quality ready-
to-drink soft beverages under its diverse brands and series,
primarily including brands and series, such as “C’estbon” (16 5),
“Bonjour Forét” (AE), “Zhi Ben Qing Run” (Z48H), “Mi Shui
Series” (B/KZ7%]) and “Holiday Series” (8 H &%l|). The Group has
crafted a diverse portfolio of market-leading products primarily
in two categories: packaged drinking water products and
beverage products, which are widely recognized among Chinese
consumers.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REB2024F 4B RA LT ARK13,521.2  The Group recorded a total revenue of RMB13,521.2 million in
BB B2023F#K0.05% o Ef » 2024, representing an increase of 0.05% compared to 2023, of
BERRBAKEDNBRAGBEBRABLS A which, revenue from packaged drinking water products accounted
89.7% ' BAEIE MR ARBUW AL A  for 89.7% of the total revenue, while revenue from beverage
10.3% » TREFIAEBNFTREPESER  products accounted for 10.3% of the total revenue. The following

BRI M AR S U ALL BIBRAR

table sets forth a breakdown of the Group’s revenue by product

category and their respective percentage contribution to total

revenue for the periods indicated:

BZ12A31ALEE
For the year ended December 31,
2024% 20234
2024 2023
S8 FERABA &8 R ONED 337
(AR®EER) (%) (AREEET) (%)
Percentage Percentage
contribution to contribution to
Amount total revenue Amount total revenue
EREH Product category (RMB in millions) (%)  (RMBin millions) (%)
BRBAKER Packaged drinking water products 12,124.0 89.7% 12,446.6 92.1%
MNERIEKERD Small-sized bottled water products'” 7,028.4 52.0% 77157 57.1%
Medium- to large-sized bottled water
RARBREKERY products®? 4,606.7 34.1% 4,2429 31.4%
EKER© Barreled water products® 488.9 3.6% 488.0 3.6%
BHER Beverage products 1,397.2 10.3% 1,068.1 7.9%
At Total 13,521.2 100.0% 13,514.7 100.0%
BEE - Notes:

(M PMEBRREKEREBERRETEBITHNRE (1)
RAKEER °

(2) MRBERFKERIEERBECIAEISTTZ (2
MR BEMRAKER °

3 MIOKEREERBTERI1BIMNEEKMKE (@)

on °

Small-sized bottled water products refer to packaged drinking water
products with an individual container volume of no more than 1L.

Medium- to large-sized bottled water products refer to packaged drinking
water products with an individual container volume between 1L and 15L.

Barreled water products refer to packaged drinking water products with an

individual container volume of 18.9L.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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PACKAGED DRINKING WATER PRODUCTS

The Group manufactures and sells its packaged drinking water
products under its core brand “C’estbon”. As of December 31,
2024, the Group’s packaged drinking water products comprised
its bottled water products under its brands “C’estbon”, “L’eau” (14
Z &), “Bonjour Forét” and “FEEL” and its barreled water products

under “C’estbon” and ‘Jialinshan” (hI#kLL).

Looking back at our packaged drinking water business in 2024,
the Group was committed to becoming a water integrator,
adhering to the development concept that “quality water does not
differentiate water types” to drive the development of multiple
brands with multiple water types. With “C’estbon” and “Bonjour
Forét” as the key brands, we progressively launched “C’estbon”
5L natural water and “Bonjour Forét” natural water products to
gradually refine our multi-category product layout of packaged
drinking water. The sales volume of “Bonjour Forét” achieved
rapid year-on-year growth, actively responding to market
competition. Our high-end product “L’eau” natural mineral water
introduced its gold edition for the year, the “Bamboo, Mountain,
Wind and Moon” (TIWE A) series of products, which has
enhanced the gift attributes and high-value texture of “L’eau’,
constantly built the brand reputation, and elevated the overall
brand image of C’estbon. In the face of external environment such
as slower consumption growth, intense market competition in the
beverage industry, changes in consumption habits and scenarios,
as well as extreme weather, the Company increased resource
contribution in channels and terminal markets, actively expanded
catering and specialty channels, exploring e-commerce channel,
household channel and other emerging channels, thereby
stabilizing its market position.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

According to the data provided by CIC, the retail sales amount
of the PRC packaged drinking water products in 2024 increased
by 2.5% on a year-on-year basis, and the retail sales amount
of the Group’s packaged drinking water products increased by
4.5% on a year-on-year basis. Revenue from packaged drinking
water products for the year amounted to RMB12,124.0 million,
representing a decrease of 2.6% from 2023, and accounting for
89.7% of the total revenue in 2024.

BEVERAGE PRODUCTS

In recent years, while maintaining steady growth of packaged
drinking water business, the Group has continuously promoted
the development of its beverage business, actively establishing
a second curve for growing. Revenue in 2024 amounted to
RMB1,397.2 million, representing an increase of 30.8% from
2023, and accounting for 10.3% of the total revenue in 2024.

—E_MEER
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

13



14

ERECEEa

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

AEBEBMBNEMRENRRHER B
[EXBEIENEYRE - [ERRE]ER
RERBAR[FEE2E | [FRPZ R
£t o 2024 F AR EH [ EXNFHE] EXEY
B RFBRTRENTIHER - 1771.5
AEMEXNFBERBAZBEHEHE

METHEERADFRNKARR - BB
BHEH FZ‘EN%?P?@QW@J%&D% - MR
LT - REBEERHTESEMNAK
BE L;@%ﬂ%kﬁ'%ﬂ%ﬁlﬁl%ﬂﬁtm [ER
BEIKMEREESHRERBERNE

Ko RBERMEETSTOHEN  BR
HEHLEFER122%NEWKE - [ER

BEBER I EREXRAITHPIEET B
BE-—MNREMWL - [EXREFRE] mERRAR
MEEENEETN - AKZmEEBARR
H SRR TVCERESZHEEBRM

TEEAREBRL  RARERAE - K&
EENEEKINEL T2 mE [ EEE ]

MEED - ZERBERKRIZ M IETE
SR IMAHm BGEIEE  mElr
miE N - BERXF TEERIWETRE

EAEE RS T RERAE -

The Group currently has four brands for its tea beverage products
covering herbal beverages under “Zhi Ben Qing Run”, sugar-free
tea beverages under “Zuo Wei Cha Shi” (%), and milk tea
beverages under the “Tea of Wish” (fAE %) and “Gogo-no-
Kocha milk tea” (‘F&FIAR). In 2024, the Group’s herbal beverage
series under “Zhi Ben Qing Run” achieved significant market
expansion, and the “Zhi Ben Qing Run” products in 1L and 1.5L
bottles expanded their sales coverage nationwide to meet
consumers’ drinking demand for medium- to large-sized sharing
packages. The Group launched a new flavor of “Zhi Ben Qing Run
sour plum drink” (EAE HEE1)5), the Group also highlighted
the classic flavor in northern China, providing consumers with
a wider range of flavor options. Through the size enrichment
and the launch of new flavors, “Zhi Ben Qing Run” successfully
met the diversified drinking scenarios and needs of consumers,
while strengthening the brand’s competitiveness in the market,
achieving an outstanding sales growth of 122% compared to the
previous year, and “Zhi Ben Qing Run chrysanthemum tea” (2758
JEETEA) has secured the leading position in the chrysanthemum
tea market segment, ranking the first. The brand of “Zhi Ben Qing
Run” has adopted the publicity form of brand ambassadors. At
the same time, the brand continuously expanded brand exposure
through media placements such as buses, airport display screens
and TVC TV advertisements, enhancing brand recognition. In the
fourth quarter, the Group successfully launched a new brand, the
“Tea of Wish” milk tea series, which comprises two new products,
“Original Milk Tea” and “Osmanthus Oolong Milk Tea” After
the launch, the Group focused on the brand tone of “lucky and
satisfied”, and combined with winter, New Year’s Day and other
hotspots to carry out brand topics spreading, thus promoting

brand awareness and enhancing brand recognition.

EBER (ZR) ARLF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEEN WA
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group currently has three brands for its juice beverage
products, namely “Mi Shui Series” (7K &%), “Holiday Series” (f&
A %) and “Sekai-no-Kitchen” (JREHFHHIE ). Among them,
“Mi Shui Series” (Z7K £7%1)) and “Holiday Series” (8 H &7l|) are the
Group’s key brands for juice beverages. In May 2024, “Lemon Mi
Shui” (B/K#E1R) launched a soda with the same flavor, “Passion
Fruit Mi Shui” (Z/KE%&) also launched a new 350ml pack,
providing consumers with more flavor choices in various drinking
scenarios.

The Group’s portfolio of other beverage products primarily
includes sports drink “Mulene” (BE11), coffee beverage “FIRE”
(X)), etc. The Group actively carried out product packaging
and flavor upgrading to enhance product competitiveness. In
order to implement the ongoing strategic development, the
Group developed a healthy sports beverage market, intensified
efforts in layout, and deepened sports marketing initiatives,
comprehensively upgraded the brand image and product flavors
of Mulene, strengthened the sense of power and sports image,
and addressed the replenishment needs of consumers in sports
scenes in 2024. The Group launched the C’estbon Mulene sports
beverage with lemon and grapefruit flavors for event sponsorship
in November 2024, and officially launched products in the sport-
cap pack and large pack of 1L in January 2025. In 2024, the Group
developed its own brand for coffee products and launched a new
flame-baked brand in February 2025, offering two popular flavors
of Latte and Mocha.
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EBER (ZR) ARLF

SALES NETWORK

The Group has built an extensive sales network, including
traditional channels, modern channels, catering channels,
specialty channels, e-commerce channels and other channels.
It maintains direct sales relationships with customers, such as
national and regional supermarkets, chain convenience stores
and e-commerce platforms, to effectively reach a broad base
of consumers. In terms of strengthening the advantageous
position of traditional channels, the Group continued to enhance
the influence of our products in retail terminals. At the same
time, following the principle of “seeking common ground while
reserving differences, taking advantage of the situation, adapting
to local conditions and keeping abreast of the times” CKRIF£ -
HEHE - FiblE - EBE{EE

optimization to enhance channel competitiveness. In addition,

), the Group carried out channel

the Group actively expanded emerging channels, accelerated
the development of online business, explored catering channels
(ERE),
implemented pilot programs for household channels to promote

through projects such as “Catering Street” and
the joint development of multiple channels to adapt to market

changes and consumer demands.

Adhering to the sales channel strategy of “delicate cultivation for
BHALE - REEARIR), in 2024, the
Group performed a series of sales measures, including the “spring

ploughing activity” (FE#7TE)), the “collective efforts to cover the
market” (52884, " (#EAE YY) and the “hundreds
of cities, thousands of stores demonstration street” (B3 T /5 T~ &

triumphing at the end market” (5

“carton recycle

) construction, thus constantly establishing new terminal retail
outlets and exploring new sales channels. Besides, the Group
strengthened the construction of images for outlets of influence
and as model, consolidating terminal foundation to improve
channel competitiveness. In 2024, the number of terminal retail
outlets under coverage increased by 15% on a year-on-year
basis. The penetration of commercial refrigerator showcases in
the market increased by over 20% as compared with the previous
year.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Group adheres to the regional development strategy of
“enhancing the existing market share, conquering the variable
market and exploring the incremental market” (IR 7€ * K

g4 =

#E& ZILE) to further consolidate its leading position in
advantageous markets, improve the imbalance in market
strength between northern and southern China, increase market
share in provinces along the Yangtze River and promote rapid
growth in the northwest market. In the packaged drinking water
business in 2024, we have continued to improve our business
execution capabilities in our base markets, leveraged the market
brand effect, and further expanded our leading edge; we have
deeply developed the lower-tier markets along the Yangtze River,
comprehensively improved the product distribution abilities,
assisted the expansion of modern channel business, achieved
steady business growth, and continued to increase regional
importance; we have concentrated resources in the northwest
market to strengthen our presence in the provincial capital cities,
which has also benefited the economic and demographic centers
outside the provincial capitals, achieving rapid revenue growth.

BRAND BUILDING

Faced with the practical challenges of vast territory, numerous
brands and limited resources, the Group has adopted the
strategic approach of “focusing on resources and concentrating
on efforts” (BEER - £F % H) and adhered to the concept
of long-termism. The Group has used large-scale outdoor
advertising as the main form of publicity. For six consecutive
years, the long-term advertising strategy for buses has had
a significant impact on the industry, achieving long-term and
extensive coverage of daily consumers. The Group has cooperated
with CCTV Sports Channel in major events to increase product
exposure and enhance brand voice. At the same time, we have
focused on mainstream Internet platforms such as WeChat and
Weibo, and implemented precise targeted marketing for target
groups based on the characteristics of the platform audience,
effectively improving brand exposure to target groups. In the field
of sports marketing, the Group has established long-term and
in-depth cooperation with domestic top sports IPs such as TEAM
CHINA, the Chinese Super League (CSL), marathons, and general
public sports projects, and continued to expand brand influence.
The performance of the C’estbon brand in 2024 was particularly
outstanding, with the brand’s first mention rate without prompts
reaching 21% and the total recognition rate reaching 88%,
ranking among the top three in the packaged water industry.
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EBER (ZR) ARLF

In the field of packaged drinking water, the Group focuses on
building the core brand image of “C’estbon”. The C’estbon brand
has been with us all the way, committed to becoming a loyal
partner for health for all and contributing to the development of
China’s sports industry. As the official drinking product of the
TEAM CHINA, C’estbon not only provides safe and healthy drinking
water services to more than 70 national sports teams, supporting
Chinese athletes to achieve outstanding results in international
competitions, but also penetrates into consumers’ daily lives and
establishes a deep emotional bond with consumers. In February
2024, the C’estbon brand sponsored the CSL, the top domestic
football event, to help the development of football. This year,
the C’estbon brand continued to deepen its presence in the
field of sports marketing, focusing on marathon events, campus
runs, Ultra Gobi and other activities, making full use of different
promotional scenes to maximize the display of products and
brand images, and further consolidating its leading position in
the field of sports marketing.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

In terms of beverage brand building, the Group has adopted
diversified marketing strategies that align with consumer
preferences to meet the development needs of brand
differentiation. By introducing the fencing world champions as
brand ambassadors, Zhi Ben Qing Run brand not only significantly
increased the brand recognition, but also enhanced the sense of
trust of consumers. Meanwhile, with the placements in variety
KESIE)), the Group not only
deepened the brand’s market impression, but also significantly

shows such as Round Table

enhanced the exposure of the brand’s products and consumer
preference. In addition, through the Group’s cross-industry
cooperation with cultural IPs such as the dance poetry drama, A
Tapestry of a Legendary Land KR tF4E)), as well as the online
marketing campaign with the influencer IP, Milk Dragon (#38€),
the Group not only promoted oriental aesthetics and traditional
culture, but also successfully captured the attention of young
consumer groups. In the area of sports marketing, the Group
fully leveraged the sports resources of C’estbon brand, and
strengthened the promotion of beverage brands such as Lemon
Mi Shui by sponsoring competitions such as the China Family
Sailing Regatta, and successfully penetrated the family consumer

group.

PRODUCTION

In 2024, the Group actively expanded its production footprint
with the comprehensive capacity increased by 21% from 2023.
It followed the “1+N” strategy in the overall capacity allocation
and built four new factories according to the principles of
electing quality water sources and logistic hubs. Among them,
two of our self-owned factories, namely Wanlv Lake Factory in
Guangdong and Wuyi Mountain Factory in Fujian, as well as the
two partner factories in Xinjiang and Shaanxi, were successfully
commissioned as planned, further supporting the Company’s
business strategy. 22 new production lines were added in 2024,
of which 14 new high-speed water lines and 3 new aseptic lines
for beverages were added to our self-owned factories, and 5
new water lines were added to our partner factories, with 9 old
lines obsoleted, thus enhancing our production independence
and stability and effectively reducing the overall production cost.
It is expected that by the end of the “14th Five-Year” Plan, the
proportion of the self-owned production capacity for packaged
drinking water nationwide will increase to over 60%. In order
to meet the growing sales demand in the beverage market, the
Company will further optimize its overall production capacity
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layout. The Group has basically completed the construction of in-
house preform production, and implemented a national unified
operation scheme for preform allocation, achieving the cost
reduction on the overall value chain. As of the end of 2024, the
Group’s in-house preform supply rate had been greatly improved,
reducing the reliance on external resources, thus effectively
improving market competitiveness.

QUALITY CONTROL

The Group places great emphasis on the quality of its products,
and performs various quality inspection and testing procedures,
including visual inspection, physical and chemical inspection,
microbiological testing and weight checks, etc., in the whole
process, to ensure that its products meet the relevant quality
standards and comply with applicable laws and regulations.
The Group complies with the “China Resources C'estbon Full
Value Chain Food Safety and Quality Management System” (3
BEREX2EERARKIHEEERRR),

and meticulously refined the system over its operation to cover

and has constantly

every aspect of its supply chain, production process and finished
product management. The Group’s quality control measures are
also applied to its Cooperative Manufacturing Partners.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

In 2024, in terms of research and development (R&D), leveraging
the professional advantages of sensory labs, tea and coffee
research labs, the Group had achieved a breakthrough in the
research of thermotolerant microorganisms. Meanwhile, the
Group added advanced packaging material testing equipment
to improve R&D efficiency, thereby enhancing the ability to
launch new products rapidly. In terms of new products, in 2024,
the Group launched Zhi Ben Qing Run Sour Plum Drink, Mi Shui
Lemon Soda, “Original Milk Tea” and “Osmanthus Oolong Milk
Tea” under the Tea of Wish series, Mulene Sports Drink with
upgraded flavors and bottle shapes, etc., to enrich the Group’s
product portfolio.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEENWEAD
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

DIGITALIZATION CONSTRUCTION

In 2024, with a number of factories successively putting into
operation and the full deployment of intelligent production lines,
we have continued to drive digitalization across key supply chain
operations, and achieved full-process digital management and
control over production management, quality inspection and
raw material tracing, etc., by leveraging digital and intelligent
technologies. We can achieve production dynamic monitoring
in real-time through smart terminals, and precisely control the
whole production process to ensure product quality and safety,
effectively improved efficiency and reduced costs. In the field
of new technology applications, we have embraced emerging
technologies such as Artificial Intelligence (Al) with an open
and proactive approach, integrating them into our business
processes while exploring innovative application scenarios to
successfully apply Al technology in numerous business models
for production, sales, procurement management, etc., promoting
the improvement of the operational management effectiveness
and decision-making efficiency.

FUTURE OUTLOOK

Entering 2025, with the continued recovery of the national
economy, rising incomes for both urban and rural residents,
and the ongoing implementation and refinement of policies to
stimulate consumption, new consumption formats and models
are gradually growing and maturing. The expansion of the
consumer market is expected to be further strengthened. The
Group will continue to meet the people’s growing expectation
for a better life, continuously leverage the brand strength as
the supplier of the official drinking products of TEAM CHINA,
and consistently invest in product innovation, brand building,
and channel development. We will increase investment
in fundamental research, accelerate talent development,
strengthen system platform integration, and promote high-quality
business growth. Our goal is to better serve our customers and
consumers, create value for our Shareholders, and strive to build
a world-class, comprehensive beverage enterprise that delights
our partners and ensures the satisfaction of consumers.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

During the Reporting Period, the Group generated revenue from
two categories of products: packaged drinking water products
and beverage products.

In 2024, the Group recorded a revenue of RMB13,521.2
million, representing an increase of 0.05% as compared with
RMB13,514.7 million in 2023. Due to frequent rainfall during the
peak season in the third quarter of 2024, sales were temporarily
affected. The Company responded to external challenges through
various measures such as launching new products, extending the
depth and breadth of our channels, strengthening brand building,
and improving the supply chain. Sales volume grew steadily
throughout the year, with its market position solid.

Cost of Sales

The Group’s cost of sales primarily includes: (i) the cost
of raw materials and packaging materials; (ii) Cooperative
Manufacturing Partners’ services fees; and (iii) manufacturing
expenses.

In 2024, the Group’s cost of sales amounted to RMB7,124.0
million, representing a decrease of 4.8% as compared to
RMB7,479.5 million in 2023, primarily due to (i) the increased
proportion of products produced in our self-owned factories; (ii)
the extension along the value chain and the adjustment to fee
rates of Cooperative Manufacturing Partners; and (iii) market
price reduction of raw materials (such as PET and cardboard) and
optimization of packaging.

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

In 2023 and 2024, the Group’s gross profit was RMB6,035.2
million and RMB6,397.3 million, respectively. In 2023 and 2024,
the Group’s gross margin was 44.7% and 47.3%, respectively.
The gross margin increased by 2.6 percentage points year on
year, primarily due to (i) the increased proportion of products
produced in our self-owned factories; (ii) the extension along
the value chain and the adjustment to fee rates of Cooperative
Manufacturing Partners; and (iii) market price reduction of raw
materials (such as PET and cardboard) and optimization of
packaging.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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BEENWEAD
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Other Income

In 2024, the Group’s other income amounted to RMB289.0 million,
accounting for 2.1% of total revenue, representing a decrease of
21.83% as compared to RMB367.2 million in 2023, primarily due to
the decrease in interest income as a result of lower bank market
interest rates.

Other Gains and Losses

In 2024, the Group’s other gains and losses amounted to a loss of
RMB14.0 million, representing a decrease of 4.4% as compared
to a loss of RMB14.6 million in 2023.

Impairment Losses Under Expected Credit Loss Model, Net of
Reversal

The Group’s impairment losses under expected credit loss model,
net of reversal, decreased from RMB3.8 million as of 2023 by
69.1% to RMB1.2 million in 2024, primarily due to the further
improvement of the closed-loop management mechanism for
debtors and the enhanced level of risk management and control
of debtors.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses primarily consist
of: (i) staff costs, mainly representing salaries, bonuses, pension
costs and other social insurance costs, etc., relating to the
Group’s sales and marketing staff; (ii) marketing and promotion
expenses, mainly representing expenses for marketing activities
serving the Group’s customers, retail points of sale and end
consumers, such as advertising, sports events and variety show
sponsorship, shelf display and promotion materials; (iii) logistics
services expenses, mainly fees incurred for the transportation of
the Group’s products; (iv) depreciation and amortization, primarily
in relation to commercial refrigerator showcases; and (v) other
expenses, such as travel expenses.

In 2024, the Group’s distribution and selling expenses amounted
to RMB4,058.4 million, representing a decrease of 0.7% as
compared to RMB4,086.5 million in 2023, which remained
relatively stable.
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Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses primarily consist of: (i) staff
costs; (ii) consulting expenses; (iii) depreciation and amortization,
which was primarily in relation to equipment and office buildings;
and (iv) others, including factory start-up costs.

In 2024, the Group’s administrative expenses amounted to
RMB295.7 million, representing a decrease of 1.6% as compared
to RMB300.6 million in 2023, which remained relatively stable.

Research and Development Costs

The Group’s R&D costs mainly include: (i) staff costs of R&D
personnel; (ii) services fees in relation to consulting services; and
(iii) testing and inspection fees.

The Group’s R&D costs decreased from RMB61.5 million in 2023
to RMB53.4 million in 2024.

Finance Costs

The Group’s finance costs primarily consist of interest on bank
borrowings and non-controlling shareholder loans, and interest
on lease liabilities.

The Group’s finance costs decreased from RMB42.5 million in
2023 to RMB2.4 million in 2024, primarily due to the decrease in
bank borrowings in 2024.

Income Tax

The Group’s income tax increased from RMB547.1 million in 2023
to RMB562.9 million in 2024, primarily due to the increase in
profit before taxation.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the foregoing, the Group’s profit for the year
increased from RMB1,331.4 million in 2023 by 24.7% to
RMB1,660.8 million in 2024, and the Group’s net profit margin
increased from 9.9% in 2023 to 12.3% in 2024.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited



4!

AEENEFETERRE  ()EMH RER

3t
IS

n o TEREEEMBAMER  RGDREK
o TEBREEKAKMKRER o FH
FEERRIEARETEEROARED

REBMWFEHR2023F12A31BHARYE
377.4BBITHEIN33.6%E2024F 12 A3
AMARBS042B8T TZHREER
B - FERAEXRHMA2023F12A318H
23.6 KA ZE2024F 12 A31HM22.6K °

B 5 RHERYFIE

AEENBESREMERFIBETIERTEERS
FEMCRIR ~ AT B E R - TR R
T8 J Bt FEURFROR

REENWE SR HAEYGIER 2023512 A
STHMARKG82.9B88B LML E2024F12
A31BEMARYG667.9BETT - B HERK
HEEREMN2023F12 A31 B 7.3 KE M
£2024F 12 A31BM7.5K - ASEREURE

g5 RHE RN IR

AEENESNEMENFAELIERE SR
MR - BNHEERNRERER BNT
B EfRE BEERNFKAMEGEMNK
g e

REEWE S RHAMENFKIER2023F12 A4
31THMARES 022 1EBTRDE20244F
12A31BMARK3, 718788 L ES5E
T EE EE R EH2023F12 A31 BAY33.7
FIBINE2024%12 A31HAIS36.9K °

BEENWEAD
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Inventories

The Group’s inventories primarily consist of: (i) raw materials
and consumables, primarily including packaging materials and
ingredients; and (ii) finished goods, primarily including packaged
drinking water and beverage products. Raw materials and
consumables represented the majority of the Group’s inventories.

The Group’s inventories increased by 33.6% from RMB377.4
million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB504.2 million as of
December 31, 2024, primarily due to production stocking. The
inventory turnover days decreased from 23.6 days as of December
31, 20283 to 22.6 days as of December 31, 2024.

Trade and Other Receivables

The Group’s trade and other receivables mainly comprise trade
receivables, value-added tax recoverable, advances to suppliers,
and other receivables.

The Group’s trade and other receivables decreased from
RMB682.9 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB667.9 million
as of December 31, 2024. The trade receivables turnover days
increased from 7.3 days as of December 31, 2023 to 7.5 days as
of December 31, 2024, which remained stable.

Trade and Other Payables

The Group’s trade and other payables primarily represent
trade payables, sales rebate and promotion expense payables,
payroll payables, deposit payables, advertising payables and
transportation payables.

The Group’s trade and other payables decreased from
RMB5,022.1 million as of December 31, 2023 to RMB3,718.7
million as of December 31, 2024. The trade payables turnover
days increased from 33.7 days as of December 31, 2023 to 36.9
days as of December 31, 2024.
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Bank Borrowing

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s balance of current and
non-current bank borrowing was RMB17.2 million. Such bank
borrowing was denominated in Renminbi, and is arranged
at a variable rate linked to the lending rate stipulated by the
PBOC with an effective interest rate of 2.71% per annum as of
December 31, 2024. Such bank borrowing was made primarily for
daily operations.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s total bank deposits and
cash amounted to RMB10,647.4 million, with the majority held in
HKD and RMB. The Group maintains a reasonable and sufficient
cash level through centralized cash management.

Gearing Ratio

As of December 31, 2024, the Group’s gearing ratio (equals
the total interest-bearing debt (including lease liabilities and
interest-bearing proportion of the amounts due to non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary) divided by total equity and multiplied
by 100% as of the same date) was 0.5%, generally level with the
Group’s gearing ratio of 0.5% as of December 31, 2023.

Significant Investments, Material Acquisitions, and Disposals

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had no significant
investments that are required to be disclosed pursuant to
Paragraph 32(4A) of Appendix D2 to the Listing Rules as well as
material acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries, associates
and joint ventures.

Future Material Investments or Capital Asset Plans

As of the date of this announcement, except for those disclosed
in the “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus,
the Group currently has no plans to acquire other material
investments or capital assets.

Contingent Liabilities

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Capital Expenditures

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group’s capital
expenditures amounted to approximately RMB2,136.0 million
(for the year ended December 31, 2023: RMB2,312.2 million),
primarily allocated to the acquisition of property, plant, and
equipment, purchase of right-of-use assets, acquisition of
subsidiaries and other non-current assets.

Pledge of Assets

As of December 31, 2024, the Group pledged the buildings and
land use rights with carrying amount of RMB119.6 million as
security for bank borrowings.

Foreign Exchange Risk

The majority of the Group’s revenue and expenditures are
denominated in Renminbi. The Group’s subsidiaries operate in
Mainland China and Hong Kong, with their functional currencies
being the local currencies (i.e., RMB and HKD), respectively. The
Group engages in certain transactions denominated in foreign
currencies, thereby exposing it to exchange rate fluctuation risks.
Currently, the Group does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy in place. However, the management actively monitors
foreign exchange risks and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposures when necessary.

Human Resources and Remuneration Policy

As of December 31, 2024, the Group had 11,194 full-time
employees, the majority of whom are based in Mainland China.
The following table sets forth the number of our employees by

function:
BZ2024%12A31A

As of December 31, 2024
HESAHN
EEAY Bat(%)
Number of Percentage of
Hige Function employees total employees (%)
HERMBER Sales and Marketing 8,617 77
78 Administration 308 3
S R&D 92 1
HE Production 2,177 19
&t Total 11,19 100

“ECNFEFR
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The Group recruited our employees through on-campus
recruitment, job fairs, recruitment agencies, internal recruitment
platform of China Resources and internal and external referrals.
Committed to providing fair and equal opportunities in all its
employment practices, we have adopted policies and procedures
to ensure a fair and impartial recruitment, selection and
employment. Meanwhile, we offer our employees competitive
salaries, comprehensive insurance packages and merit-based
incentive schemes which are generally based on the performance
of the individual employees and the overall performance of our
business. In terms of employee compensation and benefits, the
Group complies with the requirements of laws and regulations
on salary and welfare, and has optimized the Management
Regulations for Remuneration and Benefits (B FE RIHE),
which sets out the Group’s compensation philosophy, principles
of income distribution, as well as the composition, calculation,
and disbursement of employees’ compensation and benefits.

The Group provides new hire training to new joiners on our
corporate culture, business and industry, improving their
understanding of our Group and their abilities to perform
their duties. The Group also regularly provides tailor-made in-
house training sessions to our employees or arranges for our
employees to attend training sessions provided by third parties,
thus improving their technical skills. In addition, we provide
management skills training opportunities to certain employees
and outstanding young backbones to facilitate their transition
into a management role.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Weitong, aged 56, has been responsible for the
overall operation and management of our Group since December
2018. He acted as our President from December 2018 to June
2024, and has been our Director since January 2019, and the
Chairman of the Board since July 2022.

Mr. ZHANG joined our Group in April 2000, and served as a
regional sales manager, a department manager, an assistant to
the general manager, a vice general manager and a senior vice
general manager of the Group. He was successively responsible
for overseeing our Group’s branches in southern China and
eastern China, various functional departments and sales regions
of the Group from January 2008 to February 2018.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. ZHANG served as an assistant to
the general manager in Weiyuan Beverage & Food (Shenzhen)
Co., Ltd. (KREREIR ORI BRAR]). He served as the general
manager of China Resources Ng Fung Limited GEERLHRAR])
from March 2018 to December 2018.

Mr. ZHANG has an EMBA degree from Sun Yat-sen University
(FLUKRE) in the PRC. He has over 30 years of management
experience in the beverage industry.

Mr. LI Shuqing, aged 52, has been our President since June 2024,
and has been our Director since August 2024.

Mr. LI joined CR Group in August 1994, and successively worked
in China Resources Head Office and China Resources Ng Fung
Limited, etc. He held various management positions including the
assistant director and deputy director of the office of CR Holdings,
a vice general manager of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Commercial Group Co., Ltd. GCEBEBEZEEELEBEFRAF), a vice
general manager of China Resources Ng Fung Limited from
September 2011 to June 2024.

Mr. LI has a bachelor’s degree majoring in international trade
from University of International Business and Economics (f4MN&
B S AE) in the PRC.
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Ms. WU Xia, aged 47, was appointed as the Company’s Director
and Chief Financial Officer since April 2024.

Prior to joining our Group, Ms. WU had worked in Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical Group and its subsidiaries for over 20 years, and
held several management positions including the assistant to
the general manager of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Group and
the chief financial officer, the secretary to the board and the
deputy general manager of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.
(TR BRAR]) (a company listed on the Shanghai Stock
Exchange (stock code: 600750)). She served as the deputy general
manager in China Resources Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Group
Co., Ltd. ERIHREEEFREE LA from June 2020 to April
2024.

Ms. WU holds a master’s degree in accounting in Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics (LFABIA&EKER) in the PRC,
and she is qualified as a senior accountant of the PRC.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIN Guolong, aged 58, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in April 2024.

Mr. LIN served as the vice president and the chief financial
officer in China Resources Sanjiu Medical & Pharmaceutical
Co., Ltd. EH=NBERMKHAER DA (a company listed on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code: 000999)) from August
2011 to July 2018. He worked in the finance department of CR
Holdings from July 2018 to August 2021, with his last position
as a deputy general manager. Mr. LIN has been a designated
external director of the business unit of CR Group since
August 2021 including serving as an external director of China
Resources Capital Holdings Company Limited (ZEHEErIERE
R 2 A]) since November 2021, a non-executive director of China
Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited GEHBEEFRFR A
A]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3320))
from September 2021 to December 2023, and a director of China
Resources Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. (ZEH SR L%
fR 1 BBRAF]) (@ company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange
(stock code: 600062)) since October 2023.

Mr. LIN holds a master’s degree majoring in business and
administration from University of South Australia in Australia.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Mr. SUN Yongqiang, aged 54, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in April 2024.

Mr. SUN successively worked in Beijing Dyestuffs Plant Co.,
Ltd. (ERERBEREMELRRF) (formerly known as Beijing
Dyestuffs Plant (At 4 kHER)) and Beijing Haidong Air Purification
Technology Development Company (1t FUS R % & /F(L BT 5 %
~\]) from August 1992 to September 1998. Mr. SUN joined the
CR Group in November 1998, and served in China Resources
Land (Beijing) Co., Ltd. CEHEMILR)RMHBRAA) (formerly
known as Beijing Huayuan Real Estate Co., Ltd. Qb RHZERE
HERM AR AF])) from November 1998 to November 20086,
with his last position as a department manager of the research
and development department. He served as a vice general
manager in China Resources Land (Hunan) Co., Ltd. GEHE
HOH™)BRAE]) from November 2006 to July 2009, and as a
general manager from July 2009 to January 2011. He has served
in China Resources Land Co., Ltd. (EHEEHAERAE]) from
January 2011 to September 2023, with his last position as a vice
president. He concurrently served as a vice general manager of
Hainan Development Holdings Co., Ltd. (BE&EREERERA
A]) from October 2020 to October 2022. Mr. SUN has served as
a non-executive director of China Resources Pharmaceutical
Group Limited (GEHEZEBAMRAR]) (a company listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 3320)) since December 2023 and an
external director of China Resources Ng Fung Limited GEHREH
FR A A]) since May 2024,

Mr. SUN holds a bachelor’s degree in engineering majoring in
thermal engineering from Dalian University of Technology (Ki#E2
T KZ) in the PRC, and was qualified as a senior economist and
an engineer of the PRC.
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Mr. XIAO Ning, aged 53, was appointed as a non-executive
Director in April 2024.

Mr. XIAO served as the deputy manager of the legal department
of China Resources Company Limited (FEZEBEAHE A RF]) from
August 1996 to September 2000. He started to work in China
Resources Petrochemical (Group) Co., Ltd. GEEAL(EE)BRA
A]) from September 2000 and held several positions including an
assistant manager of investment development department from
September 2001 to September 2002, a manager of investment
development department from October 2002 to February 2004,
and a senior manager of investment development department
from February 2004 to June 2007. Mr. XIAO then held several
positions in CR Chemical (formerly known as China Resources
Chemical Holdings Co., Ltd. GEEB{ITIZERERAR]) and its
subsidiaries, including the assistant to general manager and
a legal director. Mr. XIAO then served as the deputy general
manager of CR Chemical from April 2020 to August 2022. Mr. XIAO
has served as a director of China Resources Microelectronics
Limited FEBMETAMRAF]) (a company listed on the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688396)) since November 2022 and
a director of China Resources Digital Technology Holdings Co.,
Limited (ZEEEEHER B R A 7)) since December 2022.

Mr. XIAO holds a master’s degree majoring in business
administration from Xiamen University (EF9A2) in the PRC.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Ms. CAO Yue, aged 47, has been a Director since August 2023.

Ms. CAO served in KPMG Huazhen LLP (EEEZER S5 EIS= M7
(BHEBAE)) as an audit manager from August 2005 to August
2013. After that, she has served in Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P..

Ms. CAO holds a master’s degree majoring in quantitative
economics from Renmin University of China (FBIARAKEZ) in
Beijing, the PRC. Ms. CAO is a qualified member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She was qualified as a
Certified Internal Auditor of the PRC in November 2009.

Dr. ZHAO Dian, aged 38, has been a Director since August 2022.

Dr. ZHAO served as a lawyer in Zhonglun Law Firm from December
2010 to June 2016. He worked as a vice president in the equity
investment platform of Zhong Ou Asset Management Company
Limited (FEXESEE B AF]) from June 2016 to August 2020.
After that, he has served in Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P..

Dr. ZHAO holds a doctoral degree majoring in civil and commercial
law from the Graduate School of Chinese Academy of Social
Sciences (P B ERIZ2ETIFFTART) in the PRC. Dr. ZHAO obtained
the PRC legal professional qualification in March 2012.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony, aged 74, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director in October 2024.

Dr. CHOW is a solicitor and admitted to practice in Hong Kong and
England & Wales and a China-Appointed Attesting Officer ({ Bl 7]
ERRENPEEZEREAN).

Dr. CHOW established the law firm Anthony W.K, Chow & Co. (/&
KEE72EM7T) in September 1982 which has since become Guantao
and Chow Solicitors and Notaries (BEERZMBBEA(EHS)) of
which he is the Senior Consultant (&% E&fH). Dr. CHOW served
as an independent non-executive director of MTR Corporation
Limited (BBEKEAR2AR]) (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 0066)) from May 2016 to May 2022, and
an independent non-executive director of S.F. Holding Co., Ltd.
(B RS DB BR A R]) (a company listed on the Shenzhen
Stock Exchange (stock code: 002352)) from December 2016
to December 2022. Dr. CHOW currently serves as director of a
number of listed companies, including: (i) a non—executive director
SEEEERA

A]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1170))

of the Kingmaker Footwear Holdings Limited (

since June 1994, (ii) an independent non-executive director of
Ping An Healthcare and Technology Company Limited (%22 5z &5
BERERAERAT)
code: 1833)) since May 2018, (iii) an independent non-executive
director of Beijing North Star Company Limited (1t =it/ & 2D
ABRZAF]D) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
588) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601588))
since May 2021, and (iv) an independent non-executive director
ki & REHR B R
A7) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6638)
and the New York Stock Exchange (ticker: OCFT)) since October
2020.

(a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock

of OneConnect Financial Technology Co., Ltd (&

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Dr. CHOW was a Member of The National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference, for four
sessions covering 20 years from 2003 to 2023. Dr. CHOW served
as the President of The Law Society of Hong Kong from 1997 to
2000, Chairman of the Process Review Panel for the SFC from
2006 to 2012, Chairman of Process Review Panel for the Financial
Reporting Council from 2015 to 2020, and Chairman of The Hong
Kong Jockey Club from 2018 to 2020.

Dr. CHOW was awarded the Justice of the Peace in 1998 and the
Silver Bauhinia Star (BEBERITTHRBEFEE) in 2003 by the
Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. He was
admitted to the Honorary Fellowship (882t L) of the Hong Kong
Institute of Education (BB B £kx) in March 2010, the Honorary
Fellowship (2Pt L) of King's College London in July 2013, and
the Roll of Honour of The Law Society of Hong Kong in 2015.

Dr. CHOW was awarded a doctoral degree in social sciences
honoris causa from Hong Kong Metropolitan University (F&# &
KE) (formerly known as the Open University of Hong Kong (&7
AFAXEZ)) in Hong Kong in December 2018 and a doctoral degree
of law honoris causa from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology (BB EHEAE) in Hong Kong in November 2021.

Mr. LI Yinquan, aged 70, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director of the Company in October 2024.

Mr. LI served respectively as (i) the general manager of financial
department, chief financial officer and vice president of China
Merchants Group Limited (BBEBEBEAEGR AT, (ii) a chief
executive officer of China Merchants Capital Investment Co., Ltd.
(FREREAREBRELAR), (i) a director of China Merchants
Port Holdings Company Limited (BEBEOERERAQA)
(formerly known as China Merchants Holdings (International)
Company Limited (BEBBEKREABR L E]) (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 144)), (iv) a director of China
Merchants Bank Co., Ltd. (HBERITIRHBMR A7) (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 3968) and the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 600036)), and (v) a director of China
Merchants China Direct Investments Limited (BT EEESS
fR27]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
133)) from March 2000 to December 2017. Concurrently, Mr. LI
also served as directors of a number of other listed companies,
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including an independent non-executive director of Sound Group
Inc. (a company listed on NASDAQ (ticker: SOGP) (formerly known
as Lizhi Inc.) from January 2020 to June 2021, an independent
non-executive director of Kimou Environmental Holding Limited
(BRRRRIZB/AER AR (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 6805)) from June 2019 to December 2022,
and an independent non-executive director of China AgriProducts
Exchange Limited (FRIEERRX HBRAF) (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 149)) from April 2024 to August
2024. Mr. LI has currently served as directors of a number of
listed companies, including: (i) an independent non-executive
director of Genertec Universal Medical Group Company Limited
(BARKEEEEABR AT (formerly known as Universal Medical
Financial and Technical Advisory Services Company Limited (B3REK
EREeRERMNZARE AR AR (a company listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 2666)) since June 2015, (ii) an independent
non-executive director of Million Cities Holdings Limited (%
IR BRAF]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2892)) since June 2018, (iii) an independent non-executive
director of Hong Kong Shanghai Alliance Holdings Limited (J& /&
AR AR AR (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1001)) since July 2018, (iv) an independent non-executive
director of China Everbright Bank Company Limited (4B KiR
1T BRR AR (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 6818) and the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code:
601818)) since June 2020, and (v) an independent non-executive
director of Mainland Headwear Holdings Limited (FRiZENE %L
BBRAT]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
1100)) since September 2023.

Throughout the significant years of directorship in certain Hong
Kong listed companies, Mr. LI has gained relevant experience
in, including but not limited to, (i) the review and preparation of
comparable and/or audited financial statements of Hong Kong
listed companies; (ii) the review of internal control systems; and
(iii) the analysis of financial statements and information of Hong
Kong listed companies. Moreover, Mr. LI has also obtained vast
experience in collaborating and dealing with internal and external
auditors regarding the supervision of internal financial controls
and the auditing of financial statements.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Mr. LI holds a master’s degree in economics from Research
Institute of Finance of the People’s Bank of China (FFEI A RIR
TTEBAFEET) in the PRC and a master’'s degree in banking and
finance for development from Finafrica Institute in Italy. Mr. LI
was qualified as a senior economist of the PRC.

Dr. YAO Yang, aged 60, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director in October 2024.

Dr. YAO currently serves as a Boya Distinguished Professor
of Peking University, a professor of economics and doctoral
supervisor of the National School of Development of Peking
University JQt R AR REEHFEFT), the director of China Center
for Economic Research (R BIAERFFTAH 1), the executive director
of Institute of South-South Cooperation and Development (FAE &
{EERZE R EF%), the editor in chief of China Economic Quarterly £
EE(ZT))), the president of China Annual Economic Meetings
(PR EEE D), and the president of the National Economics
Foundation (EREBEZEEE).

Dr. YAO has served as deputy dean of the National School of
Development of Peking University since October 2008, and the
dean of the National School of Development of Peking University
from November 2012 to January 2024. He has served as the
director of China Center for Economic Research of Peking
University (bR H B T 00) since 2010.

Dr. YAO is a member of the Chinese Economists 50 Forum ([
47 50 A®18) and has been awarded the 2008 and 2014 Sun
Yefang Award in Economic Sciences (#8748 BRI E£48), the First
Pushan Award (% —EHILBIBAESEEE) in 2008, the Second
Pushan Award (5 — &8 1L BIFR & B &2 4%) in 2010, and the Second
Zhang Peigang Development Economics Award (5 = @R 5 I 5%
BASHEERSE) in 2008. His current major research areas include
new political economy and China’s economic growth under open
conditions.
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Dr. YAO holds a master’s degree in economics of Peking University
and a doctoral degree in development economics of University of
Wisconsin-Madison in the United States.

Ms. CHENG Po Chuen, aged 53, was appointed as our
independent non-executive Director in October 2024.

Ms. CHENG served as a consultant in the business consulting
division of Arthur Andersen & Co (REEE:TEIEBAT from
September 1994 to May 1997. She worked in the investment
banking arms of DBS Asia Capital Limited (ERIMBEBR D
Al), The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited
(BB LBELRITAMRAR) and Macquarie Group (ZEIEIEEE)
from May 1997 to August 2010, with her last position as a division
director in Macquarie Capital Securities Limited (Zi&IEE ARFE
FABMRAE]). Ms. CHENG joined the global wealth management
division of UBS AG (¥ 1=#R77) as head of corporate advisory group
in Hong Kong in September 2010, and subsequently had served
there until January 2020 with her last position as a managing
director. Ms. CHENG served as the chief financial officer since
January 2020 and an executive director since April 2020 in Crazy
Sports Group Limited (R B SEBRAF]) (formerly known as
V1 Group Limited (2 —RIBELBEBRAF])) (a company listed on
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 82)) until November 2023. Ms.
CHENG has served as the director of development of The Hong
Kong Philharmonic Society Limited (B8E % e ER A7) since
August 2024. Ms. CHENG has served as an independent non-
executive director of Zhongsheng Group Holdings Limited (FF+5
EEAR B R A A]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange, stock
code: 881) since April 8, 2025.

Ms. CHENG is a member of American Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. She holds a bachelor degree in business
administration from The University of Hong Kong (B X&) in
Hong Kong.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

For the biographical details of Mr. ZHANG Weitong, Mr. LI
Shuging and Ms. WU Xia, please refer to “Executive Directors” in
this section. Biographical details of other members of the senior
management are as follows:

Mr. ZHOU Jianbo, aged 51, has served as the Vice President of
the Company since November 2024.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. ZHOU served as deputy director
of the Discipline Inspection and Supervision Department of
CR Holdings and deputy general manager of China Resources
Vanguard Company Limited from August 2015 to January
2018; senior deputy director of the Discipline Inspection and
Supervision Department of CR Holdings and senior deputy general
manager of China Resources Vanguard Company Limited from
January 2018 to October 2018; and senior vice president of China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 0836)) from October 2018 to
November 2024.

Mr. ZHOU holds a bachelor’s degree in laws from Jiangnan
University in China.

Mr. YANG Nan, aged 54, has been the Vice President since June
2017.

Mr. YANG joined the Group in November 2014 as the supply
chain director. Mr. YANG has over 30 years of experience in the
fast-moving consumer goods industry. Prior to joining our Group,
Mr. YANG worked in China National Cereals, Oils and Foodstuffs
Corporation (FIE5EE AR A R]) and its subsidiaries for over 20
years, and held various management positions including the
vice general manager of COFCO COCA-COLA Beverages (Beijing)
Limited (FHERTAATEESEI L R)BR AR, the group financial
controller of COFCO COCA-COLA Beverages (China) Investment
Ltd. (FRER] O ZESKRE(FE)IREBRAF), a secretary in the
secretary bureau of the board of directors and a vice general
manager of the wine department of COFCO Corporation (/F
REBAERAR]), and the vice general manager of the supply
chain department of China Foods Limited (FERRRAER AR (a
company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 506)).
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Mr. YANG holds a master’s degree majoring in international
accounting from University of New South Wales in Australia, is
qualified as senior economist of the PRC.

Mr. FAN Yufeng, aged 43, has joined the Group and served as a
Vice President of the Group since December 2019.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. FAN successively served in the
power generation department of Jiangsu Nanre Power Generation
Co., Ltd. (I#MAZEEFMREML A F]), the business planning
department and power generation department of Nanjing China
Resources Thermal Power Co., Ltd. (RZEBEAELRAF]), the
human resources department of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 0836)) from August 2004 to February 2013. He served as a
professional director of the human resource department of CR
Holdings and other positions from February 2013 to December
2019.

Mr. FAN holds a bachelor’s degree in thermal energy and power
engineering from China University of Mining and Technology (F
EERE).

Mr. OU Jinhao, aged 46, has joined the Group since December
2024 and serves as a senior management member at the vice
president level of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. OU worked in the National Audit
Office for many years. He joined CR Group in October 2017 and
served as the professional director of the audit department
of CR Holdings; and he served as the director of the discipline
inspection office of China Resources Healthcare Group Limited
(FEBRESEB AR AT) from October 2023 to December 2024.

Mr. OU holds a master’s degree in accounting from Hunan
University in the PRC and he is qualified as a senior auditor of the
PRC.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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SEEREE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to submit the Corporate Governance Report
of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2024.

CORPORATE CULTURE

Based on the “14th Five-Year Plan” corporate culture philosophy
of China Resources, the Group closely adheres to its business
objectives to drive its stable advancement. The Group insists
on leading industry development and providing the quality
products to consumers with “healthy, safe and professionalism”
as the brand image, and continuously explores market growth
potential, striving to offer consumers more diversified choices
and higher quality products. With the corporate values of
“integrity, performance-orientation, people-oriented, and win-
win cooperation”, the Group fosters an organizational atmosphere
of sincerity, solidarity, open-mindedness and proactivity, and
integrates corporate culture into its daily operations to make it an
intrinsic motivation that guides employees’ behaviors.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is well aware of the importance of incorporating
excellent corporate governance elements into the Group’s
management structure and internal control process to achieve
effective accountability.

The Company has applied the principles outlined in the Corporate
Governance Code and adopted the code provisions described
therein. The Company firmly believes that the composition of
executive Directors and independent non-executive Directors
of the Board should be balanced to ensure the Board maintains
strong independence and can effectively make independent
judgments.

The Company has complied with all applicable code provisions
set forth in the Corporate Governance Code from the Listing Date
until December 31, 2024.
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The Company has adopted the Model Code as set forth in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules as its code for securities
transactions to regulate all securities transactions by the
Directors and other matters covered by the Model Code.

ARAFEMEREEENETER  KER
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The Company has made specific inquiries to all of its Directors,
and they have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code from the Listing Date until December 31, 2024.

Exg
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THE BOARD

From the Listing Date until the date of this annual report, the
Board consists of three executive Directors, five non-executive
Directors and four independent non-executive Directors.

BEgMARNT The composition of the Board is as follows:
BITES Executive Directors

SREBEE (FE) Mr. ZHANG Weitong (Chairman)
TRNBHE Mr. LI Shuging

RELL Ms. WU Xia

FHITES Non-executive Directors

e Mr. LIN Guolong

Hoksg ek Mr. SUN Yonggiang

HERE Mr. XIAO Ning

Bzt Ms. CAO Yue

HHEE LT Dr. ZHAO Dian

BAFEHITES Independent Non-executive Directors
ER N Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony
FE|REE Mr. LI Yinquan

wEE L Dr. YAO Yang

BE)|&Z+ Ms. CHENG Po Chuen

EBER (ZR) ARLF
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The biographies of the Directors are set forth in the section
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual
report. There are no relationships between the Chairman and the
President or the members of the Board and senior management,
including financial, business, family or other significant/relevant
relationships.

Each of our Directors confirms that he or she (i) has obtained the
legal advice referred to under Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules in
April or June 2024, and (ii) understands his or her obligations as a
director of a listed issuer on the Stock Exchange under the Listing
Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

According to code provision C.5.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code, the Board should hold a meeting at least four times a year,
approximately once every quarter, and a majority of the Directors
should actively participate either in person or via electronic
communication.

2024, the Board held four
meetings. From January 1, 2025, the Company will hold at least

For the year ended December 31,

four regular Board meetings each financial year, approximately
once each quarter, in accordance with code provision C.5.1 set
forth in the Corporate Governance Code.

“ECMEER
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

43



44

ERERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

EENEFgEZNLRELEMEHIM
™

The records of attendance by the Directors at the Board meetings
are summarized as follows:

B ZE20245F
12A318LFE
HESBXRE BTN
SERY

Number of meetings
attended/held for
the year ended

EENSR Name of directors December 31, 2024

HITES Executive Directors

RERLA (Z/E) Mr. ZHANG Weitong (Chairman) A

FE R ED Mr. LI Shuging @ 1/1

REZL® Ms. WU Xia @ 1/1

FHITES Non-executive Directors

MEIFESE @ Mr. LIN Guolong @ 1/1

FRKERFEHED Mr. SUN Yonggiang © 1/1

HESEED Mr. XIAO Ning @ 1/1

i e Ms. CAQ Yue 4L/4

FHEE Dr. ZHAOQ Dian 4/4

BIYFHITES Independent non-executive Directors

EsKfEE L Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony @ 1/1

FE|RELE® Mr. LI Yinguan @ 1/1

HoFEL® Dr. YAO Yang @ 1/1

BE)||Z+0 Ms. CHENG Po Chuen @ 1/1

BEE - Notes:

1. FRBREN2024F8A7THEZRITAES - B 1. Mr. LI Shuging was appointed as a Director on August 7, 2024. From the
WEZEHERREZT2024%F 128318 - 81771 date of his appointment until December 31, 2024, 1 Board meeting was
REESEH - held.

2. RELT  MEELE  FAXREERBERE 2. Ms. WU Xia, Mr. LIN Guolong, Mr. SUN Yonggiang and Mr. XIAO Ning
M2024F4A22BREERES - BREEZ were appointed as Directors on April 22, 2024. From the date of their
FHRNEZE2024%12831H  8|TT1XESE appointment until December 31, 2024, 1 Board meeting was held.

e -
3. BXxEEL - T REE - hFBTREBE 3. Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony, Mr. LI Yinquan, Dr. YAO Yang and Ms. CHENG

Z+ 2024 F 10 ASHELZTABIIENITE
F - AHERETREEZR 2024128318 -
BITTIREEGEE ©

HZE2024F12A31HILFE - KXARIHE
BITRRRAFRE -
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Po Chuen were appointed as independent non-executive Directors on
October 8, 2024. From the date of their appointment until December 31,
2024, 1 Board meeting was held.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the Company did not need
to hold an annual general meeting.
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE
DIRECTORS

From the Listing Date until December 31, 2024, the Board has
complied with Rules 3.10(1), 3.10(2), and 3.10(A) of the Listing
Rules regarding the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors, of which at least one must possess
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise. Moreover, the number of
independent non-executive directors must constitute at least
one-third of the Board members. The Board has also received
annual confirmation letters issued by each independent
non-executive Director regarding their independent status in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and believes that
they are all independent.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date until the day on which the next general meeting of the
Shareholders for re-election of Directors is held.

All Directors shall retire and be re-elected by rotation at the
annual general meeting of the Company. Pursuant to the Articles
of Association, one-third of the Directors for the time being (or,
if the number of the Directors is not three or a multiple of three,
the number shall be the nearest to but not less than one-third)
shall retire at each annual general meeting of the Company by
rotation and shall be eligible for re-election, provided that each
Director shall retire by rotation at least once every three years. In
addition, the term of any new Director appointed by the Board to
fill a casual vacancy or to take up an additional directorship shall
expire at the next general meeting of the Company and may then
be re-elected at the meeting.
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DUTIES, ACCOUNTABILITY AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF
THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

The Board is the main decision-making body of the Company,
responsible for overseeing the Group’s business, strategic
decisions and performance, and collectively accountable for
facilitating the Company’s success through guidance and
supervision of its affairs. The Board makes objective decisions to
safeguard the interests of the Company and its Shareholders. The
Board grants the senior management of the Group the authority
and duties related to the daily management and operations of the
Group.

All the Directors (including independent non-executive Directors)
shall provide the Board with valuable business experience,
knowledge and expertise in various fields, enabling it to operate
efficiently and effectively.

DIVISION OF DUTIES BETWEEN THE CHAIRMAN AND
THE PRESIDENT

According to code provision C.2.1 of the Corporate Governance
Code and the relevant provisions of the Authorization and
Management System of the Board of the Company, the roles of
Chairman and President of the Group are separate, with a clear
division of responsibilities. The Chairman, Mr. ZHANG Weitong,
is responsible for the overall management of the Company,
leading the Board and working with the Board to formulate the
Company’s business strategies and long-term goals, and playing
the role of “determining strategies, making decisions, and
preventing risks”. The President, Mr. LI Shuqing, is responsible
for the implementation of the decisions of the Board and the
daily operation and management of the Company, and playing
the role of “operation planning, implementation monitoring and
management strengthening” together with the management.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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THE BOARD COMMITTEES

Pursuant to the requirements of the corporate governance
provisions as stipulated in the relevant PRC laws, regulations,
Articles of Association and the Listing Rules, the following
committees under the Board have been established: audit
committee, nomination committee, remuneration and appraisal
committee, and strategy and investment committee. These
committees operate in accordance with terms of reference
established by our Board.

Audit Committee

The Company has established an audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance with
Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance
Code as set forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee consists of two non-executive Directors, being Mr. LIN
Guolong and Ms. CAO Yue, and four independent non-executive
Directors, being Dr. YAO Yang, Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony, Mr.
LI Yinquan and Ms. CHENG Po Chuen. The chairman of the Audit
Committee is Dr. YAO Yang. Mr. LI Yinquan holds the appropriate
accounting or related financial management expertise as required
under Rules 3.10(2) and 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The primary
duties of the Audit Committee are to review and supervise the
financial reporting process, risk management and internal
control systems of the Company, and to nominate and monitor
external auditors and other duties required under the Corporate
Governance Code.

During the Reporting Period, the Audit Committee discussed
and studied (i) the remuneration of the independent auditor for
2024 and (ii) the adjustment of the audit project plan for 2024 by
circulation of a written resolution, and made recommendations to
the Board.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established a nomination committee (the
“Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference in
compliance with Rule 3.27A of the Listing Rules and the Corporate
Governance Code as set forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee consists of one executive Director,
being Mr. ZHANG Weitong, one non-executive Director, being
Dr. ZHAO Dian, and three independent non-executive Directors,
being Mr. LI Yinquan, Dr. YAO Yang and Ms. CHENG Po Chuen. The
chairman of the Nomination Committee is Mr. ZHANG Weitong.
The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the appointment and removal
of Directors of the Company and other duties required under
Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee did not hold any meeting during the
Reporting Period.

Remuneration and Appraisal Committee

The Company has established a remuneration and appraisal
committee (the “Remuneration and Appraisal Committee”)
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.25
of the Listing Rules and the Corporate Governance Code as set
forth in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee consists of two non-executive
Directors, being Mr. SUN Yonggiang and Ms. CAO Yue, and three
independent non-executive Directors, being Mr. LI Yinquan, Dr.
CHOW Wing Kin Anthony and Ms. CHENG Po Chuen. The chairman
of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee is Mr. LI Yinquan.
The primary duties of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee
are to evaluate the performance and make recommendations on
the remuneration package of Directors and senior management,
and evaluate and make recommendations on employee benefit
arrangements and other duties required under Appendix C1 to the
Listing Rules.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee held two meetings, during which the following matters
were reviewed and discussed: (i) review of the 2024 operating
performance contract for the Company’s management team
members; (ii) review of the Company’s 2023 final accounts and
2024 budget plan for labor costs; and (iii) the results of the
2021-20283 term performance contract assessment and the
issuance of 2023 floating remuneration. The attendances at these
meetings are as follows:

HEBITHEBERE

B Director Meetings Attended/Held

TP REE(EE)? Mr. LI Yinquan (Chairman)®? 1/1

FRoKERFHED Mr. SUN Yonggiang® 1/1

e Ms. CAO Yue 2/2

JE K fEE @ Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony®@ 11

BT )| 22 +@ Ms. CHENG Po Chuen® 1/1

BisE Notes:

1. KR ER2024F4 A2 BRZTARES - 1. Mr. SUN Yonggiang was appointed as a Director on April 22, 2024. From
BREREEEREZ2024F12A318 - 877 the date of his appointment until December 31, 2024, 1 Remuneration and
1TREEEZEZEESEE - Appraisal Committee meeting was held.

2. FE|REE - FKBIETRBE)I 22024 2. Mr. LI Yinquan, Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony and Ms. CHENG Po Chuen

FI0ASAEZTABUINTES - BHFE
EERREE2024F12A318 - BT T1RF
ERERZE S -

were appointed as independent non-executive Directors on October 8,
2024. From the date of their appointments until December 31, 2024, 1
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee meeting was held.
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Strategy and Investment Committee

The Company has established a strategy and investment
committee (the “Strategy and Investment Committee”) with
written terms of reference in compliance with the requirements
under the Listing Rules. The Strategy and Investment Committee
consists of two executive Directors, being Mr. LI Shuging and Ms.
WU Xia, three non-executive Directors, being Ms. CAO Yue, Mr.
XIAO Ning and Dr. ZHAO Dian, and one independent non-executive
Director, being Dr. YAO Yang. The chairwoman of the Strategy
and Investment Committee is Ms. CAO Yue. The primary duties
of the Strategy and Investment Committee are (i) to conduct
research and make recommendations for the long-term strategic
development plans of our Company; (ii) to conduct research and
make recommendations for annual investment plans which are
subject to the approval of our Board; (iii) to conduct research and
make recommendations for other major investment programmes
which are subject to the approval of our Board (excluding those
included in the annual investment plans); (iv) to conduct research
and make recommendations for the annual post-investment
evaluation report; and (v) to conduct research, revise and
review the policies of the Company’s strategic management and
investment management, and make recommendations to the
Board.

During the Reporting Period, the Strategy and Investment
Committee held one meeting, during which the adjustment plan
for the 2024 capital expenditure plan (annual investment plan)
was reviewed and discussed. The attendance at the meeting is as

follows:

HEBITHNEBERE
= Director Meetings Attended/Held
Bzt (£E) Ms. CAO Yue (Chairwoman) 1/1
$ﬁ1§$i Mr. LI Shuging 1/1
RE Ms. WU Xia 1/1
HESE Mr. XIAO Ning 1/1
iHsE+ Dr. ZHAO Dian 1/1
L Dr. YAO Yang 1/1

EBER (ZR) ARLF
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NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Group has adopted the Director Nomination Policy. Pursuant
to the Director Nomination Policy, Directors are appointed
through formal, considered and transparent procedures. The
Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend
candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due
consideration to criteria including but not limited to: (a)
diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge, length of service and the then attainment
of gender diversity of the Board; (b) qualifications, including
accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries
the Company’s business is involved in and other professional
qualifications; (c) effective fulfillment of commitment for
responsibilities of the Board in respect of available time to ensure
sufficient time may be devoted to accordingly; (d) reputation for
character and integrity; (e) contribution that the candidate(s) can
potentially bring to the Board; (f) whether the appointment of
the candidate(s) can avoid a potential conflict of interest; and (g)
plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend
retiring Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving
due consideration to the criteria including but not limited to: (a)
the overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance of
the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and general
meetings where applicable, in addition to the level of participation
and performance on the Board and/or its committees; and (b)
whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the criteria.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Our Company is a holding company registered by way of
continuation under the laws of the Cayman Islands. As a result,
the payment and amount of any future dividend will depend
on the availability of dividends received from our Group’s
subsidiaries. Our Group’s dividend distribution record in the past
may not be used as a reference or basis to determine the level
of dividends that may be declared or paid by our Group in the
future. Our Group currently does not have a dividend policy or a
pre-determined dividend payout ratio. Distribution of dividends
shall be decided by our Board at their discretion in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations. A decision to declare
or to pay any dividends and the amount thereof depends on
various factors, including but not limited to our Group’s results
of operations, cash flows and financial position, operating and
capital expenditure requirements, distributable profits of our
Group’s subsidiaries and dividends they pay to the Company,
future plans and business prospects, market conditions, the
Articles of Association, regulatory restrictions and the Group’s
contractual obligations. No dividend will be declared or payable
except out of our Group’s profits and reserves lawfully available
for distribution. There can be no assurance that dividends of any
amount will be declared or distributed in any year.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Group has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out the
approach to achieve and maintain diversity in its Board. Pursuant
to the Company’s board diversity policy, selection of Board
candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives,
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, industry experience, technical capabilities,
professional qualifications and skills, knowledge, length of
service and other related factors. The Group will also consider its
own business model and special needs. The ultimate selection of
Director candidates will be based on merits of the candidates and
contribution that the candidates will bring to the Board.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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The Board currently consists of three female Directors and nine
male Directors with a balanced mix of gender, knowledge and
skills, including but not limited to knowledge and experience
in the food and beverage industry, commercial operation and
corporate management, business development, legal matters,
auditing, human resources and finance. Taking into consideration
the Group’s existing business model and specific needs as well
as the different backgrounds of the Directors, the Company will
strive to keep gender balance of the Board through measures
implemented by the Nomination Committee in accordance with
the board diversity policy. In particular, the Company will keep
identifying and selecting female individuals with a diverse range
of skills, experience and knowledge in different fields who are
suitably qualified to become its Board members and maintain at
least one female Director and at least 10% female representation
in its Board. During the Reporting Period, the composition of the
Board has met the requirements of the Listing Rules and the
above objectives.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the implementation
of the board diversity policy. The Nomination Committee will
review the board diversity policy from time to time to ensure
its continued effectiveness and the Company will disclose the
implementation of the board diversity policy in its corporate
governance report on an annual basis.
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EMPLOYEE DIVERSITY

The Group adheres to the “people-oriented” development
strategy, emphasizing the personal development and welfare
of its employees, promoting diversity and equal opportunities,
and ensuring that its hiring decisions are not influenced by
employees’ ethnicity, gender, age, background, religious beliefs
and other personal differences. The Group attaches great
importance to the health and legal rights of female employees
and provides a comfortable working environment and fair
development opportunities. For example, the Group has clarified
the legal rights and interests of female employees regarding rest
and vacation in its internal policies. At the same time, the Group
insists on the protection of equal employment opportunities
for migrant workers and people with disabilities, promoting the
inclusion of retired servicemen in employment, and supporting
all employees to achieve personal career development. Due
to the business nature of the industry, most of the Company’s
employees are male. In this case, setting quantifiable gender
diversity targets for employees may be challenging. As of
December 31, 2024, the Group had a total of 11,1794 employees,
and all of them are full-time employees, representing a variety
of regions across the country and hailing from diverse industry
backgrounds. Among them, female employees account for 35%
of the total workforce of the Group, including one female senior
management staff member (i.e., Ms. WU Xia, the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company). The Company expects to maintain the
gender ratio of all employees at the current level in the medium
term in response to business development needs.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTION

The Board is responsible for fulfilling its corporate governance
duties as set out in code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate
Governance Code. The Company is committed to standardized
governance and closely monitors its operations to continuously
enhance the standardization and effectiveness of the Board’s
functions. As of December 31, 2024, the Company had reviewed
and revised seven corporate governance policy documents.
The Board will continue to review the Company’s policies
and practices regarding corporate governance, the training
and continuous professional development of Directors and
senior management, the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements and the
Company’s compliance with the Corporate Governance Code and
disclosure in its corporate governance report.

INDEPENDENT INSIGHTS AND OPINIONS

The Board currently comprises four independent non-executive
Directors who are entitled to request additional information and
documents from the Company’s senior management regarding
matters to be discussed at Board meetings. By establishing
various channels, the Company encourages independent
non-executive Directors to share their perspectives and
communicate in a confidential way when necessary. They may
also seek assistance from the company secretary of the Company.
In any instance where they or any of their close associates have a
material interest in a contract or arrangement, the independent
non-executive Directors are prohibited from voting on the
Board resolution related to that contract or arrangement and
will not be counted towards the quorum for that meeting. This
mechanism aims to ensure that the Board maintains a strong
level of independence and can secure independent opinions
2024, all
independent non-executive Directors attended all relevant Board

and insights. During the year ended December 31,

committee and Board meetings, actively engaged in the Board’s
decision-making process and provided valuable independent
opinions and insights in the performance of duties by the Board.
Based on the above, the Board, upon a thorough review, is
satisfied that its mechanisms for obtaining independent opinions
and insights are fully implemented and remain effective. These
mechanisms serve as essential safeguards for the quality of
decision-making and the standards of corporate governance
within the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
December 31, 2024.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF
DIRECTORS

Directors shall keep abreast of the responsibilities as a Director
of the Company and of the operating mode, business activities
and development of the Company.

The Company acknowledges the importance of Directors
participating in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and learn new knowledge and skills to ensure that
their contribution to the Board remains informed. Relevant
internally facilitated briefings for the Directors have been
arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
issued to the Directors where appropriate.

For the year ended December 31, 2024 and prior to the Listing,
all of the Directors, participated in a training course organized
by the Company’s legal adviser on Hong Kong law in relation to
the functions, duties and responsibilities of Directors under the
Listing Rules and the SFO.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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The Company will arrange regular seminars to provide Directors
with updates on the latest developments and changes in
the Listing Rules and other relevant legal and regulatory
requirements from time to time. The Directors are also provided
with regular updates on the Company’'s performance, position
and prospects to enable the Board as a whole and each Director
to discharge their duties.

PRI E

Number of training

BE Directors sessions attended/held
HITES Executive Directors

REBECE (FF) Mr. ZHANG Weitong (Chairman) 2/2
FRNESLE Mr. LI Shuging 2/2
RELL Ms. WU Xia 2/2
FHTES Non-executive Directors

BB Mr. LIN Guolong 1/1
TRoKER ST Mr. SUN Yonggiang 1/1
HESE Mr. XIAO Ning 1/1
it Ms. CAO Yue 1/1
fi=Lii Dr. ZHAO Dian 1/1
BAKHTES Independent non-executive Directors

JElK RS+ Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony 1/1
B REE Mr. LI Yinquan 1/1
PoFE L Dr. YAO Yang 1/1
B )| &+ Ms. CHENG Po Chuen 1/1
B B B8 B I i AUDITOR’S DUTIES AND REMUNERATION

ARRAREEMARAN S BB ZBENEE.
BERG5HENTT ([B8]) EEEE2024
F12A31 B ILFE@SMNEPZEED - REIFAR
MHEBREROBERE TR LOZRAINAF R
BB ES | &

The Company appointed Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”),
the registered PIE auditor, as the external auditor for the year
ended December 31, 2024. Deloitte’s statement regarding its
responsibilities in relation to the financial statements is included
in the section titled “Independent Auditor’s Report” of this annual
report.
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The table below provides the details of the fees paid/payable in

HIRPEHERNIFEZRECH ENME  respect of the audit and non-audit services provided by Deloitte
EEI for the year ended December 31, 2024:
A
(ARBEHER)
Expenses
Frig i BR 3% Services provided (RMB in millions)
BBk Audit services:
FEHEZ Annual audit 3.6
EHEZ IPO audit 5.5
FEFZIRAS ¢ Non-audit services:
ETREE AR IPO internal control advisory service 0.1
R b B T I A BB B RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

1.

Procedures for identifying, assessing and managing
significant risks

The Group conducts major risk assessments annually
through a “bottom-up and vertical integration” method,
and promotes all business units and functional
departments through risk management functions,
taking into account changes in the internal and external
environment and industry characteristics, focusing
on development strategies and business objectives,
identifying and assessing key risks in each link of the value
chain, comprehensively identifying and predicting the
major risks that may be faced, and carrying out dynamic
prevention and control by clarifying risk prevention and
control objectives and responsible entities, strengthening
risk trend research and judgment, dynamically monitoring
risk changes, and improving internal control management.
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Risk identification. The risk management functional
department of the Group sorts out the value chain
in combination with business characteristics, and
updates the Group’s risk classification list on an
annual basis. Each business unit and functional
department identifies risks on the basis of risk
distribution and responsibility distinction, analyzes
the occurring modality, causes and possible effects
of such risk, and generates the Group’s annual
major risk assessment list.

Risk assessment. Upon the completion of risk
identification, each business unit, functional
department and the Company’s management team
gives a score to the annual major risk assessment
list from two dimensions, namely possibility and
impact of risk. According to the score of each
risk and management focus, the order of annual
significant risks is determined.

Risk response and procedure monitoring.
Upon the completion of risk identification and
assessment, the Group’s risk management
functional department takes the lead in organizing
management entities with distributed risk to
determine the objective of risk prevention and
control, formulates specific and practicable risk
prevention and control measures, regularly monitor
various risk information, closely follow up material
risk changes, analyzes, studies and judges change
of risk trend, so as to discover potential risks
and adjust risk prevention and control measures
dynamically.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

Major risks

In the market environment with intense competition,
major risks of the Group in 2024 are located in the aspects
of market and operation. We had formulated feasible
measures in accordance with the Group’s actual situation,
so as to conduct effective management on such risks.
Market risks mainly include risks in macro-economy,
market competition, public sentiment and reputation.
The Group performs in-time identification and effective
management measures on market risks through regularly
analyzing industry trend, forming feasible sales and
production emergency plans, constantly upgrading
public sentiment monitoring system and other measures.
Operation risks mainly include risks on supply chain and
production management, and the Group performs risk
management and prevention through key measures, such
as improving supply chain layout, normally following up
fluctuation on the supply and demand of upstream raw
materials, and establishing a dynamic coordination system
for sales and production.

Major Characteristics of Risk Management and Internal
Monitoring System

The Group’s structure of risks governance and internal
monitoring is based on the model of “three lines of
defense”, which specifies risk management division and
management responsibility. The first line of defense
is constituted with business units at all levels, in the
front end of business process and associated risks, and
places emphasis on the direct, prior — and during-event
prevention and control over risks related to each business.
The second line of defense is jointly constituted by the
risk management, finance, legal and other functional
departments, generates risk-related ideas, systems
and methods, and conducts reasonable monitoring and
guiding in respect of the function of the “first line of
defense”, thus ensuring maximum management results
of the “first line of defense” The third line of defense is
constituted with the Audit Committee under the Board and
the internal audit functional departments of the Group,
performs post-event inspection and assessment to the
operation of the first two lines, defines and organizes
rectification for existing problems, so as to guarantee the
implementation and continuous optimization of various
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policies and responsibilities of risk management. Through
the multi-level and comprehensive risk management and
internal monitoring system, the Group is able to more
effectively identify, evaluate, monitor and respond to all
risks, safeguarding long-term and stable development.

The Board’s Confirmation on the Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Monitoring System

The Board has established a risk management and
internal monitoring system according to the requirements
of paragraph D.2 in Part 2 of the Corporate Governance
Code. The Board and the Audit Committee are responsible
for reviewing and confirming the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal monitoring
system, and shall examine the operational effectiveness
at least once a year. The risk management and internal
monitoring system aim to identify material risks that
impeding object achievement and keep them in an
acceptable level, thus safeguarding the achievement
of operation objective and improvement of operating
efficiency. The risk management and internal monitoring
system aims to manage, instead of eliminate risk of failure
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide
reasonable but not absolute assurance against material
misstatement or loss.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

In 2024, the Board reviewed the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal monitoring system (including
financial, operational and compliance control) and internal
audit activities through the Audit Committee and deemed
the risk management and internal audit system effective
and sufficient for the year.

Procedures for Reviewing Effectiveness of the Risk
Management and Internal Monitoring System, and for
Solving Significant Internal Monitoring Deficiency

The Group evaluates and reviews the effectiveness of the
Group’s risk management and internal monitoring system
through management, business units and functional
departments in the risk management system, internal
audit function, external auditors and other channels, and
continuously improves risk management policies and
procedures. Meanwhile, in order to ensure the effective
operation of the risk management system, the Audit
Committee reviews and supervises risk management work.

The Company’s Audit Department conducts audits of the
Company’s significant risks and the internal controls of
key units according to the established audit project plan
in order to promptly identify any deficiencies in internal
controls. The Audit Department supervises and urges the
audited units improving and rectifying any identified issues
in a timely manner.

The Group has formulated a financial risk management
and control system, established a financial risk
management organization and an effective financial
supervision mechanism, and implemented effective and
sufficient risk management measures and internal control
systems to control financial risks.
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5 Internal Review Functions

The Company has established an independent Audit
Department that reports directly to the management, the
Audit Committee and the Board of the Company. As part of
the third line of defense, the Audit Department monitors
the Company’s significant risks and the internal controls of
key units.

In 2024, the Audit Department completed all audit
project plans for the year in accordance with the Board’s
requirements. It also urged the relevant units to finalize
the audit remediation efforts for the year and provided
timely reports on internal audit activities to the Audit
Committee and the Board.

DISCLOSURE OF INSIDE INFORMATION

The Group attaches great importance to the appropriate handling
and circulation of inside information. The Group has set up a
management framework for the disclosure of inside information
by reference to the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information
issued by the Securities and Futures Commission. Under this
management framework, the Group has established a reasonable
management system that addresses the confidentiality and
archiving of inside information, including procedures for
the reasonable and timely handling and disclosure of inside
information. For instance, the steps involved are as follows: the
management system reasonably defines the circumstances under
which inside information arises and the scope of individuals
who have access to inside information; insiders are required
to maintain confidentiality during the planning, research and
decision-making processes concerning significant matters
related to inside information; when seeking professional advice
or consultation, it is mandatory for professional institutions
to adhere to confidentiality obligations; efforts are made to
enhance the registration and management system for files of
individuals who have access to inside information; prior to the
comprehensive public disclosure of any information, insiders
are prohibited from trading the Company’s securities; any inside
information will be publicly disclosed in accordance with the
Listing Rules after the necessary internal approval processes are

completed.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company’s company secretary (the “Company Secretary”),
Mr. CHUNG Ming Fai, is a senior vice president at the corporate
secretarial department of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited (supplier of corporate secretarial services).
Although the Company Secretary is not a full-time employee
of the Company, he reports to the Board and in his capacity as
Company Secretary advises the Board on governance matters.
The primary contact person of the Company with the Company
Secretary is the President of the Company, Mr. LI Shuqging. The
Company Secretary has confirmed that he received no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training in 2024.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”) and putting
forward proposals at general meetings

In accordance with Article 9.3 of the Articles of Association, the
Board may convene an EGM at any time it deems appropriate.
One or more Shareholders who collectively hold not less than
one-tenth of the voting rights in the share capital of the Company
(on a one vote per Share basis) as of the date of submitting the
requisition may also demand the convening of an EGM and/or
propose the addition of resolutions to the agenda of a general
meeting. Such a requisition must be submitted in writing to the
Board or the Secretary, demanding the Board to convene an EGM
to address any matters specified in the requisition. The meeting
must be held within two months following the submission of the
requisition. If the Board fails to convene the meeting within 21
days after the submission, the requisitionists may convene the
meeting in the same manner, and the Company shall reimburse
the requisitionists for all reasonable expenses incurred as a
result of the Board’s failure to convene the meeting.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Procedure for shareholders to nominate director candidates

Article 15.6 of the Articles of Association stipulates that, unless
recommended by the Board for election, no person other than a
retiring Director shall be eligible for election as a Director at any
general meeting unless, during the specified period (i.e., at least
seven (7) days, commencing no earlier than the date of dispatch
of the notice convening the meeting for such election and ending
no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of the meeting),
the Company has received a written notice from a Shareholder
(who is not the proposed nominee) entitled to attend and vote
at the meeting for which the notice was issued, indicating his/
her intention to propose such person for election, as well as a
written notice signed by the proposed nominee expressing his/her
willingness to be elected.

Therefore, if a Shareholder intends to nominate an individual for
election as a director of the Company at a general meeting, the
following documents must be validly delivered to the Company’s
registered office: (1) a notice of his/her intention to propose
a resolution at the general meeting; (2) a notice signed by the
proposed candidate indicating his/her willingness to stand for
election; (3) information about the proposed candidate required
to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4)
a written consent from the proposed candidate authorizing the
publication of his/her personal information.

The above procedure has been uploaded to the Company’s
website for reference.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
Shareholder communication policy

The Company promulgated and implemented the Shareholder
Communication Policy on October 8, 2024 to maintain
communication with Shareholders and protect Shareholders’
right to know by ways of regular disclosure of financial reports
(including interim and annual reports), convening general
meetings, making information disclosure (including the website
of the Stock Exchange and the website of the Company) and
through following major channels for conveying information
to Shareholders and investors. Relevant policy document has
been uploaded to the Company’s official website to ensure
continuous and effective communication with Shareholders and
will be reviewed periodically by the Company to maintain its
effectiveness. The Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholder Communication Policy during
the Reporting Period and confirmed that the policy has been
appropriately executed and is effective.

Primary channels for conveying information to Shareholders and
investors

The Company conveys information to Shareholders and investors
through major channels including financial reports (including
interim and annual reports), the annual general meeting, other
general meetings that may be convened, all disclosure materials
published on the website of the Stock Exchange, other corporate
information posted on the Company’s official communications
website, and other corporate publications posted on the
Company’s website. The Company will always ensure effective
and timely communication of information to Shareholders and
investors. The Company will hold an annual general meeting each
year, and if Shareholders are unable to attend, they may appoint
a proxy to attend and vote on their behalf. The Company will
make appropriate arrangements for the annual general meeting
to facilitate Shareholder participation. Certain members of the
Board and external auditors, among other appropriate individuals,
will attend the annual general meeting to address Shareholders’
inquiries. The Company will organize various activities, both
online and offline, including meetings with investors or analysts,
domestic and international roadshows, media interviews, investor
promotion events, and hosting or participating in industry
forums, to enhance communication between the Company and its
Shareholders and investors.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDER INQUIRIES

Shareholders, investors, as well as existing and potential
partners and counterparties, can access corporate
governance-related information through the Company’s website
at www.crbeverage.com.

Shareholders may make inquiries or express concerns to the
Board at any time. Opinions and inquiries can be submitted to the
Company’s Investor Relations Department, with contact details
as follows:

Investor Relations Contact Email of China Resources Beverage:
yb_ir@crbeverage.com

Contact address: Shenzhen High-tech Industrial Park (North
District), 22 Langshan Road, Nanshan District, Shenzhen,
Guangdong Province, PRC

CHANGES TO CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Company adopted the Articles of Association on October
8, 2024, which took effect from the Listing Date. Except for the
aforementioned, there were no significant changes to the Articles
of Association during the Reporting Period. The latest Articles of
Association have been published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company.
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The Board is pleased to present this Report of the Directors
together with the consolidated financial statements of the Group
for the year ended December 31, 2024.

DIRECTORS

The Directors from the Listing Date until the date of this annual
report are as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Weitong (Chairman)
Mr. LI Shuqging
Ms. WU Xia

Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIN Guolong
Mr. SUN Yonggiang
Mr. XIAO Ning

Ms. CAO Yue

Dr. ZHAO Dian

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. CHOW Wing Kin Anthony
Mr. LI Yinqguan

Dr. YAO Yang

Ms. CHENG Po Chuen

Biographical details of the Company’s Directors and senior
management are set out in the section titled “Biographies of
Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited



FEEK
BRAREEHE2024F12831BIEFEF
DEBHOMERAAEREEEBHES
Mrl—%p -

£ 0]

BRAAEEHZE2024F12A31HIEFERN
ENOBEENAERIIFERE I RIEEE
FIEREE DT ] —&f o

FTERBRRTEEM

BRAASEMESNEERAREE R T EE
Ax - #RIEXERHRE - EREERA

ERESHE | 8

2ERp e

REBRRRERE

AEEBREBERRREFERENR
ERBET R (ERRELRREETERE
M) (REEMNRAIEBEERE)EANS
BARREERGE RN aAEEEEE
ZEEREBREURELLERFERGHR
BRENERERPEFEXEBRETREGE
B ZERBEREFREARER  THTE
EEMRTAEER -

EEgHRE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

An analysis of the Group’s principal business for the year ended
December 31, 2024 is included in the “Management Discussion
and Analysis” section of this annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the Group’s business for the year ended December 31,
2024 is included in the “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis” sections of this annual report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Please refer to the “Corporate Governance Report - Risk

Management and Internal Control” section for details on the
principal risk factors and uncertainties faced by the Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND PERFORMANCE

The Group has strictly adhered to national environmental
protection policies and regulations and systematically
established a series of internal environmental management
systems, including the C'estbon Ecological Protection and
Management Guides KEBBEELRREZTIEIEM)) and the
Environmental Monitoring and Measurement Management
Regulations ((FRBERAEAEEIE}HTE)). In addition, the
Group employs CR Group’s factor management system and
gquantitative indicator evaluation system to systematically
oversee professional fields such as environmental protection,
energy conservation and emissions reduction, and facilitates
implementation of relevant environmental protection measures,
thereby fostering ongoing improvements in the corporate
environmental governance framework.

BN
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

69



70

EEgHRE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

REEBFRERNER  AEBE2024FE
HIERSEIWmMO MR NKKEEEE B
BNASEEBEE IRAEEEIFIRE
HE - AFENBERRAESEE/2023
FR5.831% - AIHEERAEEEHIEME
10.22% > HZ£2024F 128310 - A&EEAH
EIMEMEN S CIRBENER2020F T
P#25.84% - AEBEREGEBKIRIRRES
BBECREKEE (FAEREBEEET
) EMEBERGL (2024F8K20234F
RBF12%) « BEEENRARBESS8E B
TR IEERIRIR o

BRAEERBBRARIRNE —PF15
BREARRBBITHENEZE2024F12A4
N BIEFEAFERRRS -

EBER (ZR) ARLF

To promote the use of clean energy, the Group has completed the
construction of a total of eight distributed photovoltaic power
generation projects across factories in 2024. In addition, the
Group encouraged its owned factories to apply for green power
from local electricity supply departments. The total volume of
renewable energy electricity consumption this year is 5.83 times
that of 2023, and the proportion of renewable energy electricity
consumption has increased to 10.22%. As of December 31,
2024, the carbon dioxide emissions per ton of product for the
Group’s owned factories decreased by 25.84% compared to 2020.
The Group actively implemented the philosophy of low carbon
and environmental protection, fulfilling full-chain low carbon
emission and environmental protection by improving packaging of
bottled water (adjusting bottle structure and label technologies),
increasing the proportion of filmed products (increasing by 12%
in 2024 as compare with 2023), implementing project of changing
from color film to white film and other measures.

For further details of the Group’s environmental policies and
performance, please refer to the Company’s Sustainability Report
for the year ended December 31, 2024, which has been published
separately.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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COMPLIANCE WITH RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

As the Board and the management are aware, the Group has
fully complied with all relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on its business and operations in all material
respects. For the year ended December 31, 2024, there were no
material violations or non-compliance with applicable laws and
regulations by the Group.

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefits
scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) for employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group, in fund under the control of trustees. The
Group contributes a certain percentage of relevant payroll costs
to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established in the
PRC are members of a state-managed retirement benefit scheme
operated by the PRC government. The subsidiaries are required to
contribute a certain percentage of payroll costs to the retirement
benefits schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make
specific contributions.

Details of the Group’s pension obligations are set out in Note 27
to the consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

NON-EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

1.

Provision of Packaged Drinking Water and Beverage
Products and Procurement of Related Promotion Service

The Company entered into a framework agreement with CR
Holdings on August 15, 2024 (the “Provision of Packaged
Drinking Water and Beverage Products and Procurement
of Related Promotion Service Framework Agreement”),
pursuant to which the Company may from time to time
supply to CR Holdings and/or its associates packaged
drinking water and beverage products, and certain
associates of CR Holdings may provide promotion service
for sales of the Company’s packaged drinking water and
beverage products in their retail outlets, which is similar
to our sales arrangements with other customers. The term
of the Provision of Packaged Drinking Water and Beverage
Products and Procurement of Related Promotion Service
Framework Agreement shall commence on the Listing Date
until December 31, 2026, subject to renewal by mutual
consent and compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations.

The Company is a leading packaged drinking water and
beverage company in the PRC with a wide range of product
categories. CR Holdings and/or its associates procured
the Company’s products in the ordinary course of business
primarily for further sales in their premises, such as
supermarkets and cinemas. For example, China Resources
Vanguard (Hong Kong) Company Limited (ZEHEXR(HE)
EMR2AF]) (“CR Vanguard”), a subsidiary of CR Holdings, is
primarily engaged in the operation of supermarket chains.
CR Vanguard and its subsidiaries procured the Company’s
packaged drinking water and beverage products for further
sales in their supermarkets.
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CR Holdings holds 50.04% equity interests in the Company,
and is a substantial shareholder and a connected person
of the Company.

According to the Provision of Packaged Drinking Water
and Beverage Products and Procurement of Related
Promotion Service Framework Agreement, the annual caps
for the provision of packaged drinking water and beverage
products for the years ended and ending December 31,
2024, 2025 and 2026 are RMB66 million, RMB71 million
and RMB77 million, respectively, and the annual caps
for the transactions under the procurement of related
promotion service framework agreement for the years
ended and ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026
are RMB17 million, RMB18 million and RMB20 million,
respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, pursuant to the
Provision of Packaged Drinking Water and Beverage
Products and Procurement of Related Promotion Service
Framework Agreement, the actual transaction amount for
the provision of packaged drinking water and beverage
products was RMB57.0 million, and the actual transaction
amount for the procurement of related promotion service
was RMB13.6 million.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

Procurement of IT and Business Travel Services

The Company entered into a procurement of IT and
business travel services framework agreement with CR
Digital Holdings on September 6, 2024 (the “Procurement
of IT and Business Travel Services Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which:

(a) our Group may from time to time procure from CR
Digital Holdings and/or its associates various IT
services including but not limited to (i) maintenance
services for generic applications and operating
systems, including daily maintenance, procurement
of software, and licensing of software; (ii) specific
implementation services, including implementation
of unified application systems; (iii) information
technology infrastructure, cloud platforms,
hardware and software, and technical support
services for the digitization of traditional resource
pool; and (iv) other IT services; and

(b) our Group may use an online business travel
platform designated by CR Digital Holdings and/or
its associates to purchase various business travel
services including but not limited to (i) enquiry,
booking, cancellation and changing of flight tickets,
accommodations, train tickets and ride-hailing
services; (ii) sourcing and management of related
independent third party service providers for
enquiry, booking, cancellation and changing of
flight tickets, accommodations, train tickets and
ride-hailing services by the Group and its affiliates;
(iii) customer service, including but not limited to
the provision of a hotline for the handling of enquiry,
complaints, emergencies, compiling and reporting
of related business data, and conducting customer
satisfaction surveys at regular intervals; and (iv)
other related business travel services.
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The term of the Procurement of IT and Business Travel
Services Framework Agreement shall commence on the
Listing Date until December 31, 2026, subject to renewal
by mutual consent and compliance with all applicable laws
and regulations.

For IT services: Our Group has been utilizing certain
common systems, software and services in our daily
operations, such as remuneration claiming system
or messaging software for in-time communications
within the CR Group, which are applied consistently for
companies within CR Group. Such common systems,
software and services are all developed and maintained
by CR Digital Holdings. According to the CIC Report, it is
not uncommon to have such arrangements among the
state-owned enterprise group. Meanwhile, systems,
software and services involved in data security are
typically developed and maintained by CR Digital Holdings
for our Group. In addition, our Group has also been
utilizing certain platforms and software catering to our
Group’s own business needs, which are also developed
and maintained by CR Digital Holdings. CR Digital Holdings
has considerable experience in enterprise management,
Internet of Things, big data, artificial intelligence,
block-chain and cloud computing. The cooperation with
CR Digital Holdings enables our Group to ensure a steady
source of IT services which are of reliable quality and
confidentiality without placing our Group’s resources at
risk.

For business travel services: The employees of the Group
attend business trips frequently and there is a high
demand for business travel services throughout the year.
Under the Procurement of IT and Business Travel Services
Framework Agreement, the Group will be able to centralize
and group all orders from its employees, and purchase in
bulk from the independent third-party service providers
through utilizing CR Digital Holdings’ platform. Further,
the Group will be able to obtain stable business travel
services from a reliable service provider. Our Directors
believe that this will simplify the booking process, reduce
administration costs, and lower the purchase costs.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

CR Holdings holds approximately 50.04% equity interest
in the Company, and is a substantial shareholder and a
connected person of the Company. CR Digital Holdings is
wholly-owned by CRC, which indirectly owns 100% of the
equity interest in CR Holdings, and is an associate of CR
Holdings. Therefore, CR Digital Holdings is a connected
person of the Company.

Pursuant to the Procurement of IT and Business Travel
Services Framework Agreement, for the procurement of IT
services, the annual caps for the years ended and ending
December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026 are RMB50 million,
RMB55 million and RMB60 million, respectively; for the
procurement of business travel services, the annual caps
for the years ended and ending December 31, 2024, 2025
and 2026 are RMB49 million, RMB57 million and RMB67
million, respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, pursuant
to the Framework Agreement for Procurement of IT
and Business Travel Services, the actual transaction
amount in respect of the procurement of IT services was
RMB49.5 million, and the actual transaction amount in
respect of the procurement of business travel services
(inclusive of service fee and the actual costs of tickets or
accommodations) was RMB42.9 million.
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Cooperation on Integrated Energy Projects in 2024

The Company entered into an integrated energy projects
cooperation framework agreement (the “Integrated
Energy Projects Cooperation Framework Agreement”)
with CR Power on August 15, 2024, pursuant to which CR
Power and its subsidiaries will utilize the relevant storage
and operation space and rooftops of our Group to install
photovoltaic power station facilities, and CR Power will
utilize these photovoltaic power station facilities to supply
clean energy and related services to satisfy the Company’s
production needs after photovoltaic power station facilities
are put into operation, and our Group will make payments
to CR Power and its subsidiaries for the clean energy and
elated services provided.

The term of the Integrated Energy Projects Cooperation
Framework Agreement shall commence on the Listing Date
until December 31, 2024, subject to renewal by mutual
consent and compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations.

Our Group has put into operation several, and is in the
process of construction of some other production facilities
and factories, which require significant amount of power
for daily operations. CR Power has over 20 years of
experience in investments, development, operation and
management of wind farms, photovoltaic power stations,
hydro-electric power plants and other clean and renewable
energy projects and coal-fired power plants, with
extensive business network nationwide. By entering into
the Integrated Energy Projects Cooperation Framework
Agreement with CR Power, the Company is able to secure
stable power supply at fair, reasonable and competitive
prices which are lower than those from normal local power
stations, which in turn reduces the operating costs of our
Group.

CR Holdings holds approximately 50.04% equity interests
in the Company, and is a substantial shareholder and
connected person of the Company. CR Power is the
indirectly non-wholly-owned subsidiary of CR Holdings,
and is an associate of CR Holdings. As such, CR Power is
the connected person of the Company.
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The annual cap and actual transaction amount under
the Integrated Energy Projects Cooperation Framework
Agreement for the year ended December 31, 2024 were
RMB44.0 million and RMB10.7 million, respectively.

Procurement of PET Materials

The Company entered into a PET procurement framework
agreement with China Resources Chemical Innovative
Materials Co., Ltd. (“CR Chemical”) on August 1, 2024 (the
“PET Procurement Framework Agreement”), pursuant to
which, our Group may from time to time purchase from CR
Chemical and/or its associates PET materials for usage
in our production of packing materials for our packaged
drinking water and beverage products. The term of the
PET Procurement Framework Agreement shall commence
on the Listing Date until December 31, 2026, subject
to renewal by mutual consent and compliance with all
applicable laws and regulations.

The Company primarily engaged in the production and
sales of packaged drinking water and beverage products,
and therefore are in need of PET materials for production
of bottles for our packaged drinking water and beverage
products. According to the CIC Report, the bottle-grade
PET materials industry in China is highly concentrated
with top four players accounting for approximately
80% of the bottle-grade PET production capacity, and
CR Chemical is a dominant bottle-grade PET materials
supplier amongst them. Transactions contemplated under
the PET Procurement Framework Agreement enable the
Company to obtain necessary materials for our production
at the prevailing market price in a cost-efficient way
without having to establish the Company’s own production
facilities for such PET materials, which is in line with
industry norm according to the CIC Report. The Company
has a pool of qualified PET materials suppliers which
include CR Chemical and other independent third parties,
and we select the most suitable suppliers through our
standardized supplier selection bidding procedure,
primarily based on their pricing terms offered.
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CR Holdings holds approximately 50.04% equity interests
in the Company, and is a substantial shareholder and
connected person of the Company. CR Chemical is the
indirectly non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the CRC, which
indirectly owns 100% equity interests in CR Holdings, and
is the associate of CR Holdings. As such, CR Chemical is
the connected person of the Company.

The annual caps under the PET Procurement Framework
Agreement for the years ended and ending December 31,
2024, 2025 and 2026 are RMB1,228 million, RMB1,501
million and RMB1,883 million, respectively.

The actual transaction amount under the PET Procurement
Framework Agreement for the year ended December 31,
2024 was RMB942.0 million.

Procurement of Construction Management Services

The Company entered into a construction management
service framework agreement with Shenzhen Runzhi Urban
Construction Management Co., Ltd. (“Shenzhen Runzhi”)
on September 20, 2024 (the “Construction Management
Service Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which our
Group may from time to time engage Shenzhen Runzhi
and/or its associates to provide construction management
services for the Company’s production facilities and
factories. Such construction management service
includes but is not limited to management on design and
construction (including safety, costs, quality, construction
period), and handling of relevant procedures.

The term of the Construction Management Service
Framework Agreement shall commence on the Listing Date
until December 31, 2026, subject to renewal by mutual
consent and compliance with all applicable laws and
regulations.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

Considering Shenzhen Runzhi’s extensive experience,
competitiveness of pricing terms, their professional
quality of construction management service as well as
Shenzhen Runzhi and/or its associates’ familiarities of the
Company’s requirements and standards, the Company had
therefore selected Shenzhen Runzhi and/or its associates
as our service providers for provision of construction
management service to the Company’s various production
facilities and factories projects.

CR Holdings holds approximately 50.04% equity interests
in the Company, and is a substantial shareholder and a
connected person of the Company. Shenzhen Runzhi is
wholly owned by China Resources Land Limited (a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1109), which is
indirectly owned by CR Holdings), and is an associate of
CR Holdings. Therefore, Shenzhen Runzhi is a connected
person of the Company.

The annual caps under the Construction Management
Service Framework Agreement for the years ended and
ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026 are RMB420
million, RMB1,700 million and RMB1,090 million,
respectively.

The actual transaction amount under the Construction
Management Service Framework Agreement for the year
ended December 31, 2024 was RMB171.4 million.
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Procurement of Deposits and Other Related Services

The Company entered into a deposit and other related
services framework agreement with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (the “CR Bank”) on August 8, 2024
(the “Deposit and Other Related Services Framework
Agreement”), pursuant to which our Group may from
time to time deposit cash into CR Bank, and CR Bank will
provide deposit and other related services and pay deposit
interest to our Group on such deposits. The term of the
Deposit and Other Related Services Framework Agreement
shall commence on the Listing Date until December
31, 2026, subject to renewal by mutual consent and
compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

When procuring deposit and other related services, the
Company selects service providers comprising connected
persons and independent third parties, and determine the
relevant terms of procurements through the Company’s
internal selection and approval process. The Company is
not obliged to use the deposit and other related services
provided by CR Bank and retain the discretion to select the
deposit and other related services providers based on the
Company’s business needs as well as the fees and quality
of the services offered by the service providers.

CR Bank is a licensed bank regulated by the National
Financial Regulatory Administration (ARERMEEEERA
/&) and headquartered in Zhuhai, the PRC. It has branches
and sub-branches in different locations in the PRC where
it operates and provides financial and commercial banking
services. According to the credit rating announcement
dated July 28, 2023 by China Lianhe Credit Rating Co., Ltd.
(A BETERDBRAE]), the long-term credit rating of
CR Bank is AAA.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

CR Holdings holds approximately 50.04% equity interest
in the Company, and is a substantial shareholder and a
connected person of the Company. CR Bank is indirectly
held as to approximately 49.8% by CRC (which indirectly
owns 100% of the equity interest in CR Holdings) and is
an associate of CR Holdings. Accordingly, CR Bank is a
connected person of the Company.

The annual caps under the Deposit and Other Related
Services Framework Agreement for the years ended and
ending December 31, 2024, 2025 and 2026 are up to a
maximum daily deposit balance of RMB2,500 million,
respectively.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, the maximum
amount of the Group’s daily deposit balance was
RMB1,780 million.
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CONFIRMATIONS FROM INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS AND AUDITORS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the independent
non-executive Directors have reviewed the above-mentioned
continuing connected transactions, and confirmed that:

1. these transactions have been entered into in the ordinary
and usual course of business of the Group;

2. these transactions have been entered into on normal
commercial terms or better; and

Sk these transactions have been entered into according to
the agreements governing them, on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interest of the Shareholders as a
whole.
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The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical
Financial Information”™ and with reference to Practice Note 740
(Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The auditor has issued
his letter containing his findings and conclusions in respect of
the continuing connected transactions disclosed by the Group on
pages 72 to 82 (the “Disclosed CCTs”) in accordance with Rule
14A.56 of the Listing Rules:

a. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
him to believe that the Disclosed CCTs have not been
approved by the Board.

b. for transactions involving the provision of goods or services
by the Group, nothing has come to the auditor’s attention
that causes him to believe that the Disclosed CCTs were
not, in all material respects, in accordance with the pricing
policies of the Group.

C. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
him to believe that the Disclosed CCTs were not entered
in accordance with the

into, in all material respects,

relevant agreements governing such transactions.

d. nothing has come to the auditor’s attention that causes
him to believe that the Disclosed CCTs have exceeded the
annual caps as set by the Company.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The details of related party transactions for the Group for the
year ended December 31, 2024, are disclosed in Note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements. Save as disclosed above,
these related party transactions do not constitute connected
transactions or continuing connected transactions as defined
under the Listing Rules. The Company confirmed that it has
complied with the disclosure requirements set out in Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules and has disclosed the transactions in this
annual report.

ARRANGEMENTS FOR THE PURCHASE OF SHARES
OR DEBT SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in this annual report, neither the Company, its
holding companies, nor any of its subsidiaries has entered into
any arrangements during the year ended December 31, 2024,
which would allow the Directors to benefit from the purchase of
shares in the Company or any other corporate entity or from the
acquisition of debt securities, including debentures.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

Revenue generated from our largest customer accounted for 5.8%
of annual revenues and revenues from our five largest customers
accounted for 14.5% of annual revenues in 2024.

The purchase amounts from our largest supplier accounted for
11.9% of the total annual purchase amount in 2024, and the
aggregate purchase amounts from our five largest suppliers
accounted for 28.1% of the total annual purchase amount.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The audited consolidated performance and a summary of assets
and liabilities for the recent years of the Group (excerpted from
the audited consolidated financial statements) are presented on
page 209 of this annual report. This summary does not form part
of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

Neither the Articles of Association nor the laws of the Cayman
Islands contain provisions requiring the Company to offer new
Shares to existing Shareholders on a pro-rata basis.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTIONS FOR HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any tax relief or exemptions that
may be available to its Shareholders due to their holdings of the
Company’s securities.

SUBSIDIARIES, JOINT VENTURES AND ASSOCIATES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries, joint ventures, and
associates are provided in Note 35 to the consolidated financial
statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the changes in property, plant, and equipment of the
Group for the year ended December 31, 2024, are provided in
Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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SHARE CAPITAL AND ISSUED SHARES

Details of the changes in the Company’s share capital for the year
ended December 31, 2024, and details of the issued shares as of
December 31, 2024, are provided in Note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SUFFICIENT PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1) of the Listing Rules requires that there must be an
open market for the securities for which listing is sought, and
that a sufficient public float of an issuer’s listed securities shall
be maintained. Generally, at least 25% of an issuer’s total issued
share capital must be held by the public at all times.

The Company has applied to the Stock Exchange to request the
Stock Exchange to exercise its discretion under Rule 8.08(1)(d)
of the Listing Rules, and the Stock Exchange has granted to the
Company, a waiver from strict compliance with the requirements
under Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules and that the minimum
percentage of the Shares from time to time held by the public to
be the higher of: (i) 14.81%, being the percentage of Shares held
by the public upon completion of the Global Offering (where the
over-allotment option is not exercised); and (ii) such percentage
(i.e. 16.60%) of Shares held by the public after the full or partial
exercise of the over-allotment option.

Based on the publicly available information of the Company and
to the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained
the aforementioned minimum public float required by the Stock
Exchange since the Listing Date and as of the date of this annual
report.
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ISSUED DEBENTURES

As of the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not issue
any debentures.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

As of the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group made
charitable donations amounting to RMB1.58 million.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

As of the year ended December 31, 2024, the Group did not enter
into or have any existing equity-linked agreements.

PERFORMANCE AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s performance for the year ended December 31, 2024,
is detailed in the consolidated financial statements of this report.

The Board proposes to pay, on July 24, 2025, a final dividend for
the year ended December 31, 2024 of RMBO0.307 per share (the
“Final Dividend”) and a special dividend of RMB0.176 per share
(the “Special Dividend”) to Shareholders whose names appear on
the Company’s register of members on June 16, 2025. The Final
Dividend and the Special Dividend are subject to the approval of
the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting (the
“AGM”). If approved at the AGM, the Final Dividend and Special
Dividend will be paid in HKD cash. Shareholders are entitled to
elect to receive all or part of the Final Dividend and the Special
Dividend in RMB cash. The amounts of the Final Dividend and the
Special Dividend in HKD will be calculated based on the average
RMB to HKD central parity rate published by the People’s Bank
of China over the five business days ending on and including
the date of the forthcoming AGM. If approved at the AGM, the
Final Dividend and Special Dividend are expected to be paid on
Thursday, July 24, 2025 to Shareholders whose names appear on
the Company’s register of members on June 16, 2025.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Unless the Shareholders elect to receive the Final Dividend
and Special Dividend in RMB cash by completing the dividend
currency election form, the Final Dividend and Special Dividend
will be paid in HKD cash respectively. The dividend currency
election form is expected to be dispatched to the Shareholders
on Friday, June 20, 2025. If the Shareholders elect to receive all
or part of the Final Dividend and the Special Dividend in RMB,
they must complete the dividend currency election form. The
completed form must be delivered to the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar, Tricor Investor Services Limited, at 17/F,
Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, no later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, July 8, 2025.

There is no arrangement under which a Shareholder has waived
or agreed to waive any dividends.

PERMITTED INDEMNITIES

According to the Articles of Association, and without violating
any applicable laws and regulations, each Director shall be
indemnified by the Company out of its assets and profits. This
indemnity ensures that they will not suffer any loss or damage
arising from or incurred in connection with any actions, costs,
charges, losses, damages, or expenses resulting from the
performance of their duties.

The provisions regarding permitted indemnities have come into
effect for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Company has
also secured liability insurance to offer suitable protection for its
directors.

RESERVES

For the year ended December 31, 2024, details of the movements
in the reserves of the Group and the Company are set out in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity.

RESERVES AVAILABLE FOR DISTRIBUTION

As of December 31, 2024, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Cayman Islands Companies Laws, amounted to approximately
RMB59.1 million.
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BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Details of the bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as of
December 31, 2024, are provided in this annual report and in Note
23 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each Director has entered into a service contract with the
Company for a period of three years commencing from the
Listing Date to the date of holding the next general meeting for
re-election of Directors. None of the Directors has entered into
a service contract with any member of the Group that cannot
be terminated by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN MATERIAL
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS, OR CONTRACTS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, or at its conclusion,
none of the Directors or any entities connected with them had
a material interest, directly or indirectly, in any significant
transactions, arrangements, or contracts to which the Company,
its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESSES

For the year ended December 31, 2024, none of the Directors or
their respective close associates (as defined in the Listing Rules)
had any interests in businesses that directly or indirectly compete
or may compete with the business of the Group, except in their
capacity as Directors of the Company and/or its subsidiaries.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors and senior management of
the Group is determined by the Board, taking into account the
recommendations provided by the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee, individual performance, and comparable market
statistics.

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the five
highest-paid individuals of the Group are disclosed in Note 13 to
the consolidated financial statements.

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no remuneration was
paid to any Director or any of the five highest-paid individuals
as an inducement to join, or upon joining, our Group, or as
compensation for loss of office. For the year ended December
31, 2024, no Director has waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration.

Other than as disclosed above, for the year ended December 31,
2024, the Group did not make any other payments to or on behalf
of any Director, nor were there any other amounts payable to any
Director.

The details of the remuneration of senior management for the
year ended December 31, 2024, are as follows:

ARBT T

(RMB’000)

e REAER Salaries and other benefits 13,236
RIREFIGT BB Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 856

M SREBASBEARFANTEFNEGERE

BAE -

Note:  Senior management includes the Company’s executive Directors and other

senior management personnel.
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MATERIAL CONTRACTS

Other than those disclosed in the sections of this annual report
titled “Non-exempt Continuing Connected Transactions”, “Related
Party Transactions”, and “Management Discussion and Analysis”,
neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries entered into any
material contracts with the controlling shareholder or any of its
subsidiaries during the year ended December 31, 2024, nor were
there any material contracts subsisting at the end of the year.
Additionally, no material contracts were entered into or subsisted
at the end of the year for the provision of services by the
controlling shareholder or any of its subsidiaries to the Company
or any of its subsidiaries during the year ended December 31,
2024.

RELATIONSHIPS WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group fully recognizes the importance of maintaining strong
relationships with its customers and is committed to providing
products and services that meet their needs, thereby creating
mutual value. The Group has successfully established a robust
distributor network characterized by stable growth, mutual
benefit, and shared value. It has implemented a strong distributor
management and collaboration mechanism to enhance the
loyalty of channel customers. At the same time, the Group
closely monitors consumer feedback and demands, continuously
improving the Company’s products and services to build a positive
reputation among consumers. Efforts are made to strengthen
communication with consumers, consolidate the consumer base,
and foster closer connections with them. The Group has also
established a customer complaint feedback mechanism to ensure
timely resolution of customer-related issues.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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The Group fully recognizes that employees are key to sustainable
development. We are committed to building close and caring
relationships with our employees, providing them with a fair
and safe working environment, promoting their diversified
development, and offering competitive compensation and
benefits as well as career advancement opportunities based
on their merits and performance. The Group also continuously
provides employees with ample training and development
resources, enabling them to stay informed about the latest
market and industry trends while enhancing their performance
and achieving personal growth in their roles. Further details
about the Group’s employees, please refer to the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis — Human Resources and
Remuneration Policy” in this annual report.

The Group is dedicated to establishing long-term collaborative
relationships with suppliers, actively building an efficient,
synergistic, and sustainable supply chain ecosystem. Together,
we aim to address market challenges, achieve resource sharing,
leverage complementary strengths, and create mutual benefits
for all parties involved.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

For the year ended December 31, 2024, no contracts were entered
into or existed for the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the Company’s business.

AUDITOR

The Company’s Shares were listed on the Stock Exchange on
October 23, 2024. Since the Listing Date, there has been no
change in the auditor of the Company. The consolidated financial
statements for the year ended December 31, 2024, have been
audited by the Certified Public Accountants, Deloitte Touche
Tohmatsu.
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EERBSITRAERARFAREE
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RARQTEBCERE — FRWE (2R) ARA
ACBITEERREERS T A KR

Esns

Name of Director

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF DIRECTORS
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES, AND DEBENTURES OF THE COMPANY AND
ANY OF ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS

As of December 31, 2024, the Directors and chief executives
of the Company had interests or short positions in the shares,
related Shares, and debentures of the Company or its associated
corporations (as defined in Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance) that: (a) are required to be notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (including interests
or short positions deemed or considered to be held under the
relevant provisions of the Securities and Futures Ordinance);
(b) are required to be recorded in the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance; or (c) are required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange under the Model Code. The details of such
interests/short positions are as follows:

Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — China Resources
Beer (Holdings) Company Limited:

ERtE LEREE BABERAIELO
Approximate
Percentage of

Shareholding'

Number of

Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares

FoKRELE
Mr. SUN Yonggiang

fo B

Spouse’s interest 38,000 (L) 0.0012%

M R REER (AR AR ARMN2024F12 A31
BB B7TR 3,244,176,90588 51 & -

EBER (ZR) ARLF

L: Long Position

(1 Based on 3,244,176,905 shares of China Resources Beer (Holdings)
Company Limited in issue as at December 31, 2024.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — China Resources
Land Limited:

EBERBE #BOBRBEILO
Approximate
Percentage of
Shareholding®

Number of
Ordinary Shares

FoKBEE

BHRBEAA

Mr. SUN Yonggiang Beneficial owner 30,000 (L) 0.00042%
L:ifA L: Long Position
(1) REEEBHARATN2024F 12 A31BE & (1) Based on 7,130,939,579 shares of China Resources Land Limited in issue

77A%197,130,939,579 kT & °

RARQTEBEE - EREREERRAF
SERTEBERREER O P EAVES

EEns

EENE

as at December 31, 2024.

Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — China Resources
Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited:

EERBE #HOBRBESLED

Approximate

Number of Percentage of
Name of Directors Nature of Interest Ordinary Shares Shareholding®
FhRERE Aot
Mr. LI Shuging Spouse’s interest 4,000 (L) 0.00018%
AR E fofEfEa
Mr. SUN Yonggiang Spouse’s interest 50,000 (L) 0.0022%
L:FE L: Long Position
(1) RIBEEBHEREEARARN2024F12A31H (1) Based on 2,282,500,000 shares of China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services

BE1TA%192,282,500,000 8+ & -

RARQTREEE - EHBRERERAT
ERTEERREER O P EFES

BEEpE

EENE

Limited in issue as at December 31, 2024.

Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — China Resources
Medical Holdings Company Limited:

EERHE BORREILO

Approximate

Number of percentage of
Name of Directors Nature of interest ordinary shares shareholding®
FREBRE BREBA
Mr. LI Shuging Beneficial owner 160,000 (L) 0.012%
HoKsRSEHE BEmA A
Mr. SUN Yonggiang Beneficial owner 92,000 (L) 0.0071%
L:FE L: Long Position
(1) REERBEZRERATN2024F12A318 (1) Based on 1,296,676,516 shares of China Resources Medical Holdings

231719 1,296,676,516ARET & - Company Limited in issue as at December 31, 2024.
TERIEFR
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AARA TEECAE - ERMETERATD
1T R RARRBAR 19 7R S O MRS

BEEpE

Name of Director

EENE

Nature of interest

Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — China Resources
Microelectronics Limited:

LERHEE #BMOFREILO

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding®

Number of
ordinary shares

FEHERE [t

Mr. LI Shuging Spouse’s interest 1,000 (L) 0.000076%
L: 8 L: Long Position

(1) BIEEESEFERAFNR2024F12A831HE (1) Based on 1,323,517,004 shares of China Resources Microelectronics

ZE1THN1,323,517,004 8T E

RARTREEE — THEXROERAF
SERTEBERREER O P EFVES

BEEpE

Name of Director

EENE

Nature of interest

Limited in issue as at December 31, 2024.

Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — Jiangzhong
Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.:

LERHE #BOFREILO

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding®

Number of
ordinary shares

REZ+ EnEEA
Ms. WU Xia Beneficial owner 87,567 (L) 0.014%
L FE L: Long Position

M BETIHEERNBERARN2024F12A31H
EEIT 629,017,624 %51 & ©

RADTEESEE — FEEMRRRR G
BRATGERITEBREEBEROTHERN
S

BEEHR

Name of Director

EENE

Nature of interest

1) Based on 629,017,624 shares of Jiangzhong Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. in
issue as at December 31, 2024.

Interests in the Issued Ordinary Shares and Underlying Shares
of the Company’s Associated Corporation — China Resources
Chemical Innovative Materials Co., Ltd.:

ZERHE #BOEREILO

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding®

Number of
ordinary shares

HELE BB A
Mr. XIAO Ning Beneficial owner 76,555 (L) 0.0052%
L:FA L: Long Position

M REFEBCEMBRIERDERARN2024F
12 431 BB #1719 1,486,358,853 851 E -

Br i EEESN 0 BR2024F12A318 0
BALAREESIRRITRAERARARHE
AR (TR R FBHRBAEEMNEXVE) <
f&tn - HHER D REHTHEE (IBBEESFR
HEGEFEXVIHETRESHBAME A F]
KB ZFT (B IE R SIRIEE S KSR 2 3%
LR R AR EEREENERRAR)
(D) IREFE S KA E & FI 352 16785 A%

EBER (ZR) ARLF

(1 Based on 1,486,358,853 shares of China Resources Chemical Innovative
Materials Co., Ltd. in issue as at December 31, 2024.

Except as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, none of the
directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or
short positions in the shares, underlying shares, or debentures
of the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance) that: (a) are
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (including interests or short positions deemed
or considered to be held under the relevant provisions of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance); (b) are required to be recorded
in the register maintained under Section 352 of the Securities

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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and Futures Ordinance; or (c) are required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange under the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

As of December 31, 2024, to the knowledge of the Directors, the
following persons (who are not Directors or chief executives of
the Company) have interests or short positions in the shares
or underlying shares of the Company that are required to be
disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance and have been recorded
in the register maintained by the Company under Section 336 of
the Securities and Futures Ordinance:

BREREH ERME LERHE BRELEIHL
Approximate
Number of percentage of
Name of Shareholders Nature of interest ordinary shares shareholding
PEERERARO R EE R 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
China Resources Company Limited™ Interest in controlled corporation
China Resources Inc. ™ LB 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
China Resources Inc.” Interest in controlled corporation
CRC Bluesky Limited @ R EE R 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
CRC Bluesky Limited™ Interest in controlled corporation
EH(&EE)D A E s 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
CR Holdings"™ Interest in controlled corporation
EHEE (F8) ARAR ([EHEE (FA) N SEXE#R 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
CRH (CRE) Limited (“CRH Limited”)" Interest in controlled corporation
EHAEERAR ([EHAZEDO A E s 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
China Resources Enterprise, Limited Interest in controlled corporation
(“CRE Limited”)®
EHEE () BRAR ((FHEE (KD DO BEREAA 1,200,000,000 (L) 50.04%
CRH (Beverage) Limited (“CRH Beverage”)"” Beneficial owner
Dong YiZz=® I EE R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Ms. DONG Yi®@ Interest in controlled corporation
Plateau Holding Limited @ I EE R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Plateau Holding Limited®? Interest in controlled corporation
Plateau Investment Limited @ I EE R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Plateau Investment Limited® Interest in controlled corporation
Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P. @ I EE R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P.®@ Interest in controlled corporation
Plateau Consumer Limited ([ Plateau |) BEREAA 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Plateau Consumer Limited (“Plateau”) Beneficial owner
TERERREERAC AR 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
China Investment Corporation® Interest in controlled corporation
PRESKEFRETAT R EE R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Central Huijin Investment Ltd.® Interest in controlled corporation
RERITRODERAA SR E R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Bank of China Limited® Interest in controlled corporation
PIREEKREERAAO REEE R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Bank of China Group Investment Limited® Interest in controlled corporation
FHIRIRE BB AR AT AR 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
BOC Investment Management Limited® Interest in controlled corporation
HFARAEC SR E R 800,000,000 (L) 33.36%
Maxwish Limited® Interest in controlled corporation
L:afR L: Long Position
—B-MEFR
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LimitedfiChina Resources Inc.2&#H °
China Resources Inc. AFEEHERAFEE
®E -

Plateau B #3574 800,000,000 %15 ° Plateau
fiPlateau Consumer Fund, L.P. (E¥@EA %
ABPlateau Investment Limited) 2 & A °
Plateau Investment LimitedfDong Yizx+%
BB MPlateau Holding Limited2 & A °
Fr#Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P.BIEBE %
AREZRSN - Dong Yizm L Jhi@iBPlateau Capital
Limited & Plateau Group Limited & #HH
Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P.892.65%ERA
B o
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

Notes:

CRH Beverage directly holds 1,200,000,000 shares. CRH Beverage is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRE Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by
CRH Limited, a subsidiary of CR Holdings. CR Holdings is a subsidiary of
CRC Bluesky Limited, which is in turn wholly owned by China Resources Inc.
China Resources Inc. is wholly owned by China Resources Company Limited.

Plateau directly holds 800,000,000 shares. Plateau was wholly owned by
Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P., whose general partner is Plateau Investment
Limited. Plateau Investment Limited is wholly owned by Plateau Holding
Limited, which is wholly owned by Ms. DONG Yi. In addition to the interest
in the general partner of Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P., Ms. DONG Vi also,
through Plateau Capital Limited and Plateau Group Limited, held a total of
2.65% limited partnership interests in Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P.

Maxwish Limited (34FBR 2 7F)) held approximately 36.8% limited
partnership interest in Plateau Consumer Fund, L.P.. Maxwish Limited is
wholly owned by BOC Investment Management Limited (FiRI&EERER
A7]), which is in turn wholly owned by Bank of China Group Investment
Limited (PEREBRE BB AF]), a subsidiary of Bank of China Limited (FF
ERTTARD AR F]) (a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code:
3988) and Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 601988)). BOCI Asia
Limited, one of the joint sponsors for the Global Offering, is a subsidiary of
the Bank of China Limited. As of December 31, 2024, Bank of China Limited
was held as to 64.13% by Central Huijin Investment Ltd., which was in turn
wholly owned by China Investment Corporation, a state-owned enterprise.

Except as disclosed above, as of December 31, 2024, there were

no other interests or short positions in the Shares or underlying

shares of the Company that are required to be disclosed to

the Company pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the

Securities and Futures Ordinance or recorded in the register

maintained by the Company under Section 336 of the Securities

and Futures Ordinance.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

From the Listing Date to December 31, 2024, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of
the Company’s listed securities (including any sale of treasury
shares (as defined under the Listing Rules)). As of December 31,
2024, neither the Company nor its subsidiaries held any treasury
shares.

GLOBAL OFFERING AND USE OF NET PROCEEDS

The Company was successfully listed on the Stock Exchange on
October 23, 2024, and the over-allotment option stated in the
Prospectus was partially exercised on November 12, 2024, with
total net listing proceeds of RMB5,213.5 million after deduction
of underwriting fees and related expenses.

As of December 31, 2024, RMB449.1 million of the net proceeds
from the Listing had been utilized, and the remaining was held as
a time depositin a licensed bank in Hong Kong.

There have been no material changes to the intended use of the
net proceeds as disclosed in the Prospectus, please refer to
the section headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the
Prospectus for further information. The following table shows
the use of the net proceeds raised from the Global Offering of the
Company as of December 31, 2024. The expected timetable for
the unspent balance of the proceeds is based on the Company’s
estimates taking into account, among other things, the current
and future market development conditions as well as the
Company’s business needs, and is therefore subject to change.
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BZE2024F BZE2024F
12A31BILEE 12A318L E¥BAMABA
RRERFENAZ sTEILA S RUERH EHARE HABAGR FERERENEER
(AR®EER) (AR¥EER) (AR%BER)
Proceeds
utilized for Unutilized
the year ended balance as of
Purposes as described in the Planned December 31, December 31, Timetable for the full use
Prospectus proportion Net proceeds 2024 2024 of net unutilized proceeds
(RMB in millions) (RMB in millions) (RMB in millions)
(1) BB RRNEERY 30% 1,564.1 128.8 1,435.3  H2029F9A30A 5 Al
(1 Strategic expansion and on or before September 30, 2029
optimization of production
capacity
2 MAHERBEBERREAEE 23% 1,199.1 85.6 1,113.6 7202999 A30B T A
[ on or before September 30, 2029
(2) Accelerating the expansion
of sales channels and
enhancing channel
efficiency
3) ETHENEHED 23% 1,199.1 203.6 995.5  W2027F9A30RH A
(3) Conducting sales and on or before September 30, 2027
marketing activities
(4) R EmAEE N 3% 156.4 8.5 1479 2029993083 ZAT
(4) Enhancing our product R&D on or before September 30, 2029
capabilities
(5) YT AR 3% 156.4 22.6 1338 M2029F9A308 A
(5) Digitalization upgrades on or before September 30, 2029
(6) ETRERE RITERE 8% 4171 - 4171 2025FEEETE
(6) For potential investment, no current plan in 2025
merger and acquisition
opportunities
(7) EEESRIF-RAFMAR 10% 521.3 - 521.3
7) As working capital and for
general corporate uses
B 100% 5,213.5 449.1 4,764.4
Total

EBER (ZR) ARLF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Audit Committee, together with the Board and the Company’s
auditors, has reviewed the accounting principles and policies
adopted by the Group and the consolidated financial statements
of the Group for the year ended December 31, 2024. The Audit
Committee is of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant
financial statements complies with applicable accounting
standards and requirements, and adequate disclosures have
been made.

SUBSEQUENT SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, since the end of the Reporting
Period, there are no significant events that require adjustment or
disclosure in accordance with the Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards.

By order of the Board
China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
Mr. ZHANG Weitong

Chairman of the Board and Executive Director

Hong Kong, China, March 21, 2025
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To the Members of China Resources Beverage (Holdings)
Company Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
set out on pages 108 to 208, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31 December 2024, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended,
and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group as at 31 December 2024, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the
Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming

our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

BRETEE
Key audit matter
HE TR A B EHE

Variable consideration for sales volume rebates

B SHEN N A SHERAQERETFR  HHNEER
BEHEHESEIEMGREERERMEBERX -

We identified variable consideration for sales volume rebates
as a key audit matter as it is quantitatively significant
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

HEFRBETIRBARRETE @ 2EEEIEESRTHRENE
—HERBERBMAIT  UERFABRNIFEE LPMTAQ#
HERERNER - TREFPHEEREREMNTINSEEE -
The sales volume rebates are determined based on different
input factors, including single volume threshold and unit
rebate set out in the corresponding sales contract, and sales
volume achieved during the year, which increases the risk of
error in the calculation thereof. Different customers will have
different volume thresholds and unit rebates.

HE2024F12A3MALFE - SEEBAHETRBRAAR
#13,521 BB T © %@%ﬁuNﬁﬁﬁ%&&ﬁwuzsﬁﬁﬁ HEITHHER
RAFEEWANR 2508 - ERANEREDBHRASEREK 5
ﬁEWAﬁgﬁﬁEm%ﬁﬁmT SHHEITRENX -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group
recognised revenue of RMB13,521 million from sales of
goods. Sales volume rebates were recognized as deductions
from sales revenue, as set out in note 5 to the consolidated
financial statements. The variable consideration for sales
volume rebates is material as a percentage of revenue given
the significant amount of revenue being recognised during
the year.

EMWEFNNEERRENSE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

HMBERBEENMAIZHENEF B
Our procedures in relation to variable consideration for sales
volume rebates included:

o AREESHE RATE SN ERBOA TIEGIE
TR RO

+ Testing the operating effectiveness of the relevant
manual controls over the recording of sales volume
and the calculation of variable consideration for sales
volume rebates;

- EABEESRMITERHLET
R ;

«  Testing the information technology (“IT”) general controls
over the recording of sales volume, with the involvement
of our IT internal specialists;

CRIEITH B RS ER —

- HRREEPBREJEREEP  REMEHESRMTHNE
—HEMEARHEECKRACENHES 0% EFEEE
BEPHHBNHIAIZEE - UZEZF %EﬁﬂT HA

BOERLHE

. For a selection of customers from the customer list,
recalculating the variable consideration for sales volume
rebates of each customer based on the single volume
threshold recorded in the corresponding sales contracts,
sales volume recorded in the sales register and checking
whether the variable consideration for those sales
volume rebates are properly recorded;

- HRBREFAMTHENEE  BEEERRMTHRNHEER
SNHERHERBYEIRBHESR  ERERREE

«  For aselection of sales recorded during the year, tracing
the sales volume and the sales amount of the sales
transaction recorded in the sales register to the relevant
sales contracts, invoices and delivery notes;

. ? BB FHBEHEELRMLHENESE
+  Comparing the sales volume from delivery notes, on a
sample basis, with the information recorded in the sales

TTHIERLL

register;
c HHEBRRTEZRHEWMASHERAN - REBEHE

ERMACSE —HEBRENRHES LR EER
S, BEFAEACEAEEN NI Z2RE  IREZSHE
FHAT S B E TS EZ Rk

«  Selecting samples of the variable consideration for sales
volume rebates from the sales register, recalculating
the recorded variable consideration for sales volume
rebates based on the single volume threshold recorded
in the corresponding sales contracts, sales volume
recorded in the sales register and checking whether the
variable consideration for those sales volume rebates
are properly recorded;

“ENFEFR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

Hi&

BERREZAHEMENEER - HWENE
REBAHEH  BLEEEHNEHIMG
R MR P EBET RS

BREAHFMBRERNERL TREREME
B RATAHZFEMERERTATEA

HEERE KEam ©

AERMHE M BEHREROBTME - R
BEERMEREMER  WHIBRESD - TE
HipER 2R EA BRI B MR
BREFATREERFEEREEREUT
FHREERBRRANBR - EREFAC AT
T MREFIRB/ZFEMERNFEE
REEmRRt - RAFTEREZEE - £%
o RPIWEAE RS -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We
have nothing to report in this regard.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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E - AIBBSBREUE A AR EE K -

BYRHBERES
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing
the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 405 of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for no other purpose. We do not
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other
person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

B NEER
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RIEMGE R AEE MERE - R
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o RE S ERER BB - 0%
BRARES 2z £ - FitREEHBRRERK
FF T 28 2R A B K 88 BR PR 9 R B = 1O R
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TERERET AR ARES - ARFHE
EABBRANENRERF  BEMILFE
H BREAMEFINAERERRER -

HAEEMRASFBRRNRE I RIE
SRTART A REN RN -

HEERAKELL ST ERNRE
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REETEFEEERKBERABANEKN
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AEEEY BERETREFELE -

AT HRRMERZR  HEM
WA (BREKE)  WRAEHIERRRE
BRERREERHMEE -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

« Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

+ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal
control.

+ Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

«  Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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BYRHBERES
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

- Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the group
as a basis for forming an opinion on the group financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and review of the audit work performed for purposes of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken
to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Lam Chi Hong.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2025
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EtERRAMGERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BE 2024 F 12 A 31 HLLFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BZ12B31BLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024%F 20234
2024 2023
B EE ARET ARBT T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 5 13,521,246 13,514,728
SHERAR Cost of sales (7,123,982) (7,479,514)
EF Gross profit 6,397,264 6,035,214
E A A Other income 6 289,000 367,246
Hihas RE1E Other gains and losses 7 (13,975) (14,622)
TEEEEREEX THRERE  Impairment losses under expected credit loss
(¥0BR#EEE) model, net of reversal (1,178) (3,817)
LHEREEER Distribution and selling expenses (4,058,384) (4,086,510)
Gk Administrative expenses (295,651) (300,562)
TP A Research and development costs (53,354) (61,510)
BT A Finance costs 8 (2,441) (42,516)
Nshiili= 53 Listing expenses (37,587) (14,490)
0 A1 A1 Profit before taxation 2,223,694 1,878,433
FBHAX Income tax expense 9 (562,855) (547,063)
FRFE Profit for the year 10 1,660,839 1,331,370
FEBIRIA NI Profit attributable to:
A VNEIE Z=PN ~ Owners of the Company 1,636,694 1,329,341
— FERE AR - Non-controlling interests 24,145 2,029
1,660,839 1,331,370
Hhir ezt - Other comprehensive income:
HEETSENIEZBEEN Item that will not be reclassified
HA : subsequently to profit or loss:
Exchange differences on translation from
MEEEEMERBZSIEEE functional currency to presentation
M H =5 currency 210,338 95,270
HEARENIEERRN Item that may be reclassified subsequently
HA to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation
MEBINETS T E L IE X ZRE of foreign operations (163,246) (95,318)
FRFEWEETE Total comprehensive income for the year 1,707,931 1,331,322
BN AT R ARA AR Total comprehensive income attributable to:
— RAQRIHEA A - Owners of the Company 1,683,786 1,329,293
— FERERR R - Non-controlling interests 24,145 2,029
1,707,931 1,331,322
TR (AR¥T) - Earnings per share, in RMB:
BN Basic 12 0.79 0.66
TEA
HE Diluted 12 0.79 N/A

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

s China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited



SO HBRRR

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

7 2024 5 12 A 31 B AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

M12831H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
B EE ARET ARBT T
NOTES RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE Non-current Assets
M - B RERE Property, plant and equipment 14 5,923,500 4,809,703
FREEE Right-of-use assets 15 578,651 518,035
BIERIAEE Deferred tax assets 16 91,834 243,463
BEVE BEMZEUKTEE Deposits for acquisition of property, plant
THMIES and equipment and leasehold land 136,158 292,566
TEHIRITIF X Fixed bank deposits 19 - 1,577,055
HEMIEREEE Other non-current assets 3,522 2,955
6,733,665 7,443,777
RBEE Current Assets
FE Inventories 17 504,209 377,380
E 5 R E MR MRIE Trade and other receivables 18 667,877 682,869
Al B TSR Income tax recoverable 118,491 102,705
N Amount due from immediate holding
R E B EIR A B FKIE company 26 22,697 22,192
Amount due from intermediate holding
JE U R PR AR R B3R IR company 26 - 742
EHIRITIE Fixed bank deposits 19 4,946,590 2,297,391
RERBEEEY Cash and cash equivalents 19 5,700,765 2,074,698
11,960,629 5,557,977
mENEE Current Liabilities
B 5 R E MR FRIE Trade and other payables 21 3,718,714 5,022,065
ARAaE Contract liabilities 22 193,338 139,355
RITEIR — —FARZIH Bank borrowing - due within one year 23 6,035 -
FET AR R 5RIE Amounts due to shareholders 26 2,370,394 1,931
FET R REAR A RIRIE Amount due to intermediate holding company 26 - 1,158
FERTETIS R Income tax payable 19,444 7,670
HEalE - —FREH Lease liabilities — due within one year 24 14,107 16,178
6,322,032 5,188,357
RBEEFE Net Current Assets 5,638,597 369,620
HEERRBARE Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 12,372,262 7,813,397
EARRGHE Capital and Reserves
A&7 Share capital 25 8 7
B Reserves 11,300,368 6,903,051
RNEIER AEEER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 11,300,376 6,903,058
R Non-controlling interests 560,898 469,715
A Total Equity 11,861,274 7,372,773
FRBEE Non-current Liabilities
FERTARR RIE — FERED Amounts due to shareholders — non-current 26 131,579 -
BEXERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities 16 201,226 310,072
RITIER — —F 125 H Bank borrowing — due after one year 23 11,148 =
HEBE - —F1EEH Lease liabilities — due after one year 24 25,388 19,811
RIEYA Deferred income 20 141,647 110,741
510,988 440,624
12,372,262 7,813,397

F108E 208 EM A HI B3Rz M 20253 A
2T REEESHERERETI YA TE
EREZE

SRR
ZHANG Weitong
B=%

Director

The consolidated financial statements on pages 108 to 208 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 21

March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by:

RE
WU Xia
5%

Director
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SHERSER
CONSOLIDATED STATEME

7 2024 5 12 A 31 B AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

NT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

LS PN
Attributable to owners of the Company

RE  BOEE EARE  ENRR  RENHE N FERES gt

ARBTR ARBTR ARETT ARBTR ARMTR ARETR AR¥TR ARETR

Non-
Share Share  Capital Exchange Retained controlling
capital premium  reserve  reserve profits ~ Sub-total interests Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB000
(GED) (Hiztb)
(notea) (note b)
#2023%1R18 At 1 January 2023 7 - 500,000  (19,622) 5,093380 5,573,765 322,013 5,895,778
ERFIE Profit for the year = = = - 1329341 1,329,341 2,029 1,331,370
EXER Exchange differences - - - (48) - (48) - (48)

Total comprehensive (expense) income for
Fhis (A WEEE  theyear

= = = (48) 1,329,341 1,329,293 2,029 1,331,322

WEEF AR (MEE28) Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28)
Capital contribution of subsidiaries from
FEREZAFAAMEE  non-controllinginterest

B . = - - = 83,983 83,983

= = 61,690 61,690

7 - 500,000  (19,670) 6,422,721 6,903,058 469,715 7,372,773

R2023E 128318 At 31 December 2023

FAHE Profit for the year - - - - 1,636,694 1,636,694 24,145 1,660,839
EHES Exchange differences - - - 47,002 - 47,092 - 47,02
FREANGESE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 47,092 1,636,694 1,683,786 24,145 1,707,931

R a] (MiEE28) Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 28)
BRAREEREIRG  Issue of shares upon the initial public

(DERERSR) offering (including the over-allotment of
(GESY) shares) (note 25)
Dividend declared to shareholders of the
AAAARRERRE Company

Distributions to non-controlling
PEFFAREERRR  shareholder of a subsidiary

69,920 69,920

1 5,213,531 = = - 5213532 - 5,213,532

(2,500,000)  (2,500,000) - (2,500,000

- = = - - - (2,882) (2,882)

120248128318 At 31 December 2024

8 5,213,531 500,000 27,422 5,559,415 11,300,376 560,898 11,861,274

BEE - Notes:

(a) BARBEADA-ZIBRRR20MFIANEIL ()
BEAXR -

(b) M2024%12A8318  :tAREFBEREER ()
BiEE A AR 930,558,000 (20234 : AR
828,432,0007T) ° AT BEAFEFIBRBARRPEA
RAME ([HRE]) EZRZERFEKRIHTARNE
NFFHBEERENGHE  BEEECRBEEEE TR
Al EARH50% o RAREERETBIESIEME
O EEBBEETERD

EBHHE (BR) BRAH

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

Capital reserve represented the additional paid up capital injected by a former
shareholder of the Company in 2011.

Amounts of RMB930,558,000 of statutory surplus reserve are included in
the retained profits as at 31 December 2024 (2023: RMB828,432,000). The
statutory surplus reserve represents the amount transferred from net profit for
the year of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”) in accordance with the relevant PRC laws until the statutory surplus
reserve reaches 50% of the registered capital of the subsidiaries. The statutory
surplus reserve cannot be reduced except either use to set off the accumulated
losses or increase capital.



EHEERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BZ 2024 5 12 A 31 HLLFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20235
2024 2023
BsE ARBTRT AREFT
NOTE RMB’000 RMB’000
MRS OPERATING ACTIVITIES
iFF&H‘J FE Profit before taxation 2,223,694 1,878,433
HATRENFE Adjustments for:
FBUA Interest income (167,520) (193,579)
BATER AR Finance costs 2,441 42516
ARRBEFEAAZEHFALEME  Investment income from financial assets at fair
m (AR EEFEAEZS)IA  value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)
?E?EIH%EED B8 Bl E E IR E B (18,721) (63,551)
BHEEHREX THRERSE (0 Impairment losses under expected credit loss
BRIEE) model, net of reversal 1,178 3,817
ME - BERRETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 545,175 440,107
FHRREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 30,117 23,737
HAhIEREN & 3 Amortisation of other non-current assets 532 537
HEWE - BERSENER Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 13,567 13,840
DEGRREENE: 5] Amortisation of government grants (17,199) (17,508)
BB RERERENTIE Reversal of long outstanding payables (731) (10,906)
?ﬁfﬂﬂ%?ﬂﬂﬁﬂﬂl% Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary (5,442) =
EEACEHNLLERENE Operating cash flows before movements in working
capital 2,607,091 2,117,443
78 (&) md (Increase) decrease in inventories (105,435) 210,740
B 5 K E oY RIER L (35h0) Decrease (increase) in trade and other receivables 309,276 (62,821)
ARAaEENCR) Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities 53,922 (107,305)
B 5 R E MR FRIER D Decrease in trade and other payables (937,119) (19,829)
KETFBREHS Cash generated from operations 1,927,735 2,138,228
BEFER Income taxes paid (534,705) (420,045)
BEEBDFRRL IR NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 1,393,030 1,718,183
KEEE INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BIFIS Interest received 66,849 121,266
HEURAEENEBEZETAE  Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at
HEZNEBREENEIE FVTPL 11,868,721 5,863,551
HEYE | B RBRENFEZIE  Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and
equipment 20,145 8,450
BENAAEEFEEEEZETAE  Purchases of financial assets at FVTPL
HEZNeBEE (11,850,000) (5,800,000)
BEME  BEREE Purchases of property, plant and equipment (1,980,871) (2,250,873)
BEFHAELE Purchases of right-of-use assets (3,129) (60,867)
BEHMIERDEE Purchases of other non-current assets (1,099) (423)
WEEFRARIMR S RA TR Net cash inflow from acquisitions of subsidiaries 28 (150,923) -
REBZFARIRER Repayment from fellow subsidiaries - 3,551,429
TH&U? JERRB=EAMTHRIT Placement of fixed bank deposits with original
Fx maturity over three months (2,500,000) (4,233,569)
}EEXF?'}'JEQ BB =AAMNTEERT Withdrawal of fixed bank deposits with original
F= maturity over three months 1,508,569 710,585
U | B 7 AR R B BT B Receipt of government grants relating to assets 48,105 -
KEZSMAR S FE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES (2,973,633) (2,090,451)
“ENFFR
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BOHRERER

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

£ 2024 F 12 A 31 HLLEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BZE12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEEE FINANCING ACTIVITIES
EMRITIE R Additions of bank borrowings 48,606 5,900,000
BRIEBITER Repayment of bank borrowings (31,458) (5,900,000)
BT S as Proceeds from issue of shares 5,298,410 -
EERREERRA Repayment to intermediate holding company (416) (6)
BEFRAIFFERIE Repayment to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary (45,691) -
BEREARE Repayment of lease liabilities (20,101) (17,027)
BEARFLS Interest paid (2,406) (42,516)
BREITHRE Issue costs paid (83,829) (1,049)
DT F R B Distributions to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary (2,882) -
BEEBG (FTA) R FH NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 5,160,233 (60,598)
BeRBLEEMENCRD) NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
FER EQUIVALENTS 3,579,630 (432,866)
FHHBEL RREEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF
THE YEAR 2,074,698 2,507,631
SNEE RSB R Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 46,437 (67)
FRES R EEMETE  BRUATER TOTAL CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
THE YEAR, REPRESENTED BY
REPFRLEZEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,700,765 2,074,698

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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B Z 2024 5 12 A 31 HLLFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

GENERAL INFORMATION

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
(the “Company”) is a British Virgin Islands (“BVI”) business
company with limited liability incorporated on 4 July
1995 and was re-domiciled from the BVI to the Cayman
Islands on 16 April 2024. The shares of the Company
have been listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited with effect from 23 October 2024. Its immediate
holding company is CRH (Beverage) Limited (incorporated
in the BVI) and the directors of the Company consider the
ultimate holding company to be China Resources Company
Limited, a company established in the People’s republic of
China (“PRC”).

The address of the registered office of the Company
is 4th Floor, Harbour Place, P.O. Box 10240, Grand
Cayman KY1-1002, Cayman Islands and principal place
of business of the Company is High-tech Industrial Park
(North District), No. 22 Langshan Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, PRC.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
Its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in manufacturing
and distribution of packaged drinking water, and the
particulars of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in
note 35.

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars
(*HK$”). The Group’s revenue and cash flows are primarily
generated from the operation of manufacturing and
distribution of packaged drinking water of the subsidiaries
of which the functional currency is RMB. In order to reduce
the impact of foreign exchange movements on reported
results so as to better reflect the underlying performance
of the Group, the consolidated financial statements are
presented in RMB.
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Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7

EAVEHREEAE 10 KB B SHEA

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

The Group has consistently applied all the new and
amendments to HKFRSs and interpretations issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(*HKICPA”) which are effective for the accounting periods
beginning on January 1, 2024.

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet
effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not
yet effective:

SRITAS BRI EMEE]?

Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Finance
Arrangements®

BEEREBENFRAEE R HNEELEHTE

£ 285% (B3] A) Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or
Amendments to HKFRS 10 Joint Venture'
and HKAS 28

R BREEYNSFHER (BRTAK)
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting
Standards

BERVBHRELE G EUNFEUE — F111/1°

Annual Improvement to HKFRS Accounting Standards -Volume 112

EREFENE 215 (BETA) TR AT AR 2

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability?

BRMBIMELRE 1855 BT ER 0 2 M S e FR

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements*

1 RNETEHK 2 EHBRNEEH/ A 1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
B o determined.

2 R2025F1 A1 B2 BRI FEEH 2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.
PR o

3 R2026F1 A1 B2 BRI EEH 3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.
PR

4 R2027F1 A1 B2 BRI FEEH 4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

REAERK -

B T Pl &8 B 15 3RS E R B AT
RO RRABEZTRHEAELIMG
HELERAAEMET ARG T EER
BERHKRE S HMBERREKRNEX

B/ 48R
o7

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned
below, the directors of the Company anticipate that the
application of all other amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements in the foreseeable future.

EWEE (ZR) BRAF
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 Presentation of Financial Statements. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in
the financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1
paragraphs have been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7.
Minor amendments to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows
and HKAS 33 Earnings per Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is not expected to have material impact
on the financial position of the Group but is expected
to affect the presentation of the statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income and consolidated
statement of cash flows and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of
assessing the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial
statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information
is considered material if such information is
reasonably expected to influence decisions made
by primary users. In addition, the consolidated
financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited and by the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements,
a reasonable expectation that the Group has
adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they
continue to adopt the going concern basis of
accounting in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information
Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and
entities controlled by the Company and its
subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the

Company:
. has power over the investee;
. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns

from its involvement with the investee; and

. has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls
an investee if facts and circumstances indicate
that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.
Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary
acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date of the
Group gains control until the date when the Group
ceases to control the subsidiary.
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3.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owner of the Company
and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries or business
is attributed to the owner of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s
accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in
full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are
presented separately from the Group’s equity
therein, which represent present ownership
interests entitling their holders to a proportionate
share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Business combinations or asset acquisitions
Optional concentration test

The Group can elect to apply an optional
concentration test, on a transaction-by-transaction
basis, that permits a simplified assessment of
whether an acquired set of activities and assets
is not a business. The concentration test is met if
substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets
acquired is concentrated in a single identifiable
asset or group of similar identifiable assets. The
gross assets under assessment exclude cash and
cash equivalents, deferred tax assets, and goodwill
resulting from the effects of deferred tax liabilities.
If the concentration test is met, the set of activities
and assets is determined not to be a business and
no further assessment is needed.

Asset acquisitions

When the Group acquires a group of assets and
liabilities that do not constitute a business, the
Group identifies and recognises the individual
identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
by allocating the purchase price first to identifiable
assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative
fair values at the date of purchase. Such a
transaction does not give rise to goodwill or bargain
purchase gain.
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3.

_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations

A business is an integrated set of activities and
assets which includes an input and a substantive
process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs. The acquired processes
are considered substantive if they are critical to
the ability to continue producing outputs, including
an organised workforce with the necessary skills,
knowledge, or experience to perform the related
processes or they significantly contribute to the
ability to continue producing outputs and are
considered unique or scarce or cannot be replaced
without significant cost, effort, or delay in the ability
to continue producing outputs.

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for
using the acquisition method. The consideration
transferred in a business combination is measured
at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the
equity interests issued by the Group in exchange
for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related
costs are generally recognised in profit or loss as
incurred.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities
assumed must meet the definitions of an asset and
a liability in the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting (the “Conceptual Framework”) except for
transactions and events within the scope of HKAS
37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent
Assets or HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 Levies, in which the
Group applies HKAS 37 or HK (IFRIC)-Int 21 instead
of the Conceptual Framework to identify the
liabilities it has assumed in a business combination.
Contingent assets are not recognised.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed are recognised
at their fair value, except that:

. deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets
or liabilities related to employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured
in accordance with HKAS 12 Income Taxes
and HKAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;
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3. EGHUBERERNVFEREEFLE 3. BASISOF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

REFBUER (&) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 EXRGTHERER (F) 3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)

EBEHEENE (&) Business combinations or asset acquisitions

(Continued)

EBEOF(E Business combinations (Continued)

. B B 7 DARR 1 B B . liabilities or equity instruments related
M R PR A E to share-based payment arrangements
AR S 7T AR of the acquiree or share-based payment
RERONRZHEMmE] arrangements of the Group entered into to
S E AR BER A replace share-based payment arrangements
REYBHE BENE of the acquiree are measured in accordance
m TR DHREBEEAEH with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
TS E LR 258 LUK acquisition date (see the accounting policy
17 BERB A UEE below);

HEstE2 (2B TXg
TR

. RIBEBEM B @REER . assets (or disposal groups) that are classified
EORFFEL ERFETE as held for sale in accordance with HKFRS
BEEROCKILEEE 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and
BoERBELENE Discontinued Operations are measured in
E (B ER) REZE accordance with that standard; and
AlFtE &

. HEEERFNSRESR . lease liabilities are recognised and measured
F(EERRBAMBR at the present value of the remaining lease
SXERIFE 165 E) Y payments (as defined in HKFRS 16 Leases)
REBANGTE - BHO as if the acquired leases were new leases
WA ER W B at the acquisition date, except for leases
RS - HE()EHR for which (a) the lease term ends within 12
UWEE B HA1Z 1218 A R4 months of the acquisition date; or (b) the
R (o) EAEERE underlying asset is of low value. Right-of-use
BEMNEERI o FH assets are recognised and measured at
BEEREEFEEESR the same amount as the relevant lease
BRI S RERER KA liabilities, adjusted to reflect favourable
B WETRABRARE or unfavourable terms of the lease when
35 658 Fl g T F compared with market terms.

RS 155K
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Business combinations or asset acquisitions
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum
of the consideration transferred, the amount of
any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and
the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after
re-assessment, the net amount of the identifiable
assets acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the
sum of the consideration transferred, the amount
of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree
and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously
held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognised immediately in profit or loss as a bargain
purchase gain.

Non-controlling interests that are present
ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of the relevant subsidiary’s
net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’
proportionate share of the recognised amounts
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets or at fair
value.

Investment in a subsidiary

Investment in a subsidiary is stated in the
statement of financial position of the Company at
cost less any identified impairment loss.
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3.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets
that are held for use in the production or supply of
goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress as described
below). Property, plant and equipment are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at
cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Buildings and machinery in the course
of construction for production, supply or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less
any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to
the location and condition necessary for it to be
capable of operating in the manner intended by
management and, for qualifying assets, borrowing
costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policy. Depreciation of these assets,
on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both
leasehold land and building elements, the entire
consideration is allocated between the leasehold
land and the building elements in proportion to
the relative fair values at initial recognition. To
the extent the allocation of the relevant payments
can be made reliably, interest in leasehold land
is presented as “right-of-use assets” in the
consolidated statement of financial position. When
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably
between non-lease building element and undivided
interest in the underlying leasehold land, the entire
properties are classified as property, plant and
equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the
cost of property, plant and equipment (other
than construction in progress) less their residual
values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives
and depreciation method are reviewed at the end
of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective
basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in
profit or loss.
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_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when
“control” of the goods or services underlying the
particular performance obligation is transferred to
the customer.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is
recognised over time by reference to the progress
towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation if one of the following
criteria is met:

. the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the
Group’s performance as the Group performs;

. the Group’s performance creates or
enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

. the Group’s performance does not create an
asset with an alternative use to the Group
and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the distinct
good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for
which the Group has received consideration (or an
amount of consideration is due) from the customer.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Variable consideration

For contracts that contain variable consideration
sales volume rebates, the Group estimates the
amount of consideration to which it will be entitled
using the most likely amount, which better predicts
the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is
included in the transaction price only to the extent
that it is highly probable that such an inclusion will
not result in a significant revenue reversal in the
future when the uncertainty associated with the
variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
updates the estimated transaction price (including
updating its assessment of whether an estimate
of variable consideration is constrained) to
represent faithfully the circumstances present at
the end of the reporting period and the changes in
circumstances during the reporting period.

Sale with a right of return

For a sale of products with a right of return for
dissimilar products, the Group recognises all of the
following:

. revenue for the transferred products in the
amount of consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled (therefore, revenue
would not be recognised for the products
expected to be returned);

. a refund liability; and

. an asset (and corresponding adjustment to
cost of sales) for its right to recover products
from customers and are presented as right to
returned goods asset.
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_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-current assets
other than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of property, plant
and equipment, right-of-use assets and other
non-current assets with finite useful lives to
determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If
any such indication exists, the recoverable amount
of the relevant asset is estimated in order to
determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any).

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the
risks specific to the asset (or a cash-generating
unit (“CGU")) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
(if applicable) and then to the other assets on a
pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of
each asset in the unit or the group of CGUs. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment,
right-of-use assets and other non-current assets
other than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset (or CGU or the
group of CGUs) is increased to the revised estimate
of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU or the group of CGUs) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories comprises
direct materials and, where applicable, direct labour
costs and those overheads that have been incurred
in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost of inventories are determined
on a weighted average method. Net realisable
value represents the estimated selling price for
inventories less all estimated costs of completion
and costs necessary to make the sale.

Leases

The Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under
HKFRS 16 at inception of the contract. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms
and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

B NEER
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

129



130

BRI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3.

EHUBRRNEREERE
REFTEE (&)

3.2

EXSFTBERESR (&)
HE (%)

A& ERAEA
MHEEREEEEERE

AEEH MK A HEFEE
HAT_EAKUTEETE
cREEEEE HET W RE
FTHRARDHERERH# R - K
SETHEEBEEEHEERA
RHL - EHEEREEE
BEHENHEENRIIRESR
NIZBEREERRFX -

EREEE
ERAREENRABE

. HEaBENntEs
L

. RFE B sk 2 B P {E
MEABEEMNK B
PSRV (A T & 22 -

156 M & EE HR A AN R 1] R 5T
FENREREBE - WHE
EREMNTAEMNEFELH

%go

HAKEAEEEEHENE
mERSHEREEEENHEA
- RIEREEESRK A
FE 2 A 6 P 4R HAJE i LR AR T
E-BR EREEEREG
SAEAFHEERNRES
NBEAOEINE -

AEBERE Gt BN K AR
ERREEZ)IREFAR -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

3.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to leases of land and buildings that
have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. It also applies the recognition exemption
for lease of low-value assets. Lease payments on
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets
are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use assets includes:

. the amount of the initial measurement of
lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease
incentives received;

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease
liabilities.

Right-of-use assets in which the Group is
reasonably certain to obtain ownership of the
underlying leased assets at the end of the lease
term are depreciated from commencement date to
the end of the useful life. Otherwise, right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over
the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease
term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a
separate line item on the consolidated statement of
financial position.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group
recognises and measures the lease liability at the
present value of lease payments that are unpaid
at that date. In calculating the present value of
lease payments, the Group uses the incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement date if
the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments
(including in-substance fixed payments) less any
lease incentives receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are
adjusted by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group remeasures lease liabilities (and makes
a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-
use assets) whenever the lease term has changed in
which case the related lease liability is remeasured
by discounting the revised lease payments using a
revised discount rate at the date of reassessment.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each
individual group entity, transactions in currencies
other than the functional currency of that entity
(foreign currencies) are recognised at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of each reporting period,
monetary items denominated in foreign currencies
are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement
of monetary items, and on the retranslation of
monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in
the period in which they arise.

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a
disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a foreign
operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over
a subsidiary that includes a foreign operation), all of
the exchange differences accumulated in equity in
respect of that operation attributable to the owners
of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a
subsidiary that does not result in the Group losing
control over the subsidiary, the proportionate
share of accumulated exchange differences are
re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are
not recognised in profit or loss.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there
is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply
with the conditions attaching to them and that the
grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss
on a systematic basis over the periods in which the
Group recognises as expenses the related costs
for which the grants are intended to compensate.
Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current
assets are recognised as deferred income in the
consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and
rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets.

Government grants related to income that are
receivable as compensation for expenses or
losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognised in profit or loss
in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefit costs and termination benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement
benefit plans/state-managed retirement benefit
schemes/the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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3.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be
paid as and when employees rendered the services.
All short-term employee benefits are recognised
as an expense unless another HKFRS requires or
permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to
employees (such as wages and salaries, annual
leave and sick leave) after deducting any amount
already paid.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
taxation because of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and items that
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability
for current tax is calculated using tax rates that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities in the consolidated financial statements
and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally
recognised for all deductible temporary differences
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits
will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised
if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting
profit and at the time of the transaction does not
give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences. In addition, deferred tax liabilities are
not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference
and it is probable that the temporary difference
will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the
temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.
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3.

_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the
period in which the liability is settled or the asset is
realised, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and
assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects,
at the end of each reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for
leasing transactions in which the Group recognises
the right-of-use assets and the related lease
liabilities, the Group first determines whether the
tax deductions are attributable to the right-of-use
assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group
applies HKAS 12 requirements to the lease
liabilities and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to
lease liabilities to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised
and a deferred tax liability for all taxable temporary
differences.
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when
there is a legally enforceable right to set off current
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when
they relate to income taxes levied to the same
taxable entity by the same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit
or loss, except when they relate to items that
are recognised in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity, in which case, the current
and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity
respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax
arises from the initial accounting for a business
combination, the tax effect is included in the
accounting for the business combination.

In assessing any uncertainty over income tax
treatments, the Group considers whether it is
probable that the relevant tax authority will accept
the uncertain tax treatment used, or proposed
to be use by individual group entities in their
income tax filings. If it is probable, the current and
deferred taxes are determined consistently with
the tax treatment in the income tax filings. If it is
not probable that the relevant taxation authority
will accept an uncertain tax treatment, the effect
of each uncertainty is reflected by using either the
most likely amount or the expected value.
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_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are
recognised when a group entity becomes a party
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. All
regular way purchases or sales of financial assets
are recognised and derecognised on a settlement
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are
purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established
by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are
initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15
Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“HKFRS
15”). Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities are added to or deducted from
the fair value of the financial assets or financial
liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or
financial liability and of allocating interest income
over the relevant periods. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees
paid or received that form an integral part of the
effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life
of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying
amount on initial recognition.



BRI R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

EHUBRRNEREERE
REFTEE (&)

3.2

BERSHBEREN (&)
SRTA (&)
TRHEE

ERMBEEZDRRRETS

ARt zemEERR
HEESHP AT E

. RESREE ZEBE
B BKERE RRE

mnE &

. B RGRNE T BHE
EZREREMERX
NAERREEAEZ
FE o

PMEEMEREERKIISR
UNAREBEAEAEZEHFA
EMBERAFE - HZ
BRARERTEHIEES
NTRBEEERBAEHKE
(BB BHREELSE
BWMEKEH) PHEABHHA
HE - MESREENRER
B - AN ERE TR R
BERERNEMES WaET
BRAKREN A EBEZS -

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial

assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business
model whose objective is to collect
contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal
amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently
measured at FVTPL, except that at initial recognition
of a financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in fair value of an
equity investment in other comprehensive income
if that equity investment is neither held for trading
nor contingent consideration recognised by an
acquirer in a business combination to which HKFRS
3 Business Combinations applies.
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3.

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost. Interest income is
calculated by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit-impaired. For financial assets
that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If
the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate
to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following
the determination that the asset is no longer
credit-impaired.



BRI R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

EHUBRRNEREERE
REFTEE (&)

3.2

BERSHBEREN (&)
ERTA (&)
LREE (&)

NAREEFEAHZHT ALY
ERNeREE

TREERBIERASIARAE
Bt2 AHEHT AR MES
uﬁl (TAAnBEFZAE
“““““ T AHAERE W ]) g
Z%J//\Qﬁfaffﬁafgﬂﬁﬁ@
FFAHMZE KRN TEEN S
BEE  BUAREEEAR
Hesar A HERN TG

EO

WARBEFSEBHEHTA
EHERTENESMEENS
WERRRAABENZE M
EAAAEBEEKESEENR
BEPER - RNERPERN
FRESIEBRTREeREE
B AR B SRS - WET
AEE [ EAU A 4518
BA -

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or fair value
through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or loss
excludes any dividend or interest earned on the
financial asset and is included in the “other income”
line item in profit or loss.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL”) model on financial
assets (including trade and other receivables,
amounts due from intermediate holding company,
immediate holding company and bank balances and
cash) which are subject to impairment assessment
under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is updated at
each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk
since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result
from all possible default events over the expected
life of the relevant instrument. In contrast,
12-month ECL (“12m ECL”) represents the portion of
lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default
events that are possible within 12 months after the
reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of both the
current conditions at the reporting date as well as
the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables (including trade related amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries).
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, in which case the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether
lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on
significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.

(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition, the Group compares the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including
historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue
cost or effort.

“ENFEFR
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

143



144

B ORI BRI

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

3. AOHUBEBRNEREERE 3.
REFTEE (&)

3.2 EXSFBEREHR (&)
SR TA (&)
SEREE (&)

ARBE B RS ERIE MR
MEFHER SR EERNRIE (&)

(i) EERBREE LT (&)
ARgmE @ FAEEER
RELEE LIRS

BATER

. SR T AHNE
(A) HAEE
RS ERSL
EMmEERL

. EERBRIINB
MIGEERESR
& fIanEBA
MEESE 7
P2 K= HIE%
BE LT

IS ILE Bk TE
HIA A7 &
BRI EBER
ABEEEMEE
NBEETRE

EfRFAMEE
=

. EBABES
SR TR
BEBREHY
& ATFIE
AR AR
B N
T -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
In particular, the following information is
taken into account when assessing whether
credit risk has increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial
instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

. significant deterioration in external
market indicators of credit risk, e.g.
a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices
for the debtor;

. existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause
a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results
of the debtor;

. an actual or expected significant
adverse change in the regulatory,
economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that
results in a significant decrease in
the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.
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3.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that
the credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past
due, unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information that demonstrates
otherwise.

The Group regularly monitors the
effectiveness of the criteria used to identify
whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate
to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk
before the amount becomes past due.

(i1) Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the
Group considers an event of default occurs
when information developed internally or
obtained from external sources indicates
that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking
into account any collaterals held by the
Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group
considers that default has occurred when
a financial asset is more than 90 days past
due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iii)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when

one or more events of default that have a

detrimental impact on the estimated future

cash flows of that financial asset have

occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is

credit-impaired includes observable data

about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the
issuer or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default
or past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons
relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the
borrower a concession(s) that
the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the
borrower will enter bankruptcy or
other financial reorganisation.
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3.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2 Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

(iv)  Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has
been placed under liquidation or has entered
into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial
assets written off may still be subject to
enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account
legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any
subsequent recoveries are recognised in
profit or loss.

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data adjusted
by forward-looking information. Estimation
of ECL reflects an unbiased and probability-
weighted amount that is determined with
the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights. The Group uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking
into consideration historical credit loss
experience and forward looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.
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3. EGHUBERERNVFEREEFLE 3. BASISOF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

REFTEER () FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
3.2 EBEAREFHERER (E) 3.2  Material accounting policy information (Continued)
2HTAE) Financial instruments (Continued)
TEEE (&) Financial assets (Continued)
ARBEBMBHREEREITRIE Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
WETENETREERRE (&) assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)
(v) TEHEEEBENFER (v  Measurement and recognition of ECL
TR (&) (Continued)
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3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment

assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

v) Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)
Interest income is calculated based on the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset
unless the financial asset is credit impaired,
in which case interest income is calculated
based on amortised cost of the financial
asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain
or loss in profit or loss for all financial
instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and
other receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only
when the contractual rights to the cash flows from
the asset expire, or when it transfers the financial
asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or
loss.
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[0 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

3.2

Material accounting policy information (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments
issued by the Company are recognised at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities of the Group (including trade
and other payables, amounts due to shareholders,
amount due to intermediate holding company and
bank borrowing) are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities
when, and only when, the Group’s obligations
are discharged, cancelled or have expired.
The difference between the carrying amount
of the financial liability derecognised and the
consideration paid and payable is recognised in

profit or loss.
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are
required to make judgments, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates
and underlying assumptions are based on historical
experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised
if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of
the revision and future periods if the revision affects both
current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the
future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at
the end of the reporting period that may have a significant
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next twelve
months.

Provision of ECL for trade receivables

The Group estimates the amount of loss allowance
for ECL on trade receivables that are measured at
amortised cost based on their respective credit risks. The
measurement of ECL requires the application of significant
judgment which include the expected future cash flows
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors. The loss
allowance amount is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of
estimated future cash flows with the consideration of
expected future credit loss of the respective financial
instrument. The assessment of the credit risk of the
respective financial instrument involves high degree of
estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash
flows are less than expected or more than expected,
a material impairment loss or a material reversal of
impairment loss may arise, accordingly.
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_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

4,

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

Provision of ECL for trade receivables (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables are RMB255,253,000 (2023: RMB230,704,000)
net of allowance of RMB36,765,000 (2023: RMB36,622,000).

Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

In applying the accounting policy on property, plant and
equipment with respect to depreciation, management
estimates the useful lives of various categories of
property, plant and equipment according to the
industrial experiences over the usage of property, plant
and equipment and also by reference to the relevant
industrial norm. If the actual or expected useful lives of
property, plant and equipment is less than the original
estimate useful lives or revision of estimated useful
lives due to changes in commercial and technological
environment, such difference will impact the depreciation
charge for the remaining period. As at 31 December
2024, the carrying amounts of property, plant and
equipment was approximately RMB5,923,500,000 (2023:
RMB4,809,703,000).

Deferred tax asset

The realisability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends
on whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where
the actual future profits generated are less than or more
than expected, a reversal or a recognition of deferred tax
assets would be recognised in profit or loss in the year
in which such a reversal or recognition takes place. As
at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of deferred
tax assets was approximately RMB91,834,000 (2023:
RMB243,463,000).
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Revenue represents the amounts received and receivable
from sale of packaged drinking water and beverages net of
return and allowance for both years.

NG Disaggregation of revenue
HZ12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EmESE Types of goods
SHE B AIK Sales of packaged drinking water 12,124,048 12,446,560
SHE R Sales of beverages 1,397,198 1,068,168
&5t Total 13,521,246 13,514,728
LON AT Timing of revenue recognition
PR — SRR At a point in time 13,521,246 13,514,728

W5

AREEEI9% KU A I & B I 28 3K
BURTFERENES - BAKER
VNHFERDEE (TEETHMEE
FARERR A ) it B AR -

EFERNENER

AEREREMEHREEBERFE
(EREREXRNERTFIRE LI
) BRWA - AEEERETER
REEZES - HAKBRINEmATK
Bize  AENARMERELRR
BB EEMEEARERNKAR
BREEHE -

MorEmMHESRREFPIRILREE
FHESTN - MELRZHE -

Geographical markets

Over 99% of the Group’s revenue and operating profits are
derived from customers based in Mainland China, and over
99% of the Group’s non-current assets other than financial
assets and deferred tax assets were located in Mainland
China.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

The Group recognises the revenue at a point in time when
the control of products is transferred to the customer,
i.e. when the goods have been placed at or delivered to
customer’s specific location. The Group requires certain
customers to provide deposits. When the Group receives
a deposit before delivery of goods, this will give rise to
contract liabilities at the start of a contract, until the
revenue recognised on the specific contract exceeds the
amount of the deposit.

Some contracts for the sale of goods provide customers
with rights of return and sales volume rebates, which give
rise to variable consideration.
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_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Rights of return

For contracts which provide a customer with a right of
return the goods within a specified period, the expected
value method is used to estimate the goods that will not be
returned because this method best predicts the amount of
variable consideration to which the Group will be entitled.
The requirements in HKFRS 15 on constraining estimates
of variable consideration are applied in order to determine
the amount of variable consideration that can be included
in the transaction price. The amount of sales return is
insignificant to the Group during both years.

Variable consideration: sales volume rebates

There are different single volume thresholds as agreed
with different customers and set out in the corresponding
sales contracts. The sales volume rebates are determined
based on different input factors, including single volume
threshold and unit rebate set out in the corresponding
sales contract, and sales volume achieved during the year.
To estimate the variable consideration for the expected
sales volume rebates, the most likely amount method is
used for contracts with a single volume threshold. The
selected method that best predicts the amount of variable
consideration is primarily driven by the number of volume
thresholds contained in the contract. The requirements
on constraining estimates of variable consideration are
applied and a liability for the expected sales volume
rebates is recognised.

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The performance obligation under the contract for the
sales of packaged drinking water and beverages has
original expected duration of less than one year and as
permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price allocated
to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Segment information

For the purpose of resources allocation and performance
assessment, the chief operating decision maker (“CODM”)
reviews the overall results and financial position of the
Group as a whole prepared based on same accounting
policies set out in note 3. Therefore, the management
considers that the Group only has one operating segment.

Segment assets and liabilities

No assets and liabilities are included in the measures
of the Group’s segment reporting that are used by the
CODM. Accordingly, no segment assets and liabilities are
presented.

Information about major customers

There was no customer who accounted for over 10% of the
total revenue of the Group during both years.

HAg A OTHER INCOME
HBZ12A3181LEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
NN Interest income
— RITEXK ! - bank deposits 167,520 178,740
— [RIRAE T BRI E X - loans to related parties - 14,839
DURAREBEFEAREEEHE A  Investment income from financial assets at
EHEEMNSMEENIRE  FVIPL
WA 18,721 63,551
ESEEEV ) Government grants (note) 60,650 61,264
Bl B M EHEHE Sales of recycled packaging materials 37,077 30,556
Hth Others 5,032 18,296
289,000 367,246
“E_NFEFR
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He A (&)
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REZE2024F12 A3 BLIEFE - BITHBHBE
TR B FhEL 5 A R VR 6 B A T U ER Y
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OTHER INCOME (CONTINUED)

Note:

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the government grants include
subsidies received to reward for the contribution by the subsidiaries
to the local economic growth amounting to RMB43,451,000 (2023:
RMB43,756,000) which was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss upon receipt of these rewards and the related conditions
associated with the rewards are met, if any. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

The remaining portion of government grants related to subsidies received
for the investments in production facilities in the PRC which were
recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the useful lives of relevant
assets as detailed in note 20.

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

HZ12A3MBLLEE
Year ended 31 December

2024 20234
2024 2023
ARETT AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEME  BE KRB Loss on disposal of property, plant and
E18)F 58 equipment, net (13,567) (13,840)
FERET LRSS Gain on bargain purchase of a subsidiary 5,442 =
B 34 W 2 F 58 Net foreign exchange gain 537 917
Hith Others (6,387) (1,699)
(13,975) (14,622)
BA R EL AN FINANCE COSTS
BZ12A31ALFE
Year ended 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR%T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IRITIE KA B Interest on bank borrowings (933) (41,053)
KB T R PEEARAR R Y Interest on loan from non-controlling
BRALE shareholder of a subsidiary (441) -
HEGEFR Interest on lease liabilities (1,067) (1,463)
(2,441) (42,516)

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

FR8BiB % 9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE
BZ12A31B1ILEE
Year ended 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BNERFRIA : Current tax:
R EATER PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT")
(TZEPRISH) (395,289) (409,117)
DB AR TEFOEL Withholding tax on distributed earnings (135,265) =
(530,554) (409,117)
BAFERETRE Under provision in the prior years (139) (2,156)
(530,693) (411,273)
EIERRIE (Hi3E16) Deferred tax (note 16) (32,162) (135,790)
(562,855) (547,063)

RREFEEAR  BRAEELBERE
BELEIREBEBNERMNE - 8%
EELEBNSV AR

RERBEBARBESNHRARRG -
AEBHANRBEBRBESBMNE
AFT1SHL -

RIE(PEARLEFMBESZEAMERE)
(TeEmBHE]) R(LEEMBHR
EEREAD)  PEFRARMNBRER
25%  RWMEFENETFRFE
BREAHRER20%N D EMEHE
%o

During both years, no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax
has been made as the Group does not have assessable
profit which arises in, or derived from, Hong Kong.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the BVI, the Group
is not subject to any income tax in the BVI.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the
“EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law,
the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except that
certain subsidiaries are eligible for preferential taxation of
paying EIT at a rate of 20% during both years.
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9. FEHMAX (&)

AEERERAXAZRATOAES
Prigas & H R & Yas & #O T B A1 B

9. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED)

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to
the profit before taxation per the consolidated statements

AR - of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as
follows:
BZE12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December
2024F 20234
2024 2023
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
HERIAHE Profit before taxation 2,223,694 1,878,433
BEFEFSIRRE25% Tax at the statutory income tax rate of 25%
AHERBIR 555,924 469,608
PLIIBE R AR T F A RIFTEHR Tax effect of income tax super deduction
BEERNNREEE granted to subsidiaries for research and
development costs (4,508) (5,766)
B M E AR SA  Taxeffect of expenses not deductible for tax
M2 purpose 12,787 10,082
IR S HANTKAR  Taxeffect of income not taxable for tax purpose
M E (17,159) -
AERRIEEENRIETE Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 3,233 2,307
BEFERETE Under provision in the prior years 139 2,156
BRI ARMERMIIIERR  Utilisation of tax losses previously not
recognised = (2,775)
TR (Fista) Withholding tax (note a) 12,439 71,451
SRR Income tax expense 562,855 547,063
B sE - Notes:
(a) RIFPBEMEMEREL - B2008F1 A (a) Under the PRC EIT law, withholding income tax is imposed on

1HE  BPETFARERNFEEIR
BV S RBMTRINFT ST - BAMRS
BEMHEDE% - ZERERMEFE
AFHE TR BEF R AR RS KA E D

BV TRINPTIS B -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

for both years.

 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

dividends declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries
from 1 January 2008 onwards and 5% dividend withholding tax rate
is applicable. The amount represents the withholding income tax
provided on the undistributed profits of certain PRC subsidiaries
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FRFE

10.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR
HZE12831BLLEE

Year ended 31 December

2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000

imﬂﬂi‘“ MR AT &IEE  Profit for the year has been arrived at after

1S : charging:
ﬁ?’éubﬁﬁﬁiﬁ’]ﬁ = A AN Cost of inventories recognition as an expense 7,027,630 7,394,539
1Z AN & Auditors’ remuneration 3,590 2,668
EEE Directors’ remuneration 6,468 7,654
HEMETE i&ﬁfﬁ%&aﬂ Other staffs’ salaries and other benefits 1,861,012 1,825,147
EAth B TRIREFH K Other staff's retirement benefit contributions 268,086 245,144
B THEMA Total staff costs 2,135,566 2,077,945
W - BERERETE Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 545,175 440,107
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 30,117 23,737
BRE 11. DIVIDENDS

M20245F 4 F - RREIRIBELZ 2023
F12RA3MBNEHREFER L™
AR AERREIRREARE258T
(TREEIR])  M2024F108AKR
RIFEK ETRAER - BRIREEIRN
RATSERAEBE N EEE BN Z
MAF AN BRI S E IR AR S

RBEBMRE - NRRESEHEE
202412 A31 B I E R R E
BREFREMRARKE0.307 T K
RIS B L @R AREE0.1767T
weE A AR®1,158,329,0007T
BRERERERERREAS ERERT
BER -

N
/!

In April 2024, the Company declared a dividend of RMB2.5
billion to the existing shareholders prior to the listing
(“Dividend Declaration”) based on the consolidated
retained profits as of 31 December 2023, which became
effective upon the completion of the listing of the Company
in October 2024. Save for the Dividend Declaration, no
other dividend was paid or declared by the Company or the
group entities comprising the Group during both years.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final
dividend in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024
of RMBO0.307 per ordinary share and a special dividend of
RMBO0.176 per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount of
RMB1,158,329,000, has been proposed by the directors
of the Company and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming general meeting.
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

12. BRER 12.

AAREEARESRELRHER
FITYIRIRA TR & -

EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the
following data:

HZ12A31HILEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR%T T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B2 Earnings
Earnings for the purpose of basic and
RERTE ERER R E AR diluted earnings per share (profit for the
HZEFN (A ARESHEA A year attributable to equity owners of the
FE {5 4E PO FSES ) Company) 1,636,694 1,320,341
ROHE Number of shares
Rt EERERZFH Weighted average number of ordinary shares
LR T & for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,073,130,091 2,000,000,000
Effect of dilutive potential ordinary share
BT L B R R AR R over-allotment option of the initial public TEA
BRARBENTE offering 80,618 N/A
Weighted average number of ordinary shares
REsTEEREERAMNER for the purpose of diluted earnings per @A
PR ANt T 15 88 share 2,073,210,709 N/A

RETESREABFN L BREZ
TR MR 25 PR iR D IR AEE R
2023F 1 A1 BERMERE -

KEFE1F2023F12A31BILEE
MERBERT - AAZFEARET
VEAE LA o

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

The number of ordinary shares for the purpose of
basic earnings per share has been determined on the
assumption that the share subdivision as detailed in note
25 has been effective on 1 January 2023.

No diluted earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2023 was presented as there were no potential
ordinary shares in issue during the year.



13.

EEX - BETHABRETIN 13.

[k

REBER EMRAREECR A HF
) EEREHTRAENEENS

BRI R

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND

EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and the

WM : Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, is as follows:
] &N
EEne REVEAN HERE  EBAEA a3t
Salaries,
allowance
and Performance
Director’s benefits related Retirement
Fee in kind bonus benefit Total
ARETR AR®TR AR®Tn AR%Tn AR%Tr
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
#Z2024F12831A8 Year ended 31 December 2024
LHEE
HTES Executive directors
RMERSEAE (M) Mr. ZHANG Weitong (note i) - 1,566 571 133 2,270
B LA (BT Mr. LI Shuging (note i) - 580 - 75 655
KRB+ (M) Ms. WU Xia (note iii) - 691 - 86 777
BRLT (i) Ms. FENG Jing (note iv) - 965 1,379 106 2,450
= 3,802 1,950 400 6,152
FETES Non-executive directors
T/NESRE (FizEy) Mr. DING Xiaobing (note v) - - - - -
BEE T (FeEvi) Dr. ZHAO Dian (note vi) - - - - -
Bt (Matvil) Ms. CAO Yue (note vii) - - - - -
Fokaa i & (Msvii) Mr. SUN Yonggiang (note viii) - - - - -
MBI SE A (Bt REviil) Mr. LIN Guolong (note viii) - - - - -
HE A (fekviil) Mr. XIAQ Ning (note viii) - - - - -
BYFHTES Independent non-executive directors
Bk fEiE T (Hiaix) Dr. CHOW Wing Kin (note ix) 79 - - - 79
Z5| R 5EE (MEEix) Mr. LI Yinquan (note ix) 79 - - - 79
whFEL (faEix) Dr. YAO Yang (note ix) 79 - - - 79
)|+ (HiEix) Ms. CHENG Po Chuen (note ix) 79 - - - 79
316 - - - 316
316 3,802 1,950 400 6,468
#Z2023F12831A8 Year ended 31 December 2023
tHEE
HiTES Executive directors
RERSEAE (M) Mr. ZHANG Weitong (note i) - 1,566 2,688 129 4,383
BT (i) Ms. FENG Jing (note iv) - 1,361 1,755 155 3,271
- 2,927 4,443 284 7,654
FHTES Non-executive directors
TNESEE (MiFy) Mr. DING Xiaobing (note v) = - - - -
AL (BEEvi) Dr. ZHAQ Dian (note vi) - - - - -
HE Lt (Hisx) Ms. ZHUANG Lei (note x) - = = = =
Bt (fiaEvii) Ms. CAQ Yue (note vii) - - - - -
= 2,927 4,443 284 7,654
“ENFFR
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13. EEX - - BSTHABRETIHN

i <

M EE -

(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

(&)

REBBIAEREZMFANEERRARNK
BITHABRARAES - EXHHEE
M EEEEREITHRAERER
SEERESHRERBOMS - BR
2024F4A22 A AT AHITES - FH
202446 A25 R TN BETARRES
TBAS °

FRNE LA B 202446 A25 A#EIET
AARERITBAER * Wi2024F8 A
THEZTARARNTES -

REZLTN2024F4A22BEEZEA
ANARITES ©

BRI EN2024F 4 A22 BATBH
TEE > WiN2024E8 A7 HEHE -

T/NERAER2024F 4 21 BEHE ©

HEIE TR 2024F4 B228ATAIE
WITES -

B+ R2023F8 A10BERITA
AARESE  WHN2024F4A228H
ERIEMITES -

kg E MBEEEREELER
2024 F 4 A22 AR T ABIFRTES -

FAXEEL - 5 REE - EE LR
BT )| Z LR 202410 ASAERT
BARBBYLIFRITES -

HELZTMN2023F4 A28 B BT -

B IS TEAL Ty IR IR % R FF 0 Bl AR 3R
KMGBEET °

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

13.

DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S AND
EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Notes:

i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

(x)

Mr. ZHANG Weitong acts as chief executive of the Company and
a director of the Company for both years and his emoluments
disclosed above included those for services rendered by him as the
chief executive in management of the affairs of the group entities
and has been redesignated as an executive director on 22 April
2024. He no longer acted as chief executive of the Company since
25 June 2024.

Mr. LI Shuging acts as chief executive of the Company since 25
June 2024 and was appointed as an executive director of the
Company on 7 August 2024.

Ms. WU Xia was appointed as an executive director of the Company
on 22 April 2024.

Ms. FENG Jing was redesignated as an executive director on 22
April 2024 and resigned on 7 August 2024.

Mr. DING Xiaobing resigned on 21 April 2024.

Dr. ZHAO Dian was redesignated as a non-executive director on 22
April 2024.

Ms. CAO Yue was appointed as a director of the Company on 10
August 2023 and was redesignated as a non-executive director on
22 April 2024.

Mr. SUN Yonggiang, Mr. LIN Guolong and Mr. XIAO Ning were
appointed as non-executive directors on 22 April 2024.

Dr. CHOW Wing Kin, Mr. LI Yinquan, Dr. YAO Yang, and Ms. CHENG
Po Chuen were appointed as independent non-executive directors

of the Company on 8 October 2024.

Ms. ZHUANG Lei resigned on 28 April 2023.

The discretionary bonus is determined based on the

performance of individual and market trend for both years.



13.

BRI R
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

EE BETHAEREIHN 13. DIRECTORS’, CHIEF EXECUTIVE’'S AND
M€ (&) EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)
REE2024F12A31HILEFE - K During the year ended 31 December 2024, the five highest
SENAEEaTFWHATBERS paid individuals of the Group include two (2023: two)
(2023%F : MB)EF - ZFEEBA directors. The remunerations of the remaining individuals
THFMESIT during the year are set out below:
BZ12A31BILEE
Year ended 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
8T Employees
— ¥Hre REMETR - salaries and other benefits 2,889 3,188
— BRI RS — performance related bonus 4,371 4,737
— IRIKIE TSI 51 - contributions to retirement benefit scheme 437 439
7,697 8,364

HEONF T HIEENFERRAEEH
EaFME TAZNT

The number of the highest paid employees who are not the
directors of the Company whose remuneration fell within
the following bands is as follows:

HZ12A3MBLLEE
Year ended 31 December

1,000,001 7% 1,5600,000/#7C  HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 =
2,000,001 %72 2,500,000 7C  HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000 =
2,500,001 #7c£3,000,000#7C  HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000 2
3,000,001 &7LE 3,500,000 7  HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000 1
3,500,001 #7C% 4,000,000t  HKD3,500,001 to HKD4,000,000 =

AEEREATAEETRERESH
MAL (BREERET) FHEM N
EERBEMATEE L MAREE
& B ERED SR BER A (E  LESD - LA
FHE MEEZIRERTAHE -

No emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the
directors or the five highest paid individuals (including
directors and employees) as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office and
no directors waived any emoluments during both years.

B PEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

£ 2024 F 12 A 31 HLLEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

14. Y% BERRE 14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
KA #B
BF HEVES#E HEIER BERRE HBES RBARE &t
Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold Construction Plant and Motor  and office
Buildings improvements in progress machinery vehicles equipment Total
NS ARBTRE ARETn AR%Tn AR®Tr AR¥Tn AR%Tn
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000  RMB’000
A CosT
R2023F1A1H At 1 January 2023 1,157,511 28,633 156,346 2,121,277 38,773 431,682 3,934,222
= Additions - 7,830 2,758,966 393,388 4,453 8,920 3,173,557
WEETAREES  Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary - - 90,546 - - - 90,546
RE Disposals (1,412) (354) - (126,267) (3,117) (8942)  (140,092)
B Transfers 468,677 8,479 (1,196,399 682,374 5,668 31,201 -
EHEE Exchange difference - 15 - - 9 5 29
#2023 128318 At 31 December 2023 1,624,776 44,603 1,809,459 3,070,772 45,786 462,866 7,058,262
= Additions 13,618 16,299 1,010,110 404,782 1,126 14,476 1,460,411
WEFAFTEES  Acquired on acquisition
of a subsidiary 136,160 1,615 467 92,317 197 1,325 232,081
BE Disposals (1,384) (1,115) = (107,633) (2,290) (6,567)  (118,989)
BB Transfers 683,676 10,253 (2,426,150) 1,689,029 991 42,201 -
EHEE Exchange difference - 153 - - 25 42 220
R2024%12 8318 At 31 December 2024 2,456,846 71,808 393,886 5,149,267 45,835 514,343 8,631,985
ERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
R2023F1R1H At 1 January 2023 419,970 14,539 - 1,208,388 21,809 261,638 1,926,244
RENEHR Provided for the year 59,450 8,742 - 332,010 5,162 34,743 440,107
R SR EH Eliminated on disposals (308) (249) - (108,821) (2,775) (7,649)  (117,802)
EREE Exchange difference - 6 - - 2 2 10
#2023 128318 At 31 December 2023 479,112 23,038 - 1,433,577 24,198 288,634 2,248,559
RENEHR Provided for the year 104,974 11,175 - 385,913 5,268 37,845 545,175
R ERHE S Eliminated on disposals (1,064) (1,110) - (75,437) (1,759) (5,907) (85,277)
ERESE Exchange difference - 11 - - 5 12 28
R2024F12 8318 At 31 December 2024 583,022 33,114 - 1,744,053 27,712 320,584 2,708,485
REE CARRYING VALUES
#2024%12A318 At 31 December 2024 1,873,824 38,694 393,886 3,405,214 18,123 193,759 5,923,500
R2023F12A31H At 31 December 2023 1,145,664 21,565 1,809,459 1,637,195 21,588 174,232 4,809,703

EBHHE (BR) BRAH

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

% - BENRE (&) 14.

EdWE - BEERBRE (BREZ
TN EEREMFHRBREER
EEMEF AIERFRAR TIIFRR
BARORRTIRITE ¢

By
Buildings
HEMERE

Leasehold improvements

BB K rL A5

Plant and machinery

L EDEE

Motor vehicles

RE - HERWHARE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

M2024F 128318 » REBHE
BREEEEMNETEFEEAA
R#427,0007C (20234 : AR
305,212,0007T) °

M2024% 128318 AEBECIEHE
FEEAARKI1,099,000TH Y
¥ WEKRZME(2023F - &) - BE
REBERITIEROER ©

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment,
except for construction in progress, are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives and
after taking into account of their estimated residual value
at the following rates per annum:

4.50%

4.50%

LG
20.00%%£66.67%
(ABREE RBE)
Over the shorter of
the lease term, or
20.00% - 66.67%
9.00% - 30.00%
9.00% - 30.00%

18.00%
18.00%
18.00% - 30.00%
18.00% - 30.00%

The Group has not obtained property certificates of certain
buildings with amount of RMB427,000 as at 31 December
2024 (2023: RMB305,212,000).

The Group had pledged property, plant and equipment with
carrying amount of RMB91,099,000 (2023: nil) to secure
bank borrowing of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

ERARSE 15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS
HEL# HEWHX BEREHR &5t
Leasehold Leased  Machinery
land  properties and vehicles Total
ARBTT AR¥TR ARBTR AR%¥Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2024%12831H As at 31 December 2024
IRE(E Carrying Amount 538,550 39,869 232 578,651
12023F12A31H As at 31 December 2023
ARE(E Carrying Amount 482,676 35,142 217 518,035
BZE2024%12A31H For the year ended
IHFE 31 December 2024
WEEZER Depreciation charge 12,634 18,541 313 31,488
HZE2023F12A31H For the year ended
IHEE 31 December 2023
HEER Depreciation charge 11,001 16,166 851 28,018
“EREFR
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15.

EREEE (&)

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

BZ12A31BLLEE
Year ended 31 December

20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000

MEHERREEEE Expenses relating to short-term leases and
BANER low-value assets 1,401 1,338
HEMR S RLERE Total cash outflow for leases 25,698 80,695
2 FAREE E RGN Additions to right-of-use assets 92,205 82,998

RRER - AEEAE L - W% -
BERBEWHAHEEE - HESRK
ETHR 2128 A =504 - EKK
TIREREEER  WEEEETH
B Rt o R E & B R
NATEE AR R - AEEER
ARMNERLETE R A RFIBITH
HARE -

o AEBBEAE T IERT (B
HERBEBMNZE) RPAE -
AEERZEMEED (BHEAERMAE
S EMEAA - WEZFY
ERBCEAEL RN - ZF
BEMENTEE AR IBH ERIE
HE N REE AT EN ELRF BB 2 -

MR2024F K 2023%F 12 A31H » K&
E D ESF A E + i 8) + s 4
K

= o
g

REEFHRYEREBIS] LR H
THE - R2024F % 2023412 A3
H - EEHEEMAEEEXKEERS
HERTMEHAESHSEL -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

For both years, the Group leases pieces of land, properties,
machinery and vehicles for its operations. Lease contracts
are entered into for fixed term of 12 months to 50 years.
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the
non-cancellable period, the Group applies the definition
of a contract and determines the period for which the
contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and
office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold
land. Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire
these property interests. The leasehold land components
of these owned properties are presented separately only if
the payments made can be allocated reliably.

The Group has obtained the land use right certificates for
all leasehold lands as at 31 December 2024 and 2023.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for
properties and carparks. As at 31 December 2024 and
2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term
lease expense disclosed above.
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EHAREEE (&)
AERHRRH

SN - 72024512 A31 BERKHE
E8ERARY39,495,0007T - HHEE
FREEEASARK40,101,0007T
(2023%F : BRWHEHEBERARK
35,989,0007T - HEEAERAEEERA
R#35,359,0007T) - BRIEFAAFH
WHEEEENERERI  HEHE
WEMENEMRE - HEEETSH
B RIER -

MEaBENOBEERERD I FBRNH
24 e

MR2024F12 8318 - AEES KT
IREEA AR 28,509,000t E
T (20234F « &) - BEAREBRTT
BREER o

EEB R

RRE B BRRR2ATE - & T
EEHBEERABDES - UT
RUPBRET = OECHELBS
7

15.

16.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Restrictions or covenants on leases

In addition, lease liabilities of RMB39,495,000
are recognised with related right-of-use assets of
RMB40,101,000 as at 31 December 2024 (2023: lease
liabilities of RMB35,989,000 are recognised with related
right-of-use assets of RMB35,359,000). The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by
the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for
borrowing purposes.

Details of the lease maturity analysis of lease liabilities are
set out in note 24.

The Group had pledged leasehold land with carrying
amount of RMB28,509,000 (2023: nil) to secure bank
borrowing of the Group as at 31 December 2024.

DEFERRED TAXATION

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of financial position, certain deferred tax
assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the
analysis of the deferred tax balances for financial reporting

purposes:
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 ,2023
ARET T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
EERIBE B Deferred tax assets 91,834 243,463
RIERIBEE Deferred tax liabilities (201,226) (310,072)
(109,392) (66,609)
“E_NFEFR
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

16. EZEBIE (&) 16. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)
IANTNAERFEEMARFEERERNE The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
ERLETIEEE (AFE) RAEE) : recognised and movements thereon during the current and

prior years
HEFAT BXRX
gaREM ROBAE IEF
EWHERE MELH  BERWA  EHER ne Hit &%
Withholding Accelerated
Impairment taxon tax
of trade undistributed deduction
and other  profitof PRC  Deferred Accrual  for capital
receivables  subsidiaries income  expenses expenditure Others Total
ARETR ARETR AR%TR AR%Tr ARETT AR%®Trn AR%TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
®2023%1 818 At 1 January 2023 11,767 (233,787) 32,062 259,574 (7.171) 6,736 69,181
WERMA (F3F9)  Charge for the year
(note 9) (2,528) (71,457) (4,376) (46,259) (7,774) (3,402) (135,790)
®2023%12A31R At 31 December 2023 9,239 (305,238) 27,686 213,315 (14,945) 3,334 (66,609)
RERFEA (F05) (B Credit (charge) for the
#9) year (note 9) 36 122,826 7,727 (154,528) (10,760) 2,537 (32,162)
I SN Acquisition of a
subsidiary = = = = (1,265) (9,356) (10,621)
R2024%128318 At 31 December 2024 9,275 (182,412) 35,413 58,787 (26,970) (3,485) (109,392)
MR2024%F 128318 » AEBNEXH At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses
R IAEE D B A AR 65,333,000 of RMB65,333,000 (2023: RMB45,738,000) available for
7T (20234 : AR¥ 45,738,000 offset against future profit and no deferred tax asset has
7o) - ATAREEEARRFE - AR5 been recognised in respect of all the unused tax losses.
FERBARIEBEERRELHIEER Tax losses which arises in, or derived from, Hong Kong may
Eo-RNBEAEASREEENTIEE be carried forward indefinitely:
BRI PR HA A
MA12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
IR HR Indefinitely 65,333 45,738
R AKEETHIRE TR EEN Deferred taxation has not been provided for in the
BE MEBEZERAgTEEA consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
ERGREE - HEERFREFA differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
AEFMNEEENEREZEEARK subsidiaries amounting to RMB1,409,727,000 (2023: nil)
1,409,727,0007T (20234 : &) £ 5 as the Group is able to control the timing of the reversal
B EL IR IR - of the temporary differences and it is probable that the

temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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17. & 17. INVENTORIES
®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R ERSEFE G Raw material and consumables 287,318 262,067
R Finished goods 216,891 115,313
504,209 377,380
EH T EE S ERE 1 21 B B k(D o No inventories are expected to be recovered after more
than 12 months.
18. BZ NHMEIKFIE 18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
M12A31H8
As at 31 December
2024F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 e ERIE Trade receivables
—%=H — third parties 280,027 254,116
—REFRAH - fellow subsidiaries 11,991 13,210
292,018 267,326
B EEEREE Less: Allowance for credit losses (36,765) (36,622)
255,253 230,704
H IR Other receivables 30,022 96,667
JERE=YE Note receivables 30,000 -
IEFEEET TR AR Deferred issue costs - 2,270
TAfT LR RIA Advances to suppliers 13,229 36,776
BEAEE LR Value-added Tax recoverable 339,373 316,452
667,877 682,869
M2023F1 818 RKEERFARH As at 1 January 2023, trade receivables from contracts
B EWRIE A AR 240,072,000 with customers amounted to RMB240,072,000.
7T|: o
“ENFFR
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

18. EZREMEWE

ATRRBERRZARRMEHE

IE (IIE) 18.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables

NHE ZEWIE (R EEEIBLE net of allowance for credit losses, presented based on
1#) BERER DA - the dates of delivery of goods at the end of the reporting
period:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
0E90K 0 -90days 243,869 202,402
91E180K 91 - 180 days 8,853 26,954
181E 365K 181 - 365 days 1,678 798
HRiE365K Over 365 days 853 550
255,253 230,704

RBEMK - BRFEENREKIHEO
BA -

AEENBRRRETEESEF60E
QRHIEEH - BB RIFERCED
REFRPE P A REBRNEES

REBEMEMAEERBENHNEZLA -
AEEEFARENELERIRT
LRAEER - EERBEHL2ENRE
REE  UKEFBEZ K-

M2024F 128318 » st ALXEHE
B RWAREESNERZIERD
BEAARE14,001,0007T (2023
F: AR¥34,157,0005T) ' 27
HEBHEE  RNEBEHRP - A
R#2,531,0007T (20234 : AR
1,586,0007T) E@HEAQ0 KA | -
RZEREFH R TER e R EASE
EWERET - TR RED -

The note receivables are all aged within 90 days at the end
of the reporting period.

The Group’s policy is to allow a credit period of 60 to 90
days to its trade customers. A longer credit period may be
granted to large or long-established customers with good
repayment history.

Before accepting any new customers with credit limit, the
Group assesses their historical background and credibility
which are available in the market. The credit limit will be
determined with reference to the result of research and
will be reviewed once a year.

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group’s trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of RMB14,001,000 (2023: RMB34,157,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balances, RMB2,531,000 (2023: RMB1,586,000) have
been past due 90 days or more and is not considered as
in default due to the good repayment history for those
customers and continuous business with the Group.

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

|70 _ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

EZ R EMmERRE (&) 18. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)
TRINTIRBEGC T AR E S BB The following table shows the movement in lifetime
HERNEHRBEREEEEEH - ECL that has been recognised for trade receivables in
accordance with the simplified approach.
2HiTEH 2 HFEH
FEEEE EEEBE
(BIEERE) (E&RHE) &t
Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
AR®ET T AR®ET T AR®ET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
202341 A1 BR & Balance at 1 January 2023 8,630 21,866 30,496
Changes due to financial
EER e T A RrE instruments recognised
- BREEERE - Transfer to credit-impaired (6) 6 =
— BERREEE - Impairment losses recognised 2,922 13,707 16,629
— BEOLRERE - Impairment losses reversed (8,189) = (8,189)
— hsy - Written off (2,917) (499) (3,416)
HEENTREE New financial assets originated 1,102 — 1,102
M2023%12 A31 BHRI4E#L Balance at 31 December 2023 1,542 35,080 36,622
Changes due to financial
R#ER TR T A S| e E instruments recognised
— @R EEERE - Transfer to credit-impaired (100) 100 -
— BEERBEEE - Impairment losses recognised 850 297 1,147
= Ei@x@éfﬁ)&ﬂﬁ - Impairment losses reversed (1,197) - (1,197)
— Y3 - Written off (750) (285) (1,035)
FEEANTCREE New financial assets originated 1,228 - 1,228
2024512 431 H@AEER  Balance at 31 December 2024 1f573 35,192 36,765
BH NEHMERZFIERE (LIS Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
HT3E32 © receivables are set out in note 32.
HEeNBESEEY R EHET 19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND FIXED

3%

BB SEYEERARBIAR
CEEHRBESAFORIBA LR
—ERAMEBFR - R20245F12 A
31H - EMHBFFZE0.01%EL41%
(20234 : 0.01% % 1.80%) 5t & o

R2024F12H31H @ REIEABBBES
& A B EERIRITE IR FEFE 2.30%
%3.35% (20234 : 2.90% & 4.15%)
FTE °

BANK DEPOSITS

Cash and cash equivalents include demand deposits with
original maturity less than three months for the purpose of
meeting the Group’s short term cash commitments, which
carry interest at market rates range 0.01% to 4.41% (2023:
from 0.01% to 1.80%) per annum at 31 December 2024.

Fixed bank deposits with original maturity over 3 months
carry interest rate from 2.30% to 3.35% (2023: from 2.90%
to 4.15%) per annum at 31 December 2024.

—EMEER
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19. RELBEELEEYREHIEIT 19. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND FIXED
FR(E\) BANK DEPOSITS (CONTINUED)
AEETHEKMIEEBEEER The Group’s bank balances that are denominated in the
WIngE BB ERRITAESRI I N following currencies other than the functional currencies
TS ¢ of the relevant group entities are set out below:

M®12A31H
As at 31 December

20244 20234

2024 2023

ARMT T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

ETT United States Dollars (“USD”) 913 720
AR RMB 2,503,161 85
2,504,074 805
BITESH R ETEEH N T Details of impairment assessment of bank balances are

32 set out in note 32.
20. EZEWA 20. DEFERRED INCOME

AREF T

RMB’000

7202341 A1 B &ER Balance at 1 January 2023 128,249
FFABE Recognised in profit or loss (17,508)

7R2023%F 12 A31 BM& R Balance at 31 December 2023 110,741
0 Addition 48,105
FFAIBE Recognised in profit or loss (17,199)
R2024%F12 A31 BW&E R Balance at 31 December 2024 141,647

HEE -

HZE2024F12 A31 BILEE » BURERERATH B
AR#48,105,0007T (20234 : F) » TBEK
BEESHAR - ZS2BERRBETRA -
WHRIBEEEENTERAFHABRERA - HE
2024F12A31 BILFE - BEEABOBATE
B A B ARE17,199,0007T (20234 : AR
17,508,0007T) ' st AfEz ©

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

Note:

Government grants of RMB48,105,000 (2023: nil) have been received during
the year ended 31 December 2024 which are mainly related to investments
in production facilities. The amounts have been treated as deferred income
and is transferred to income over the useful lives of the relevant assets.
Government grant income related to assets amounting to RMB17,199,000
(2023: RMB17,508,000) was recognised in profit or loss during the year
ended 31 December 2024.



B B ERARM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

21. BEZRHMENKIEA 21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®ET T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 5 T EaE (MsE) Trade payables (note)
—%8=75 - third parties 529,961 744,350
—REFRAF - fellow subsidiaries 95,334 72,564
625,295 816,914
R EENNREEER Sales volume rebates and promotion expense
payables 965,540 1,693,251
BN TE Payroll payables 404,895 459,233
JEfT1R Deposit payables 385,728 346,529
B KIE Advertising payables 165,836 154,858
BRI FOR Transportation payables 246,961 251,992
JEET LT RISE Accrued listing expenses 7,549 7,496
FEEHEETTR AR Accrued issue costs - 1,221
E bR R EFTE R Other payables and accruals
=il — third parties 658,930 820,063
—RRFRAF - fellow subsidiaries 257,980 470,508
916,910 1,290,571
3,718,714 5,022,065
BisE - Note:
RREFERE  fESRTAEENEESRT The credit period granted by suppliers to the Group ranges from 15 days
F15RE60K - L TARKREMARIZERAR to 60 days during both years. The following is an aged analysis of trade
2 E FEMNRBRREDT : payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting
period:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 2023
2024 F 2023%
AR®T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
0E90K 0 -90 days 621,974 815,329
91E180K 91 - 180 days 2,705 195
181E365K 181 - 365 days 570 189
#BiAB365K Over 365 days 46 1,201
625,295 816,914
BIRNFIBAEEARTEE - The trade payables are unsecured and non-interest
bearing.
—EMEER
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22. AREAEE 22,

BREERERREHEBRER AR
FUWERE TR KR ©

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

The contract liabilities represented the advance payment,
received from the customers while the underlying services
are yet to be provided.

M®12A31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBT T
RMB’000 RMB’000
TAlREFK Advances from customers:
BERAKMEHE Packaged drinking water and beverages 193,338 139,355

R2023F1A1H - 6RAEBEAAR
246,660,000 7T °

EREESEERER THRIBNKA -
ERAEERRIEREHRARTK
ERBEMBEMTE - TRIRER
ERNELEEARAEEHENKRAS

At 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to
RMB246,660,000.

The amount of contract liabilities includes the revenue to
be recognised. The contract liabilities balance varies in
accordance with the number of contracts outstanding at
the end of reporting period. The following table shows how

CERD much of the revenue recognised during the year relates to
carried-forward contract liabilities.
R12A31H

As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
ARBT T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FFAFE R A EEHRD Revenue recognised that was included in the
EHER A contract liability balance at the beginning of

the year 139,355 246,660

AEEEREERETEFMNGIER
XfHEE - WAKRBEEINBRKA
IKFZRE TR E - HEHA R
MEELSRAE  EEHBARE
REOBABBIEE TR °

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

[74 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

The Group requires a deposit on acceptance of orders
from certain customers. When the Group receives a
deposit before the delivery of packaged drinking water
and beverages, this will give rise to contract liabilities at
the start of a contract, until the revenue recognised on the
relevant contract exceeds the amount of the deposit.
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BRAME (&)

REBEHEDGZ  TRPEEREBREP
RUEMNBERHEERNAREWEGEEN
- RATFXNERE - AREH
BARBERHEEETRNTER
FSHEITH - WK RN SR AR
FERT R (M5E21) » BfR - RNEEHK
EHETPRAFHETMNEETRX
(BRE2HFE) - HEPEARERER

MirEHEHEENH - BRNTPHIA
HEHFPBEERRAERE -

AEBEYERBHFRER - FOWR
@meF AtEREERBEREEMBR
SEAEISREREREETE A
BB RERE RS R EREK
HE D ERMBHR TR 5 ERLE
B e

22.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

CONTRACT LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Pursuant to the sales agreements, the customers are
entitled to receive sales volume rebates from the Group
based on the actual sales volume to the customers.
After the delivery of goods to the customers, the Group
would determine the sales volume rebates payable to the
customers based on the actual sales volume on a monthly
basis and the payable amount is included in the other
payables (note 21). Subsequently, the Group would confirm
with the customers the settlement method of the sales
volume rebates (either by cash or inventory) on a regular
basis. If the customers confirm with the Group to settle
the sales volume rebates by inventory, the payables to
customers would be reclassified to contract liabilities.

The Group has no revenue contract that has an original
expected duration more than one year, thus management
applied practical expedient under HKFRS 15 and are
not disclosing the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to the performance obligation that are
unsatisfied or partially satisfied as of the end of the
reporting period.

“ENFEFR
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23. SRITER 23. BANK BORROWING
®12831H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARBFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
fﬁxﬁﬁg” CBER Bank loans, secured: 17,183 =
MIEFRABRE(EZA TEE*:  The carrying amounts of the above borrowings
are repayable*:
—FRN Within one year 6,035 -
—F LA HERBBMFREAR  Within a period of more than one years but not
A more than two years 6,000 -
MELEERBBRFRIEAR  Within a period of more than two years but not
Al more than five years 5,148 -
17,183 -
BORBIAEE NIRE—9F  Less: Amount due for settlement within one
NEHEE SRR year shown under current liabilities (6,035) -
IERBAMBIE NFIRM—F%  Amount due for settlement after one year
IR R shown under non-current liabilities 11,148 =
& M EDHERBE R A ABNTREE * The amounts due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out
HEH - in the loan agreements.

AARKEGHERRITHERIZEFRBEA
RRITHENERFE ([LPR]) #45
M2 ENFIEETE - R2024F 12 31
BRNEERFEMERE2.71%  WFEAE
EEEReREFERAR

SRANETEE 14 R MFE15 D BIFTE 0 R

2024F12 A3 BB ZRIADE - &
B R A R E L fEH IR o

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

A bank borrowing denominated in RMB is carried at
variable-rate linked to the lending rate stipulated by the
People’s Bank of China (“LPR”) with effective interest rate
of 2.71% per annum as at 31 December 2024 and exposes
the Group to cash flow interest rate risk.

The borrowing as at 31 December 2024 was secured by
property, plant and equipment and leasehold land as set
out in note 14 and note 15, respectively.
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24, HEAE 24. LEASE LIABILITIES
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ENEEaE Lease liabilities payable:
—F R Within one year 14,107 16,178
—F A HERNBBMENHIRE  Within a period of more than one years but not
A more than two years 11,180 7,347
MEA HERNBBRFERIHIMB  Within a period of more than two years but not
A more than five years 14,208 12,464
39,495 35,989
W O REBBEBE TR —E  Less: Amount due for settlement within one
ANEEFEESR year shown under current liabilities (14,107) (16,178)
IERBNAMEIE NFIRM—F%  Amount due for settlement after one year
FEEE SR shown under non-current liabilities 25,388 19,811

M2024%F12R31H - HEAGER
I EERFENF2.22%E4.35%
(20234 : 2.22% % 4.35%) ©

The incremental borrowing rates applied to lease liabilities
range from 2.22% to 4.35% (2023: from 2.22% to 4.35%)
per annum at 31 December 2024.

25. MR 25. SHARE CAPITAL
AKANRDEENDBRITIRANE S F IS0 Details of movements of authorised and issued share
o capital of the Company are as follows:

RHEE [N

Number of shares  Share capital

EH

uUsD

R E{E0.00000053%JT Ordinary shares of USD0.0000005 each

OBl
JEE Authorised:

#2023F1 818 K At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023

2023%F12H31H 1,000 1,000
R2024% 4 B 21 B0 Increase on 21 April 2024 (note a)

(Htzta) 99,999,999,000 49,000
M2024F12A31H At 31 December 2024 100,000,000,000 50,000
ERTRAR Issued and fully paid:

M2023F1A1B R At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023

202312 A31H 1,000 1,000
Bty F 40 (Pifata) Share subdivision (note a) 1,999,999,000 -
BRALRBERETRNG Issue of shares upon the initial public

(HizEDb) offering (note b) 398,196,600 199
M2024%F12A31H At 31 December 2024 2,398,196,600 1,199
RE G HRERPIIT Shown in the consolidated financial

statements
M2023F1 A1 R At 1 January 2023 and 31 December 2023 ARETTEE

2023%12H31H RMB’000 equivalent 7

2024128318 At 31 December 2024 ARBTTEE
RMB’000 equivalent 8
“ENFFR
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25.

R (&)

i -

(a)

R2024F 48218 BREZR(H
FEE)EERSREMET.O0ET
MEBTRABOTEBRIFAR
2,000,000 & AR EI{E0.00000053%
TR ([RDIFH]) - BRERMD
Ml ARRMEERAA50,000
X7t $7100,000,000,000 &%
E{E0.0000005 €T E @AY - H
2,000,000,000 R ZMIREFHITRAR ©

ARBMDR2024F 10 A 23 HERER
FERLEM - REKERAREEM
T ARARRER14.58T HERY
ARM13.2970) MERERERETE
398,196,600 (BIER 2024 F
1MA14AREBHERRERITHE
50,370,400 &% 15 ) + FT{SRIBARTEL
£5,773,851,0008 T (HHERHOAR
#5,298,410,00070) - BXAHEE
BRNBEITEERERDRANARKE
84,878,0007 ' RE M BARRNEZN
[ | B TR B E BRI -

FABRBTHRES T HEERNRE
B FBRFMA -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

25.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

Notes:

(a)

On 21 April 2024, the shareholders resolved, among others, that
each issued and unissued ordinary share then of US$1.00 par value
be subdivided into 2,000,000 shares of US$0.0000005 par value
each (“Share Subdivision”). As a result of the Share Subdivision,
the authorized share capital of the Company became US$50,000
divided into 100,000,000,000 ordinary shares of par value of
US$0.0000005 par value each, of which 2,000,000,000 ordinary
shares are issued and fully paid-up.

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of
the Stock Exchange on 23 October 2024. In connection with the
completion of the initial public offering, the Company allotted
and issued a total of 398,196,600 shares (including a total of
50,370,400 shares issued under the over-allotment options
on 14 November 2024) at a price of HK$14.5 (equivalent to
approximately RMB13.29) per share for a total proceed of
approximately HK$5,773,851,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB5,298,410,000). The transaction costs directly attributable
to the issue of shares upon the initial public offering amounting
to approximately RMB84,878,000 were treated as deduction from
share premium under “Reserves” in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

All new shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing shares
in all respects.
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B L iRE 26. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
BRZEE MM EHREREMIDAEE Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
FON - REBEBE TR S R financial statements, the Group has following transactions
wmR and balances with related parties:
M12A318 /EZZALFE
As at/For the year ended 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
221E R5/ EeHE ARET T ARETFTT
Relationships Nature of transactions/balances RMB’000 RMB’000
HES /NGl HEE M (MisEa)
Fellow subsidiaries Sales of goods (note a) 57,042 62,160
FEUR R F A RIFIE
Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries 11,991 13,210

PR

Shareholders

A A A
Intermedlate holding
company

YNGIE 22§ S
Non -controlling
shareholder of a
subsidiary

— B HE GtAE S REMEKIE)
- trade nature (included in trade and other

receivables) 11,991 13,210
FEHRRARF AR EBRITER
Fixed bank deposits placed in a fellow

subsidiary 810,597 786,329
BRNTFRARTFAFTNRERASEEYD
Cash and cash equivalents advanced to a

fellow subsidiary 327,561 1,000,331
?m%l?ﬁﬂ&ﬁ@ﬁﬁuu (ff5Ea)
Purchase of raw materials and other

consumables (note a) 960,532 940,209
B b T R B AR AR TS (M ata)
Purchase of construction and other services

(note a) 291,268 1,120,678
ERRZRFARNIEA
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries
—E5UE GtAB S REMENFKIE) (Hita)
— trade nature (included in trade and other

payables) (note a) 353,314 543,072
FLEMA
Interest income 24,522 34,187
— ERRRARTARANBIERARRS RAS

=4
- bank deposits and cash and cash equivalents

placed in a fellow subsidiary 24,522 19,348
— BRRARFRARHNER

- loans due from feltow subsidiaries - 14,839
FEME B AR A B FIE (FisTb)
Amount due from |mmed|ate holding company

(note b) 22,697 22,192
FERT AR FRIE (K5t b K d)
Amounts due to shareholders

(notes b and d) 2,501,973 1,931
FEU AP AR A RIFKIE (MisED)
Amount due from intermediate holding

company (note b) - 742
FERT AP AR A RIFKIE (M4EED)
Amount due to intermediate holding company

(note b) - 1,158

AR IR AR R BRI 2

Interest on loan from non-controlling

shareholder of a subsidiary

441 =

—EMEER
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26. BEELIHE (E) 26.

bR i% % & Of I 15 Rk B A #F 0 P i R
FIN - REBEBE SR 5 MAER
T (8)

(a) FZEZHMERTIBATNET2EER
ENHHETE °

(b) ZERBRFESINE - BER 28
RAIREREE

(c) AEEAGRTREEREGRAF ([F
BETREARDNEEAN D @ &
RAEPEBERBATES - BREEHE
B S5 - AN E TR ELE i B SRR 5
ERAREYR -EF2RR  BEHEE
Sy REEBEEEENSEANEEN
MBREERE - BZFERNRS
(BREEEERERISARIBITERR
REFSWA) DR AEE R BERR
TP - AEEARE - REMERA
E EXBUROBE T XS ERTD R
EE PR -

(d) BELIMAAAREESRBNESS
Bk RE AR ?2,368,421,0007T
R 2025F 12 ARIAEE - fBARKE
131,579,000 B A] 2027 F45H ©

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Other than as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated
financial statements, the Group has following transactions
and balances with related parties: (Continued)

Notes:

(a) The prices of these transactions were determined between the
parties with reference to the agreements signed.

(b) The amounts are with non-trade nature, unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

(c) The Group itself is a part of a larger group of companies under
China Resources Company Limited (“CRC”) which is controlled by
the Chinese State government. Apart from the transactions with
CRC group, the Group also conducts businesses with other state
controlled entities. The directors are of the opinion that those
entities other than the CRC group do not have the power to govern
or participate in the financial and operating policies of the Group.
The transactions including sales and purchases of goods and
services and bank deposits and corresponding interest income,
with these entities are conducted in the ordinary course of the
Group’s business. The Group believes that it has provided, at the
best of its knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of
related party transactions as summarised above.

(d) Pursuant to the board memorandum approved by the Board
of Directors of the Company before the listing, dividend of
RMB2,368,421,000 will be settled before December 2025 and the
remaining balance of RMB131,579,000 payable will only be settled
in 2027.
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RIKEFETE

AEBRBERVMEAESE (R
MRS E ) REER2 BRI
ATETFENEERY —HAEHRNK
BKEFEE - RFELEEFTEIR
BEEAKENEEDSH @ LHX
ABFINESRHE - AEEREBT
BRAWETEDLRABRHEATRES
PR - MFHAAEEE
$ o

ARBRPBEXZNFARNEER
R E R B B IR KA MG
EIMRKE - TRARIARTEKRANE
TEOLARRENEEIHRK - AB
BRRHES - AEBEFERKBHE
M — B ERIEREEHRN -

2024%F - AREERINENFTEET
BEEML IR (202346 « T)ERIK -
It FABEERNHTEFER - B
EEQUNHE TR (20235 - ) A AR
PRAR KT o

REZEROHAIBEARE
268,486,0007T (20234 : AR¥
245,428,0007T) ' EAKEREZE
2024F 12 A31 B I FERENZES
EIRHR

27.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement
benefits scheme under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) for employees who are eligible
to participate in the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group, in
fund under the control of trustees. The Group contributes
certain percent of relevant payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries established
in the PRC are members of a state-managed retirement
benefit scheme operated by the PRC government. The
subsidiaries are required to contribute certain percentage
of payroll costs to the retirement benefits schemes to fund
the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect
to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the specific
contributions.

In 2024, no forfeited contributions under state-managed
retirement benefit schemes (2023: Nil). Accordingly, no
forfeited contribution was utilised during the year, and
there was no forfeited contribution available to reduce
level of contributions (2023: Nil).

The total expense recognised in profit or loss of
RMB268,486,000 (2023: RMB245,428,000) represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

B NEER
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28.

WEEF D E)
BE 202412 H31 HIFEE
ES g

R2024%1 8158 © BRBREEK @ &
EEWEBRZENERMBMERR
A(TREZERE]  BREHRER
B (RE) BRAR) M70%RE @ %
NRANERRERAKRERLH - 1R
BUERZ  HERERESYHEAR
#151,060,000 A RE 2 ER EE
¥iEMR2023F8 A1 BENEEERK A
HEME AR MBS T E SR
BARKG,646,0000T ' X REEE
BARNRIREFHE - ZEEELNAR
WHEERK B EETR SR - Wik2024
FREIA - AXKRBTRKE - BB
EIENABARANTRR - ZUWHE
2 AU AR A BRDIVE SR TS U g -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

28.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

For the year ended 31 December 2024
Acquisition of businesses

On 15 January 2024, the Group acquired 70% equity
interests of REEMERMBMWER QA (“BIEZEHN
") (currently known as FEBHHREHRE(RZE)ERAT)
which is engaged in the manufacturing and distribution
of packaged drinking water for business expansion.
According to the acquisition agreement, the consideration
includes a cash consideration of RMB151,060,000 and
a contingent consideration payable to the vendor of
RMB6,646,000 by reference to the profit of F;ZZFEHE
for the period from 1 August 2023 to date of completion
of acquisition, which was subsequently agreed on by
the Company and the vendor. The final consideration
approximately to the amount determined at the date of
completion of acquisition and was fully settled in 2024.
Upon the completion of this acquisition, E;ZIEFE
became a subsidiary of the Company. The acquisition has
been accounted for as acquisition of business using the
acquisition method.
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28. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)

Acquisition of businesses (Continued)

Details of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are

as below:
20244
2024
AR®EF T
RMB’000
W - BE M Property, plant and equipment 232,081
EREEE Right-of-use assets 40,575
BEWHX  BERERENRSE Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 8,840
rE Inventories 21,394
B 5 K A b FEY R IE Trade and other receivables 34,790
RITEBRER® Bank balances and cash 137
B 5 M EAEFRIA Trade and other payables (55,050)
ARAE Contract liabilities (61)
RIEFHIEAE Deferred tax liabilities (10,621)
FEAS FEVE AR AR SRR Amounts due to non-controlling shareholder (39,017)
233,068
HENHEHRUT AN Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
BE Cash 151,060
JE A5 JEHE AR A IR SR IR Amount due to non-controlling shareholder 6,646
FEIERR R RN F B E Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests 69,920
i 227,626
BUZEITETERE R Gain on bargain purchase of FZHEHiE 5,442
233,068
U B FERARC AN (FEAEI = 20244 Acquisition-related costs (included in administrative
12 A3 BIEFEAHBIRE expenses in the consolidated financial statements
RETRAES) for the year ended 31 December 2024) 864
WEREREEEELANRSMAFE  Net cash inflows arising on acquisition of BJZZEHiE
ENBESHE Cash consideration paid (151,060)
Frk s iRITHEMR R IR ® Bank balances and cash acquired 137
(150,923)
—E_EFIR
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28.

Wi ¥ A7 ()

BHE2024F12A31 HIFFZ (48)
ERWE (48)

WEWERZ ARKS 442,000TE
REHEREMGERERMEM
Wk EBARNERTER -

ARPEERR  BB2EAEERY
RARKWERHNRETRE - FIABEES
KEMBYHENAEEREES
MEEMREEMRS -

WHE T RARITEE R IFE R T
SERWET EEFENIE BB

NABENDRBEE

HE2024F12A31HIEFEMNF
HERREERNETROBINEY
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

28.

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2024 (Continued)
Acquisition of businesses (Continued)

Bargain purchase gain of RMB5,442,000 was recognised
in profit or loss within other gains and losses in the
consolidated statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

The directors of the Company consider that the fair value
of trade and other receivables acquired approximate
the carrying amounts of respective financial assets by
reference to the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive in the future.

The non-controlling interest arising from the acquisition
of the subsidiary was measured by reference to the
proportionate share of the fair value of the acquiree’s net
assets at the acquisition date.

Included in the profit for the year ended 31 December 2024
is RMB27,198,000 attributable to the additional business
generated by BIZZEHE. Revenue for the year ended 31
December 2024 includes RMB296,137,000 generated from
BUREERE.

Had the acquisition of EUEZEFTE been completed on 1
January 2024, revenue for year ended 31 December 2024
of the Group would have been RMB13,524,177,000, and
profit for the year ended 31 December 2024 would have
been RMB1,661,346,000. The pro forma information is
for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily an
indication of revenue and results of operations of the
Group that actually would have been achieved had the
acquisition been completed on 1 January 2024, nor is it
intended to be a projection of future results.

In determining the ‘pro-forma’ revenue and profit of the
Group had EUEZEHTE been acquired on 1 January 2024,
the directors of the Company calculated depreciation of
property, plant and equipment based on the recognised
amounts of property, plant and equipment at the date of
the acquisition.
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28.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 December 2023
Acquisition of assets and liabilities through an
acquisition of a subsidiary

During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired 79% interest in AR 2@ EHRA/KERE QA
(“ZB33Z”) (currently known as EFRERECTR)ERA
Al) through capital injection of RMB313,719,000 to the
subsidiary. The above transaction is accounted for as
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition
of subsidiaries because ZEE mainly holds several
industrial buildings, the underlying leasehold land and
certain equipment without significant processes applied
to the properties. Upon completion of the acquisitions, &
83# became a subsidiary of the Company. The principal
activities of acquired subsidiaries will be engaged in the
manufacturing and distribution of packaged drinking water
in the future.

FrE B E R FTAEAEFBNT Details of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed are
as below:
20234
2023
ARBFIT
RMB’000
M - BB KR Property, plant and equipment 90,546
EREEE Right-of-use assets 20,101
BEWX  BERRENRS Deposits for acquisition of property, plant and
equipment 34,319
HE b 5RIE Other payables (60,983)
83,983
AERFE Capital injection by the Group 313,719
397,702
HERMHERAT AR - Consideration transferred, satisfied by:
AEEMZTARNEER Capital injection by the Group to the subsidiary 313,719
IR R RN F A E Net assets attributable to non-controlling interests 83,983
397,702
WEREEELANRSRAFE Net cash inflows arising on acquisition of Z{&3%
Frl B IRIT AR IR & Bank balances and cash acquired =
T MEFR

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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29. RMEEDELENSBENHIR

TRALASERETHELNRE
g BRRENIFRSED - @E
ABEANBESE AR RELH
KRERENAREEHIBHRED
BRRERPELNRSRENAE -

29. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash
and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing
activities are those for which cash flows were, or the future
cash flow will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated
financial statements of cash flows from financing

activities.
EfthE EAFFAT
Eft 2R FER st
RITEE BRRHE DAFRE RRHE - RITRA &t

Amount

Amount  due to non-

dueto  controlling

Amounts intermediate shareholder

Bank due to holding ofa Lease Accrued

borrowings shareholders ~ company  subsidiary liabilities  issue costs Total
ARBTR ARBTR AREMTR ARMTR AR%TR ARETR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000

#2023F1R18 At 1 January 2023 = 1,903 1,259 = 27,546 = 30,708
BARETE Financing cash flows (41,053) - (6) - (18,490) (1,049) (60,598)
IRk New leases entered - - - - 25,470 - 25,470
FlBFX Interest expenses 41,053 = = - 1,463 - 42,516
EXEE Exchange difference - 28 65 - - - 93
JESHIRAZATRA  Share issue costs accrued = = S = = 2,270 2,270
EtEne® Other non-cash changes - - (160) - - - (160)
20235128318 At 31 December 2023 = 1,931 1,158 = 35,989 1,221 40,299
BERETE Financing cash flows 16,250 - (416) (46,132) (21,168) (83,829) (135,295)
WEF AT Acquisition of a subsidiary - - - 45,663 - - 45,663
ETRL New leases entered - - - - 23,607 - 23,607
Mm% Interest expenses 933 = = 441 1,067 - 2,441
EXEE Exchange difference - 42 - - - - 42
ERAEITMA  Shareissue costs accrued - - - - - 82,608 82,608
RALRARRERR  Dividend declared to shareholders of

£ (ME11) the Company (note 11) - 2,500,000 - - - - 2,500,000
EtEne® Other non-cash changes - - (742) 28 - - (714)
R2024%12R318 At 31 December 2024 17,183 2,501,973 - - 39,495 - 2,558,651

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

 China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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30.

31.

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group entered into certain new
lease agreements for the use of office premises.
On the date of commencement of leases, the Group
recognised RMB23,607,000 right-of-use assets and
RMB23,607,000 lease liabilities (2023: RMB25,470,000
and RMB25,470,000).

During the year, a subsidiary of the Company had
successfully acquired the official land use right certificate
for a piece of leasehold land, which was the point of
time when the leasehold land became ready for use
to the Group, and the related deposits amounting to
RMB24,750,000 had been transferred from deposits for

leasehold land to right-of-use assets.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure the entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s
overall strategy remains unchanged during both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts,
which includes, where appropriate, bank borrowing,
amounts due to shareholders, intermediate holding
company, cash and cash equivalents and equity
attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital, share premium, retained profits and other

reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
periodically. As part of the review, the directors consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with the
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the
Group will balance its overall capital structure through
new share issues as well as the issue of the new debt or
the redemption of existing debt.

“ENFEFR
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

32. &@IA

(a)

EMER (ZR)

_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

SRIT AN (@)  Categories of financial instruments
M12H31H
As at 31 December
2024%F 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T AREEF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERMEE Financial assets
R AGTEMESREE  Financial assets at amortised cost 10,985,327 6,299,449
ERAE Financial liabilities
RESERKAGTEMERAME  Financial liabilities at amortised cost 6,237,870 5,025,154

TREREERREREE

AEEBRARBNEESHT
ABERTESREE:  BS
REMERGIE - BREE
T LN /T/\IE\‘ JE U R R AR

NEIRIE - BHRHEAMERNK
A - fETﬂﬁ?fK JE - B 3R 5K
I8 - B EERARRIER
ﬂ’*ﬁ&ﬁf °§Z:§rﬂiﬂﬁ’]?~f

ERMRRAM PR o R E
TR TERABENRRBETS
R (B EFERR) - 58

g RonEIEw Rk o BREW
AT P 5% 5 R B O ISR 051 2P
T -EREERELEREZER
B - DATRIR RS R B b @
B ©

AR
AEENEHTEEEFER
EXSBHTHAR -
AREFERG SRR %
ERRIBARNH AL EE
KEH -

BIRAF

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s and the Company’s major financial
instruments include bank balances and cash, trade
and other receivables, amount due from immediate
holding company, amount due from intermediate
holding company, trade and other payables, bank
borrowing, amounts due to shareholders, amount
due to intermediate holding company and lease
liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market
risk (currency and interest rate risk), credit risk
and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely
and effective manner.

Market risk

The Group’s activities expose primarily to the
market risks of changes in interest rates and
currency rates.

There has been no significant change to the Group’s
exposure to market risks or the manner in which it
manages and measures the risk.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk

The Group collects most of its revenue and
incurs most of the expenditures in RMB.
The subsidiaries of the Group are operating
in the Mainland China and Hong Kong, and
have their local currencies as their functional
currencies, RMB and HKD respectively.

The Group undertakes certain transactions
denominated in foreign currencies, hence
exposures to exchange rate fluctuations
arises. The Group currently does not have a
foreign currency hedging policy. However,
the management monitors foreign exchange
exposures and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should
the need arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign

SNESEHNEEEE currency denominated monetary assets
(ZZBRRITEHEK (mainly including bank balances and cash)
Re) REKBE(XE and monetary liabilities (mainly including
BIEEEARGHEES intra-group balances and amounts due to
R e IR FRIE) B0 Bk shareholders) at the reporting date are as
EEWNT follows:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20244 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BE Assets
AR RMB 2,503,161 85
EW usD 913 720
afE Liabilities
ARH RMB 2,553,757 65,721
eI usD - 986
“ENFFR
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s
sensitivity to a reasonably possible change of
5% in exchange rate of the relevant foreign
currencies against the functional currency
of respective group entities, while all other
variables are held constant. The sensitivity
analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and
adjusts their translation at the end of the
reporting period for a 5% change in foreign
currency rates.

HBZ12A3181LEE
Year ended 31 December

202445 20234
2024 2023
AR¥T T AREFTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

FAFEFEZ I CR) Increase (decrease) in post-tax

profit for the year

—WMARB R ETEAE - if RMB weakens against USD 39 (19)
—MARBRETHE - if RMB strengthens against USD (39) 19
— WAREEBTEE - if RMB weakens against HKD 23,075 2,879
— W AR S B THE - if RMB strengthens against HKD (23,075) (2,879)

BEERR  ARFR
R\ 3 oK [ BR A B 4R T2
RIREER - EREURE DT
I TR & E B SN E

74
oo
)

o

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity
analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent
foreign exchange risk as the year end
exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the relevant years.
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest
rate risk in relation to fixed bank deposits
(see note 19) and lease liabilities (see note
24 for details). The Group is also exposed
to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to
variable-rate bank balances (see note 19 for
details) and variable-rate bank borrowing
(see note 23 for details). The Group cash
flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated
on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and LPR arising from the Group’s
RMB denominated borrowings. The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable
rates. The Group manages its interest rate
exposures by assessing the potential impact
arising from any interest rate movements
based on interest rate level and outlook.

B NEER
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

191



192

BRI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

32. £&@IA(E)
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(b)

EMER (ZR)

_ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

45 & R

(i)
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32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity

The sensitivity analyses below have been
prepared based on the exposure to interest
rates for non-derivative instruments
(bank balances and bank borrowing). The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial
instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 100 basis point increase or
decrease for bank borrowings and a 50 basis
point increase or decrease for bank balances
are used when reporting interest rate risk
internally to key management personnel and
represent management’s assessment of the
possible change in interest rate in respect of
bank borrowing and bank deposits.

At the end of the reporting period, if interest
rates had been increased/decreased by
100 basis point of bank borrowings and 50
basis point of bank deposits and all other
variables were held constant, the Group’s
post-tax profit would increase/decrease
by approximately RMB21,780,000 for the
current year (2023: RMB16,017,000).
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32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

At the end of each reporting period, the Group’s
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause
a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective
recognised financial assets as stated in the
consolidated statements of financial position at the
end of each reporting period.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
of the Group has delegated the responsible
personnel for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover
overdue debts. The Group may require a deposit
to be received from most of the customers before
acceptance of orders. Other monitoring procedures
are in place to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade receivables
which are credit-impaired individually. The
remaining trade receivables are grouped and
assessed on collective basis based on customers’
aging of outstanding balances. Impairment losses
of RMB1,178,000 (2023: RMB9,542,000) are
recognised in profit or loss for the current year.
Details of the quantitative disclosures are set out
below in this note.
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China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables, note receivables, amount due
from immediate holding company, amount due from

intermediate holding company and bank balances

The credit risk of other receivables, note
receivables, amount due from immediate holding
company and amount due from intermediate
holding company are managed through an internal
process. The credit quality of each counterparty is
investigated before an advance is made. The Group
also actively monitors the outstanding amounts
owed by each debtor and identifies any credit risks
in a timely manner in order to reduce the risk of a
credit related loss. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit
ratings assigned by international credit rating
agencies or state-owned banks in the PRC. In the
opinion of the directors of the Company, the risk of
default by these counterparties is not significant
and the Group assessed that the ECL on these
balances are insignificant.
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Internal credit rating

KRR
Low risk
ERAE
Watch list
RER
Doubtful

P

Description

HFEFEORRE BXWEEMEEHSHE -

The counterparty has a low risk of default and does not have any past-due amounts.
BEEAEERIHAKEE  ERE2HEH -

Debtor frequently repays after due dates but usually settle in full.
BEBAERINEEIRESH(E STRERUNR - EERRDEAZEEM -

There have been significant increases in credit risk since initial recognition through

32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables, note receivables, amount due
from immediate holding company, amount due from
intermediate holding company and bank balances
(Continued)

For other receivables, note receivables, amount due
from immediate holding company and amount due
from intermediate holding company, the directors of
the Company consider the counterparties with good
credit worthiness based on their past repayment
history and subsequent settlement. In the opinion
of the directors of the Company, the risk of default
by these counterparties is not significant and the
Group assessed that the ECL on these balances are
insignificant.

The Group’s internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

information developed internally or external resources.

B8
Loss
Write-off

BREBETNZEEDREREERE -

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-impaired.
BEBRNMEFSABAREN R BN SEREREER KB FRIBEAIEE

There is evidence indicating the debtor is in severe financial difficulty and the Group

has no realistic prospect of recovery.
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32. @I A (&) 32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) SEREKREEBSERIBCK(E) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)
=B R EE (&) Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
HMERIE - JEREE - EKE Other receivables, note receivables, amount due
BERER A AIFE - JEW A ERERA from immediate holding company, amount due from
BB R iRTTAE B (BB intermediate holding company and bank balances
(Continued)
TR RETEREEEIEF The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
HHAEECREENEER the Group’s financial assets, which are subject to
kO ECL assessment:
FEAE
Gross carrying amount
I8 kil 128A2H 20244 20234
FETR FETR BHEEER  12A31H 12A31H
External Internal 12mor
credit rating  credit rating life-time ECL ~ 31/12/2024  31/12/2023
ARETRT ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000
B SR Trade receivables ‘
=4 Third parties TEh (i) 2 HEBEEEE
N/A (RBEEERE)
Life-time ECL
(not credit-
impaired) 244,835 219,036
B EERE
Loss Credit-impaired 35,192 35,080
RZFAT Fellow subsidiaries i BRI 2HEEHEE
N/A Low risk BRAEE)
Life-time ECL
(collective basis) 11,991 13,210
292,018 267,326
HihEWFIB - B Other receivables, note @A (ii) 12BA%EH
WZ%  ERE  receivables, amountsdue  N/A FEEE
BERAGAKRE  fromimmediate holding 12m ECL
RHER A R FUE company and intermediate
holding company 83,054 119,936
RITHER Bank balances AAA BRI 12ERBHEEFE
Low risk 12mECL 10,647,355 5,949,144
Bfi%E - Notes:
(i) HREHRRFIEMNS » NEE (i) For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified

BEEAEEMBEREEREI
SREEEAREMAERER
ERFTEERERS - Ko#ae
EEREMNEKFIRS) - A&
BiZARERIRDMAE - WA
HKREEEEZFRE WEH
EEEE -

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

[vs ’ China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors credit-impaired, the
Group determines the ECL on these items on a collective
basis, grouped by internal credit rating.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

32. £@TIA (&) 32. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) 2HEAMEEEERECK (8) (b)  Financial risk management objectives and policies

R N E G (&)

HbERR - ERFR - EilE
BN FIIR - N ETRER 2
AJKIE R RITAE R (HE)

FiEE ()

@ (&)
ERAAKBEREERREEN —
B AEEEBEERR
BRECRFHEETPHIRE - T
XHEIABAEBE AR AE
SHENEZRKTRNEER
Bk A E R

(Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables, note receivables, amount due
from immediate holding company, amount due from
intermediate holding company and bank balances
(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) (Continued)
As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the Group
uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment for its
customers. Set out below is the information about the
credit risk exposure on the Group’s trade receivables using
a collective basis:

HME 1528 2E3F BB3F ait
Less than Over
lyear 1-2years 2-3years 3years Total

ARBTR ARBTRT AREBTR ARETR AR%T:R
RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

R2024F128318  Asat 31 December 2024

FYBEE-$=H  Average loss rate - Third parties 0.50% 30.03% 46.15% 87.17% 0.64%
THER: - Average loss rate - Fellow

EESWAE subsidiaries 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01% 0.01%

RmeE Total gross carrying amount 255,628 920 50 228 256,826

FHEHEERA Lifetime ECL (1,228) (176) (6) (163) (1,573)

254,400 Tht 44 65 255,253

SIE (EVES ERES HiBsF s

Less than Over
Tyear 1-2years  2-3years 3years Total

ARBTL ARETL AREBTR ARETR ARET:
RMB'O00 ~ RMBO0O ~ RMB00O0  RMB000  RMB'00O

R2023%12831H As at 31 December 2023

FHEEE -$=7%  Average loss rate - Third parties 0.49% 33.33% 50.0% 100.0% 0.70%

THEEE - Average loss rate - Fellow
EESENG subsidiaries 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10% 0.10%
FEAE Total gross carrying amount 231,232 150 114 750 232,246
EHRSEERR Lifetime ECL (1,078) (5) (41) (418) (1,542)
230,154 145 73 332 230,704

R R THRBEUGRIATR
HFEHAAE LR O
st WREBTHBZRARK
1571 BRI S R B BE 1 B HE
HRE - EREENERMZD
- PAREAR B BT E B UL FUR
MARRIERESEAT o

R2024F12 8318 - A&E
RAEECERENESHE
WRIEM R EREARE
1,573,0007T (20234 : AR
#51,542,0007T) ° HE LR
BB (E & FE W S IBRHR R E
B AR#35,192,0007T (2023
& : AR¥35,080,0007T) ©

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical
observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort. The grouping
is regularly reviewed by management to ensure relevant
information about specific debtors is updated.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group provided
RMB1,573,000 impairment allowance for trade
receivables (2023: RMB1,642,000) which is not credit-
impaired. Impairment allowance of RMB35,192,000 (2023:
RMB35,080,000) were made on credit-impaired debtors
during the current year.

— T _EFR
ANNUAL REPORT 2024

197



198

BRI
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

32.

ERMT A (#)
(b) SEEREEREREE (H)

E B SR E G (&)

EMEWHIE  ENER - ERE
EER A AR - JER A BT 2
AR R iR A (B

Notes: (#&)

(i) RABEERRERMS @ &
LB ARBGRENIRERE R
TEEERR A VAR
REBRBEIGM - N20245F
K&2023%F12A318 « EE
1% - B E R A E R
PR RIFRIBA SR R D
R—F « KARIEERA ' &
EHFHEHONRBRLTE
K BAREEFEZFEHD
BHEEBBRITERK -

RITHERR

RITEHNEERRBR - B
RYEFHREBEREEFRE
BETSEENRORT &
BMLE -

TRENEER

REERBERRE - AEE
EREVAREREERRRHN
RekReEFBWKTE  UAE
AEERELRHESIRRE
RERENPNTE -

TRALAEEFITESREA
BN RZEBER - ZRIIIR
RN B A] BE R B R R
RERAHNERABENRIR
Renemyl HtvemAaRE
GOEIEISDEE-9iN Sh b=
B ZRHINFERAERS

=3
L

o

il

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited

32.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables, note receivables, amount due
from immediate holding company, amount due from
intermediate holding company and bank balances

(Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i) For the purposes of internal credit risk management,
the Group uses debtors’ aging information to assess
whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition. The balances of note receivables, amounts
due from immediate holding company and intermediate
holding company as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 are
all with aging less than one year. In the opinion of the
directors of the Company, the risk of default by these
counterparties is not significant and the Group assessed
that the ECL on these balances are insignificant.

Bank balances

The credit risks on bank balances are limited
because the counterparties are banks/financial
institutions with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit-rating agencies.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’s contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.
The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group
can be required to pay. The maturity dates for
other financial liabilities are based on the agreed
repayment dates. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flows.
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EBMT A (H#)
SREREERBERIEK ()

(b)

32.

B B ERARM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

BN () Liquidity risk (Continued)
B ERE Liquidity table
miE RERY, AERRE
THRE  6EAUT 6EAEIE 1255 REAH REE
Weighted ~ On demand Total
average  or less than 6 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 6 months to 1year 1-5 years cash flows amounts
% AREBTT AR%Tn ARETR ARBTT AR®TR
% RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
#2024%128318 At 31 December 2024
BoRATE Trade payables TER
N/A 625,295 - = 625,295 625,295
EtERFER Other payables and accruals T#ER
JE:tBA N/A 3,093,419 = = 3,093,419 3,093,419
ENREFR Amounts due to shareholders T#ER
N/A 1,973 2,368,421 131,579 2,501,973 2,501,973
BITER Bank borrowing 2.7 3,245 3173 11,405 17,823 17,183
BEEE Lease liabilities 2.22104.35 7,913 7,364 26,438 41,715 39,495
3,731,845 2,378,958 169,422 6,280,225 6,277,365
g RERY, AERRE
TRz 6EANT 6EAZIE 1555 MELE RAME
Weighted  On demand Total
average  orlessthan 6 months undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 6 months to 1 year 1-5 years cash flows amounts
% ARBFT ARETT ARETR ARETT  ARBTR
% RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
120235128318 At 31 December 2023
BHREATE Trade payables TER
N/A 816,914 = = 816,914 816,914
EtERFER Other payables and accruals TER
et B8R N/A 4,205,151 - - 4,205,151 4,005,151
FERBRRHE Amounts due to shareholders TEf
N/A 1,931 = = 1,931 1,931
JERt R EIERA A Amount due to intermediate TR
A holding company N/A 1,158 - - 1,158 1,158
BEEE Lease liabilities 2.22104.35 8,872 8,696 22,300 39,868 35,989
5,034,026 8,696 22,300 5,065,022 5,061,143
—E-WEER
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BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

33. e@MIANAAEETE 33. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS
RRREFRE  REHUBImRIE The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
BHENAAARENSREERSRIAE amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities
FEEEEEENABEMAS - recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial

statements approximate their fair values.

34. FATUMBMRRRHE 34. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
()  ALQTHEEAMR (@)  Financial position of the Company
®12H31H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR%T T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE Non-current Asset
RFRRINEE Investment in a subsidiary 685,718 685,718
MENEE Current Assets
HoAth RN Other receivables 40 2,270
FEURE R A FI5KE  Amount due from immediate holding company 22,626 22,142
FEUF R BIFRIA Amount due from a subsidiary 2,324,194 -
TEHIIRITIE K Fixed bank deposits - 8,819
ReERREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 5,299,751 69
7,646,611 33,300
mENEE Current Liabilities
E b e 5RIE Other payables 8,061 -
ERFRBEIFIA Amount due to a subsidiary - 25,231
FEI AR R SKIE Amounts due to shareholders 2,368,421 S
FEF R REIFEAR A BI5KE  Amount due to intermediate holding company - 986
2,376,482 26,217
REEETFE Net Current Assets 5,270,129 7,083
BEERRBARE Total Assets Less Current Liabilities 5,955,847 692,801
FRBEME Non-current Liability
FERTRARERFXE — JERE)  Amounts due to shareholders — non-current 131,579 -
E8E45 Total Liabilities 2,508,061 26,217
EEFE Net Assets 5,824,268 692,801
ERRGFEE Capital and Reserves
&N Share capital 8 7
it Reserves 5,824,260 692,794
fEwmast Total Equity 5,824,268 692,801

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

g0  China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited



34. ADTAMBRAKRKFHE (F)

(b)

34.

B B ERARM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

A TRERE (b)  Movement in the Company’s reserves
BA  ROEE EXRE ERRE RENE G
Share Share Capital Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve profits Total
ARETT AR%TR ARBTR AR%TRT AR%®TR ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2023E 1818 At 1 January 2023 7 = 500,000 = 206,676 706,683
EBERGAEREE  Lossand total comprehensive
expense - - - - (13,882)  (13,882)
R2023E12A318 At 31 December 2023 7 S 500,000 = 192,794 692,801
FRFIE Profit for the year = = = - 2,366,326 2,366,326
EXERE Exchange difference - - - 51,609 - 51,609
FREANREE Total comprehensive income for
the year = = = 51,609 2,366,326 2,417,935
BRDRBEREST  Issue of shares upon the initial
Bt (BERH public offering (including the
RERE) over-allotment of shares) 1 5,213,531 - - - 5213532
RANARRE IR Dividend declared to shareholders
RS of the Company - - - - (2,500,000) (2,500,000)
R2024%12A318 At 31 December 2024 8 5,213,531 500,000 51,609 59,120 5,824,268
—ZEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

35. FEFRAAFE 35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
RAREBE » XRBRUTTAT] At the date of this report, the Company has direct and
HBEEREEER indirect interest in the following subsidiaries:

BERAEENRE
Equity interest
ERIRMRRE attributable
SRE to the Group
BMRL/ L Issued and R12A31R
Place of fully paid As at 31 December
S incorporation/ sharecapital/  2024F  2023F  HAEFR TREY
Name of companies establishment registered capital 2024 2023 Legalform Principal activities
EERE: Directly held:
EEREHN (R ERDE B8 EE 100%  100% BREARE  REER
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Hong Kong Authorised Limited liability ~ Investment holding
(Holdings) Company Limited 771,484,000/ 7T company
HK$771,484,000
EHER
Paid up capital
771,484,000/ 7T
HK$771,484,000
BEEENE: Interests held
indirectly:
ERRERH (TR REBRAR" HEIARE EIE 100% 100% HREERA REER
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Authorised Limited liability ~ Investment holding
(China) Investment Co., Ltd.* 83,290,000% 7T company
US$83,290,000
EHER
Paid up capital
83,290,000% 7T
US$83,290,000
EHRRFE RN ERAF LGN EE 100% 100% BRELAHF K EBE R
China Resources Food & Beverage Mainland China Authorised Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd. 19,000,000% 7T company distribution of
US$19,000,000 purified water
EYER
Paid up capital
19,000,000%7T
US$19,000,000
ZRRIRH (PR ERAT) hEIARE M 100%  100% EREEAR  AEKRHHEER
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability e
(China) Co., Ltd AR #650,000,0007T company Manufacturing and
RMB650,000,000 distribution of
EHAKX purified water
Paid up capital and beverage
AR%650,000,0007T
RMB650,000,000
e mAEMARLERKERAR hEIARE s 100% 100% ABRELAHF Ak R BR ROk B
Zhuhai City Yonglong Jialinshan Mainland China Registered Limited liability REEH
Mineral Water Co., Ltd. AE#14,000,0007T company Manufacturing and
RMB14,000,000 distribution of
ERER purified water
Paid up capital and mineral water
AEH14,000,0007C
RMB14,000,000

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

§02  China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

FEFLAHE (F) 35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
RAFREBH - RARIRUATFAR At the date of this report, the Company has direct and
HEEEREEER (&) indirect interest in the following subsidiaries: (Continued)
BERFSENRE
Equity interest
BRARMERE attributable
SMEA to the Group
ST/ B lssuedand 12831
Place of fully paid As at 31 December
ARER incorporation/ sharecapital/  2024F  2023%F  EERR TEEK
Name of companies establishment registered capital 2024 2023 Legalform Principal activities
HETAKERRBRAT hEARE M 100%  100%  EREEAR  AEKRESARE
Zhuhai Yonglong Beverage Co., Ltd. ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability RAEHH
AK#12,000,0007C company Manufacturing and
RMB12,000,000 distribution of
BHAKX purified water
Paid up capital and mineral water
AK#12,000,0007T
RMB12,000,000
FBRERRERAR B AR i 100% 100% HREERA EKRAREER
Shanghai C'estbon Food Co., Ltd. Mainland China Registered Limited liability B
38,045,000% T company Manufacturing and
US$38,045,000 distribution of
EHER purified water
Paid up capital and beverage
38,045,000% 7T
US$38,045,000
ERRERMED)ERAT hEAME M 100%  100%  EREEAR  BESAKEERE
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability #
(Changsha) Co., Ltd 20,000,000%7¢ company Manufacturing and
US$20,000,000 distribution
ERER of packaged
Paid up capital drinking water
20,000,000 7T
US$20,000,000
ERRERRR)BERAT HEIARE i 100% 100% HREERA ARk A 5
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
(Lu'an) Co., Ltd AR%161,880,0007T company distribution of
RMB161,880,000 purified water
ERER
Paid up capital
AK#161,880,0007T
RMB161,880,000
ERRERNERERAT REAR M 100%  100% EREEAR  AEKRHHEER
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability G|
(Zhaoging) Co., Ltd AR%199,190,0007T company Manufacturing and
RMB199,190,000 distribution of
BHAKX purified water
Paid up capital and beverage
AR #199,190,0007C
RMB199,190,000

B PEER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

£ 2024 F 12 A 31 HLLEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

35. FEFRAFE(E) 35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
RATFREBH - RABIRUATFAR At the date of this report, the Company has direct and
HEEEKMEEER (&) indirect interest in the following subsidiaries: (Continued)
BERNASENRE
Equity interest
BRARMERE / attributable
SREA to the Group
BRI/ B Issued and M2A318
Place of fully paid As at 31 December
PEED incorporation/ sharecapital/  2024F  2023%F EEFR TEER
Name of companies establishment registered capital 2024 2023 Legalform Principal activities
ERHERMEHERAT VN H O 100%  100% @ BREMAF  AEKREHEER
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability G|
(Chengdu) Co., Ltd AR%166,670,0007C company Manufacturing and
RMB166,670,000 distribution of
BHAX purified water
Paid up capital and beverage
AR 166,670,000
RMB166,670,000
ERRERN(EE)BRLA hEIARE Bl 100% 100% AREEAR HKEEE R
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
(Nanning) Co., Ltd AK#212,000,0007T company distribution of
RMB212,000,000 purified water
EHER
Paid up capital
AR#212,000,0007
RMB212,000,000
ERRERHERLBRAT REARE A 100%  100%  BREERF ARKEEREH
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
(Wuyishan) Co., Ltd AR%124,820,0007C company distribution of
RMB124,820,000 purified water
EHER
Paid up capital
AR%124,820,0007
RMB124,820,000
ERRE(TR BRSRAERAT AR i 100% 100% BREEAR MHKEE R
China Resources C'estbon (Heyuan) Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
Wanlvhu Beverage Co., Ltd AK#356,670,0007T company distribution of
RMB356,670,000 purified water
EHER
Paid up capital
AR#356,670,0007C
RMB356,670,000
ERRESER) BRAF B ARE it 70% 70% ERELRF  WEKRHHEER
(‘REER") Mainland China Registered Limited liability e
China Resources C'estbon Beverage AR%450,000,0007 company Manufacturing and
(Yixing) Co., Ltd RMB450,000,000 distribution of
EHAKR purified water
Paid up capital and beverage
AR%450,000,0007
RMB450,000,000

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

gos  China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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B B ERARM
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

FEFLAHE (F) 35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
RAFREBH  KARIRUTTFAF At the date of this report, the Company has direct and
HEEEREEER (&) indirect interest in the following subsidiaries: (Continued)
BERFSENRE
Equity interest
BRARMERE attributable
SMEA to the Group
HMAL /W lssuedand _ D\12A31H
Place of fullypajdjessat s fibecamier
ARER incorporation/ sharecapital/  2024F  2023F  HEEFA TEEH
Name of companies establishment registered capital 2024 2023 Legalform Principal activities
ERRERHTRERAF HEIARE FEfft 79% 79% HBEERF MK EE RATH
(ABAREMEEERAKERAE) Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
China Resources C'estbon Beverage AR%132,363,0007T company distribution of
(Heyuan) Co., Ltd. (formerly RMB132,363,000 purified water
known as Heyuan Biyouxuan ERER
Drinking Water Co., Ltd.) Paid up capital
AR%132,363,0007T
RMB132,363,000
ERRERH RN BERAF hEIARE Bl 100% 100% AREERA MPKEE RITHH
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
(Wenzhou) Co., Ltd. AR®200,550,0007T company distribution of
RMB200,550,000 purified water
EYER
Paid up capital
AR#200,550,0007T
RMB200,550,000
ERRERHEE) BRAT hEIARE A 70% - BEREERA MR BB AT 3K
(MBREEMERDAMERDR)  Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
China Resources C'estbon Beverage AR 110,000,000 company distribution of
(Wuhan) Co., Ltd. (formerly RMB110,000,000 purified water
known as Wuhan HuaXinDa EHER
Beverage Technology Co., Ltd.) Paid up capital
AR%110,000,0007T
RMB110,000,000
ERRERMFPINERRA hEIARE Bl 100% - BRRERA MHKEE RIS
China Resources C'estbon Beverage ~ Mainland China Registered Limited liability ~ Manufacturing and
(Danjiangkou) Co., Ltd. AR#344,650,0007C company distribution of
RMB344,650,000 purified water
EHER
Paid up capital
AREOT
RMBO
TR EEFR
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35. FEFRAFE(E)

" ERRERH (PR REFRRAA
—REPEKZHINEBELERT -

R2024F K 2023F12 8318 © &
FRRBITEMERES °

BREEAFEREZRNIFZETFLH

w15

TRINTAKERA ERIFFERAER

HERE F AR

BEB IR EENIFEEF AR

35.

PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

o China Resources C’estbon Beverage (China) Investment Co., Ltd. is
a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at
31 December 2024 and 2023.

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have
material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

1E material non-controlling interests:
FEE R R L B R PEREFERERNFE
FRELH Profit allocated to non-
Proportion of controlling interests for the S FERER
ownership interests and BEUT BENT Accumulated
M voting rights held by BELEE BHLFE non-controlling
ExEpe  non-controlling interests yearended  year ended interests at
Place of 20245 2023%F 2024F 20234 2024F 2023F
incorporation 12A31H 12A318 12A31H 12A318 12A31H 12A31H
and principal 31/12/2024  31/12/2023  31/12/2024  31/12/2023  31/12/2024  31/12/2023
ERNCES place of % % ARBTr ARETT AR%®Tr AR®Txn
Name of subsidiaries business % % RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
REHSA LN
Mainland China 30 30 15,731 1,845 400,574 384,843
FAFEERE R ER
FERFAT
Individually immaterial
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests 160,324 84,872
560,898 469,715

EWEE (ZR) BRAF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BZE 2024 % 12 A 31 HILFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

35. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have

material non-controlling interests (Continued)

Summarised financial information in respect of each of
the Group’s subsidiaries that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarized financial

RIEVEHE o information below represents amounts before intragroup
eliminations.
hEEHE hEEH
M®12A8318
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
AR®T T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
MENEE Current assets 316,215 395,203
EMBEE Non-current assets 1,295,909 1,189,940
nEBBE Current liabilities (277,075) (302,530)
RABIER AEEER Equity attributable to owners of the Company 934,475 897,770
BB HEMN IR ER Non-controlling interests of 142 & f 400,574 384,843

BZ12A31ALEE
Year ended 31 December

2024%F 20234
2024 ) 2023
ARBTT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 808,510 138,832
FRAE Profit for the year 52,436 6,152
AN B e A Profit attributable to the Group 36,705 4,307
T8 H B IEE AR AR Profit attributable to the non-controlling
FEAGF)E interests of 1A B E # 15,731 1,845
FAFMBRE2EKGERE Profit and total comprehensive income
for the year 52,436 6,152
KESTEERNELMNIRESRAFEEE  Net cash inflow from operating activities 159,142 39,360
HEFHEERIBLMIEIFEE  Net cash outflow from investing activities (338,209) (659,894)
MEFBDEENHRESRA Net cash inflow (outflow) from financing
Om i) %8 activities 179,067 (64,466)
WML FE Net cash outflow - (685,000)
—EMFEFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

£ 2024 F 12 A 31 HLLEFE FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024

36. BEAKIE 36. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
®12831H
As at 31 December
2024 20234
2024 2023
ARBTT ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BRAWECDTOERNAS  Capital expenditure in respect of acquisition
ISR TIRO M of property, plant and equipment contracted
R KRR E AR for but not provided in the consolidated
financial statements 882,167 817,730
37. EEEH 37. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
AEENEREARNEBNEELD T The Group’s borrowings had been secured by the pledge
ERER - FEEMNREEBENT of the Group’s assets and the carrying amounts of the
respective assets are as follows:
M12A31H
As at 31 December
20245 20234
2024 2023
ARMT T ARBFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
W - R KR Property, plant and equipment 91,099 =
FREEE Right-of-use assets 28,509 =
119,608 —

EWEE (ZR) BRAF

§os  China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited



MBBE

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B = 2024 F 12 B 31 BLLEE AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

BZ12A3MBLEE
Year ended 31 December

20214 20224 20234 20245

2021 2022 2023 2024

AREF T ARET T ARET T AR®T T

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

A Revenue 11,339,881 12,622,776 13,514,728 13,521,246

FERFHE Profit for the year 858,141 988,721 1,331,370 1,660,839
E%EE@L}(—EE’U%U?&EJ 2 Profit attributable to:

ZAN/NSIEZS DN Owners of the Company 858,141 989,808 1,329,341 1,636,694

eI Non-controlling interests - (1,087) 2,029 24,145

858,141 988,721 1887870 1,660,839

MW12A31H
As at 31 December

20214 20224 20234 20244

2021 2022 2023 2024

ARBT T ARBT T ARBT T ARET

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BEE Total Assets 9,088,440 10,604,844 13,001,754 18,694,294

BEAE Total Liabilities 4,504,469 4,709,066 5,628,981 6,833,020

AR Total Equity 4,583,971 5,895,778 7,372,773 11,861,274
E%J%E/‘L/(Tﬁﬁém : Equity attributable to:

DEEAA Owners of the Company 4,583,971 5,573,765 6,903,058 11,300,376

3H & i Non-controlling interests - 322,013 469,715 560,898

4,583,971 5,895,778 7,372,773 11,861,274

—E_EFIR
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DEFINITIONS

[AHRI sk A= A2 AmaY ]

“Articles” or

“Articles of Association”

[BHEA

“associate(s)

(g

“Board” or
“Board of Directors”

[ B

“China” or the “PRC”

[ Xk o |
“cic”

NS

“Company” or “our Company”

[BAEAL

“connected person(s)”

[BEXR 5 ]

“connected transaction(s)”

[HERRARER |

“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

[GIEEERH]

“Cooperative Manufacturing

Partners”

[ EASTAI

“Corporate Governance Code”

[CPI]
“CPI”

[FEIER )
“CRC”

[EERERHEAR |
“CR Digital Holdings”

[EEEE ]
“CR Group”
[ZEH (RE)]

“CR Holdings”

B2 Lol

“CR Power”

EBER (ZR) ARLF

RRBVEBEIRAE (ETREE])
the articles of association of the Company (as amended from time to time)

BB WA R T HRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ARRERS

the board of Directors of our Company

REARAME - BptAREMS - BEFEMRSE - BRXEMEN  TEREES - RS
TR & &2 &

the People’s Republic of China, but for the purposes of this report and for geographical
reference only and except where the context requires, excludes the Hong Kong, Macau
Special Administrative Region, and Taiwan

WBITERBBRAR - ARBNTTEREM

China Insights Industry Consultancy Limited, the industry consultant of our Company

ERHER (FER) BRAT - —RUFEFAANRHEHSIMKLNBER AT - HRMHMEZ
BT £ (B R5% = 2460)

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited (ZEEEKIGER)ER AR, a
limited liability company registered by way of continuation in the Cayman Islands, with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 2460)

BB LR THORE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BE LR R T HORE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB ETRRAME T HORE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BAAERHBRAGRRETSERNEETR (2FER T
manufacturing factories, including OEMs, that establish collaborative partnerships to
effectively address market demands

ETRAMERC B MR ER T Al

the Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

ERBEBRIER

Consumer Price Index

PEEBHERARF  —KRPBEEMRIZNERAR  AXBEEZEENRELEERARF
i Sz /NG|

China Resources Company Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in China, a
state-owned enterprise supervised by SASAC, and the ultimate holding company of the
Company

FEHHRERER AR - AT EER (MEEGER (£E) 100%0kRE) 2 E8%E
CR Digital Holdings Co., Ltd. GEMHEEHERABRAF]) is wholly owned by CRC, which
indirectly owns 100% equity interests in CR Holdings

E£H(EEH) REMBAF
CR Holdings and its subsidiaries

EH(EE)ABRAR  —FKREBEMRIZONERRA - AT EERNEEZEMNBAR -
TR R BIRIERR AR 2 —

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited (2B (%£BE)BRAF]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, which is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of CRC, and one of our Company’s Controlling Shareholders

EHENZERERIAF - —KREBTMRIOERLDAF - HRG R ET (RHOK
5% 836) © REE (RE) WHBEAQF

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (ZE)HE J1ERER A F]), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 836) and a subsidiary of CR Holdings

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited



[E=%]

“Director(s)

[GDPJ
“GDP”

[BIREE ]
“Global Offering”

[ | sk [
“Group”, “our Group”,
“wWe” or “us”

(&%
“Hong Kong”

BB AFEE]

“Hong Kong Public Offering”

[BE=F]
“Independent Third Party(ies)

2

»

“International Offering”

[ 7]
“Listing”

[ETHE]
“Listing Date”

[ Em#RAl]
“Listing Rules”

[1ZZ4E<F Al
“Model Code”

[ AR ERE

“Prospectus”

[$REH
“Reporting Period”

[ARE]
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[BEZ
“SASAC”

[ 585 R ERE 1M1 ]
“Securities and Futures
Ordinance” or “SFO”

(A& ]
“Share(s)”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

ARBES

director(s) of our Company

NEEHRE

gross domestic product

FENHBEREREE (TR RBRER)
the Hong Kong Public Offering and the International Offering (as defined in the
Prospectus)

ARBREMBLRR]

our Company and its subsidiaries

B AR R TR
Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

i%?%%Hﬁ%%%Fﬁ%iﬂ%ﬁ&ﬂ%ﬂﬁ%%%%E\i%?éé’%%Tﬁ%@i\ﬁ\i’éﬁ%/\i%@ﬁﬁ C HBEERBR
=17

the offer of the Hong Kong Offer Shares for subscription by the public in Hong Kong,
on the terms and subject to the conditions described in the Prospectus, as further
described in the Prospectus

BIYNARRREBEALAINNE=TT

third party(ies) independent of the Company and its Connected Persons

B AEGHR IR IR SR DI X BB SNABE R 5 77 SRR BUR NIRIR S 1 44A IR BIRE 70K
?’gfﬂﬂﬁ’r&%‘%ﬂ%ﬁaémé\%TT%%%E%E%%E%%%%5%3'?‘%’%% D FABERERE
£

the offer of the International Offer Shares by the International Underwriters at the Offer
Price outside the United States in offshore transactions in accordance with Regulation
S, and in the United States only to QIBs in reliance on Rule 144A or any other available
exemption from registration under the US Securities Act, as further described in the
prospectus

AR FEBE 2 P AR BT
listing of the Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
202451023 8 » BIRMD B R FRME B B

October 23, 2024, on which our Shares are listed and from which dealings therein are
permitted to take place on the Stock Exchange

ERBERIAERAAES EHRA (EIEHERT)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (as amended from time to time)

ETARRIMTERCIPAE M) E M EITAE T HITESF X FH R ESRE
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

ANAAIAHA2024F 10 A 15 AMBRETR
the prospectus of the Company dated October 15, 2024

HZE2024F12 A3 BIEVERFE
the financial year ended December 31, 2024

PEIEEEE AR

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

TEESEEAEESERREZES

State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council

BEENEST1 EEF KRB GG (KTRHSE] « mzssk AR 5 RS20
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time)

A2 B IR AN & AR E{E0.0000005 3 T ) A
ordinary shares in the capital of our Company with a nominal value of US$0.0000005
each

BN
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DEFINITIONS

[AR3R ]
“Shareholders(s)”

[ B 22 PR |
“Stock Exchange”

(WA

“subsidiary(ies)

%)
“us$”

[%]
“opr

EBER (ZR) ARLF

SGESTEDN
holder(s) of the Share(s)

EEMARIAERAR
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

BB WA T HRE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

XBEEERET

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

Bkt
per cent

China Resources Beverage (Holdings) Company Limited
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China Resources Beverage (
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